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Top Form International Limited (the “Company”) is a full-service
design and supply chain partner to global brands and retailers of
women apparel and activewear listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(Stock Code: 333). The Company and its principal subsidiaries
(collectively “Top Form” or the “Group”) employs over 6,700
employees across Mainland China, Thailand, Indonesia and Sri
Lanka, with our headquarters in Hong Kong.

We provide end-to-end service, ranging from design and
development, supply chain management to manufacturing
of finished garments. Customers include many of the
world’s leading brands and retailers, who trust us to deliver
uncompromising quality in every product we make.
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To be a leading international apparel partner, from ideation
to delivery, driven by innovation and insights, and built upon
sustainable forward-thinking operations.
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We strive to make a lasting positive impact through our choices
and actions, our relationships and the quality work we do.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The financial figures are presented in Hong Kong dollars.

MBREE

BB F AB TR o

for the year ended 30 June

BEAA=1THLEE

2024 2023
—E-NF —E=F
(audited) (audited) Change
(BREXR) (%) &
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT TAT
I I I I
Revenue A 1,130,164 1,007,016 123,148
Gross profit EF 255,490 175,339 80,151
Gross profit margin (%) FEF & (%) 22.6% 17.4% 5.2 points
5.21E " 7 2
Profit/(loss) for the year FRmF(EE) 1,500 (78,524) 80,024
Loss per share (HK dollars) BlEE BT
- Basic and diluted —EARREE (0.007) (0.281)
! | |
At 30 June
RARA=+H
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
(audited) (audited) Change
(REZ) (T =z) #E)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET AT
! | |
Total equity REmia 396,034 419,822 (23,788)
Total debt (note a) RIETE (ffita) 91,951 123,804 (31,853)
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEEAEE 102,263 112,130 (9,867)
Gearing ratio (%) (note b) BEBGELE%) 23.2% 29.5% (6.3) points
(Hi7tb) (6.3)1E 5 7 B
Net asset per share (HK dollars) BREEFEGEL)
(note ¢) (Kiite) 1.32 1.39
Notes: B & -
a.  Total debt represents total interest-bearing bank borrowings. a. BEEIEFTBIRITEREE -

b. Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by
total equity.

C. Net assets per share represents total equity divided by the total number of
shares in issue as at the end of year.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEHERE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A7 T %l 7~)

RESULTS E 5
] ] | |
2024 2023 2022
—EBEoNE =4 —ZE_Z
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT FHET FAT

2021

—E -4
HK$’'000
FETT

2020
—E-THF

—= =

HK$'000
TR

Year ended 30 June

BEXA=+HL

FE
Revenue A 1,130,164 1,007,016 1,481,592 1,428,532 1,236,659
Profit/(loss) before BT Al
taxation wm A, (EE) 4,138 (76,270) 19,216 11,951 (79,306)
Income tax Frigti
(expense)/credit (AX),/#E%e (2,638) (2,254) (7,728) (4,806) 1,780
Profit/(loss) for the year R & FI,/ (E18) 1,500 (78,524) 11,488 7,145 (77,526)
Attributable to: THIATRES
— Equity shareholders — AR EEERE
of the Company (2,207) (84,732) 3,550 2,797 (77,235)
- Non-controlling interests  — JE{E R #E 25 3,707 6,208 7,938 4,348 (291)
1,500 (78,524) 11,488 7,145 (77,526)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
/7 ;7 [ |
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EBE-ME —_T-=F —T-__ —E-—F ZZTZEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FBT FHBT FHET FHT
[ 7 7 | 7 |
At 30 June MANB=1+H
Total assets BEE 803,356 800,534 898,425 936,483 844,062
Total liabilities waE (407,322) (380,712) (391,097) (425,960) (395,392)
396,034 419,822 507,328 510,523 448,670
Equity attributable to: THA LB
- Equity shareholders —ARAERBRE
of the Company 374,624 372,999 466,863 475,540 425,747
- Non-controlling interests  — JE4Z % 4 &5 21,410 46,823 40,465 34,983 22,923
396,034 419,822 507,328 510,523 448,670
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

Fiscal Year 2024 marked a year of gradual recovery from the
inventory gluts in the United States (the “U.S.”), particularly in
discretionary goods. However, we recognize that the near-term
economic outlook remains uncertain. Elevated interest rates
have continued to pressure both consumer spending and
business investment, while geopolitical tensions have further
dampened economic confidence and activity. That said, with
the beginning of rate-cutting cycle and possible further interest
rate cuts in the coming months, we anticipate some economic
stimulus that may provide relief.

Amid these challenges, | am pleased to report that the Group’s
revenue increased by 12.2% to HK$1,130 million for the year
ended 30 June 2024, with a profit after tax of HK$1.5 million.
These results reflect our team’s resilience and ability to adapt
to evolving market conditions while enhancing operational
efficiency.

Our commitment to our long-term strategy remains unwavering.
Top Form continues to prioritize best-in-class service, driving
innovation, and nurturing lasting partnerships with our
customers. We are equally dedicated to investing in our people
— the foundation of our success. Simultaneously, we maintain
a disciplined focus on cost control, efficiency improvements,
and resource optimization to navigate short-term uncertainties.
While economic conditions remain unpredictable, we are
cautiously optimistic and well-positioned to capitalize on future
opportunities.

Top Form is deeply committed to advancing sustainability, not
only within the apparel industry but also in the communities
we serve. This year, we established clear carbon emission
targets across all our locations, underscoring our dedication
to exploring renewable alternatives and developing solutions
that contribute positively to the environment. Achieving our
sustainability goals is a priority, and we are determined to align
our operations with our broader commitment to environmental
stewardship.

As our business continues to evolve, we recognize the
importance of maintaining a dynamic and diverse board
(the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”). The Board has
proposed the appointment of Mr. Tai Lun, Paul (“Mr. Tai”) as
an independent non-executive Director, effective from the
conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting. On behalf
of the Board, | extend a warm welcome to Mr. Tai and look
forward to the valuable insights he will bring to our discussions.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERWwE

In closing, | would like to express my sincere thanks to the
Board, management, and our dedicated employees for their
tireless efforts. | am confident that, together, we can navigate
the challenges ahead and continue to create long-term value for
our shareholders.

Thank you for your continued trust and support.

Wong Chung Chong
Chairman

26 September 2024
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Dear Shareholders,

Fiscal 2024 marked a period of rebounding demand following
the destocking phase that began at the end of 2022. After
navigating the challenges of a particularly difficult trading
environment in Fiscal 2023, we saw encouraging signs of
recovery in late 2023, which gained momentum through the first
six months of 2024. While the economy in our main market, the
United States, has shown resilience in the face of decades-high
inflation and interest rates — with prices remaining stubbornly
high — consumer sentiment, though improving, we expect to
remain cautious over the short term.

Amid this budding recovery, Top Form has doubled down on our
core strategy: innovating with our customers to build a runway
for future growth, driving manufacturing and supply chain
efficiency, and nurturing the best possible culture within our
organization. In this rebounding market, our unwavering efforts
have borne fruit, evidenced by a revenue increase of 12.2% and
a notable expansion in gross profit margin to 22.6%. While we
are encouraged by these improvements, our drive to push this
company further remains as strong as ever. There’s still plenty of
work to do.

In this CEO message, without repeating the annual business
analysis provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis,
I'll delve into our business imperatives, the rationale driving
our actions, our outlook for the future, and how our strategy
continues to reinforce our position in the market.

Innovation as the Engine of Leadership

This past year, much of our sales growth in Fiscal 2024 was
driven by restocking as customers rebuilt inventories. That was
expected. But what’s more important is how our innovation
has become integral to our customers’ efforts to launch new
products, refresh their brands, and secure key retail space—
laying the foundation for our future growth.

Our reputation as the go-to strategic product expert in the
market has not only strengthened our existing partnerships
but also enabled us to expand our technological offerings into
adjacent categories, including activewear and shapewear. The
response has been materially positive, positioning Top Form as
an innovative supplier across multiple segments.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR
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CEO MESSAGE
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For instance, our engineered bonding technology, which offers
varying degrees of elasticity, played a critical role in a major U.S.
brand’s updated shapewear line. This not only reinforced their
market position but also solidified ours as an innovation leader.
Similarly, we’ve made meaningful inroads into the activewear
market by leveraging our intimate wear expertise. Our seamless
technology, for example, has allowed us to launch and expand
a sports tops portfolio for a major retailer, contributing to their
success in the female sports category. This is just the beginning.

Proximity and Agility: A Strategic Advantage

Global trade and apparel sourcing are undergoing a massive
transformation. Geopolitical tensions, sourcing costs, inventory
challenges, and shifting sentiments on global trade are driving
the need for supply chain players to be nimble, efficient, and
ready to serve brands and retailers where decisions are made.
Recognizing this seismic shift, Top Form has taken proactive
steps to establish a commercial presence in the United States,
bringing us closer to brands and retailers, allowing us to
directly engage in developing their collections and applying our
technology.

Meanwhile, our Commercial Operation Hub in Thailand has
continued to grow, offering comprehensive capabilities to
support our customers’ sourcing operations in Southeast Asia.
This expansion aligns with our strategy to offer quick response
times and immediate solutions, which are increasingly critical in
today’s fast-paced market.

These strategic actions are in line with the growing trend in
the apparel industry toward shorter lead times and lower
inventory levels — critical factors that offer flexibility in the face of
unforeseen market changes. The painful lessons learned from
the inventory glut of 2022 and the financial strain caused by
inflation have only heightened the need for such agility.
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Leveraging Our Manufacturing Network and
Strategic Verticality

Over the past years of volatility, the strategic pillars we’ve
established have played a crucial role in sharpening Top
Form’s market position and creating a solid platform for
serving our customers and developing our business through
numerous global and regional challenges. Our balanced and
effective manufacturing network across Asia, coupled with our
strengthened component businesses, has allowed us to deliver
innovation in our products and services, drive efficiency in
supply chain coordination and manufacturing operations, and
support our margin improvements.

In the last fiscal year, through planned investments in
machinery and the development of our people, Top Form’s
seamless factory in Thailand has matured significantly, with
rising utilization rates, improved efficiency, and high-quality
operations. As demand for our seamless products continues
to grow, we will further expand our capacity and enhance
our innovation through continued investment in machines
and technology this year. The strengthening of our seamless
product segment has not only become a vital source of product
innovation for our customers, but its integration into our vertical
strategy is emerging as a key factor in Top Form’s operational
efficiency.

While the downturn of late 2022 and 2023 presented
challenges, Top Form used this period to consolidate our
manufacturing footprint while building relationships with
strategic sub-contracting partners across Southeast Asia. This
balanced manufacturing network allowed us to respond flexibly
to the rebound in demand in 2024, mitigating ramp-up costs
and enhancing efficiency to protect our margins.

The development of Top Form’s manufacturing network and
component businesses is tightly intertwined. In highly technical
apparel products, where functionality, performance, and
innovation are paramount to long-term success, our integrated
approach ensures we deliver the most innovative designs and
solutions to our customers, with excellence in supply chain
management and product quality. This year, the reinforcing
mechanism of our strategy not only deepened our service to
customers, enhancing our strategic value, but also played a
crucial role in driving margin improvements and bolstering our
competitive edge over time.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR
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Sustainability: A Long-Term Commitment
Top Form takes a long-term perspective on our business and
the role we play in our communities. While we are focused on
delivering strong financial performance, we also believe that
our long-term success depends on contributing positively to
addressing the major global challenges of our time.

Before the last fiscal year, we renewed our carbon emission
targets and integrated data from our new component facilities
to track our performance more comprehensively. In Fiscal 2024,
with clear targets and trackers in place across all facilities, I'm
proud to see every part of our organization working hard to
innovate solutions and explore renewable alternatives suitable
for their locations. This path will require us to take a leadership
role in our communities, working to communicate, educate, and
gain the support of local stakeholders as we transition to a more
sustainable energy path — a noble endeavor we are proud to
pursue.

Taking pride in our responsibility to the environment and
the innovative spirit inherent in our DNA, Top Form has also
dedicated significant effort to commercializing circular product
concepts and designs. Over the past year, we achieved our
circularity goal, successfully launching our first bio-based bra
cups made from biodegradable materials and moving away from
the narrow use of traditional fossil fuel-based materials. In the
new fiscal year, we will prioritize minimizing waste throughout
the supply chain and working with customers on more circular
products.

Staying Vigilant and Looking Ahead
While the destocking trend that we have been experiencing for
more than 18 months appears to have passed and an upward
cycle has begun, Top Form remains vigilant and prepared for
further volatility in the market that we serve.

Our strategy and principles have guided us through volatile and
challenging times, and they’ve supported our growth and the
vibrant culture that drives us forward. But we know that even
with the best strategy and the best efforts, we must always be
ready for the uncertainties and fierce competition that define our
industry.
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That means staying disciplined in our innovation, delighting
our customers through deepening collaborations, optimizing
our manufacturing footprint, driving operational efficiency, and
perpetuating our vibrant culture. We’'re also looking further
ahead to understand changing consumer tastes, build deeper
intimacy with our customers, and leverage technology and
automation to improve our operations and accelerate our digital
evolution.

The success we achieve ultimately stems from the incredible
team of individuals at Top Form. They are the driving force
behind our strategic plans, product creation, customer service,
operational efficiency, and overall success. Inspiring such a
talented group of individuals to collectively pursue ambitious
goals requires creating an open and respectful environment led
by fair and competent leadership, grounded in a deep sense of
humility.

The past years of unprecedented volatility have shown we have
exceptional people led by a dedicated group of leaders who
step up every day to deliver excellence while managing through
very challenging circumstances. I'm humbled and honored to be
a part of this team, and | am proud of our achievements thus far.
| feel strongly about the power of our organization and believe
that with the strength of our character, Top Form will achieve
even greater things in the years ahead.

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin
Chief Executive Officer

26 September 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREFN W R

BUSINESS REVIEW

The year 2024 posed continued economic challenges, driven
by the enduring impact of prolonged high interest rates and
escalating geopolitical tensions. While the impacts of the high
inventory level experienced by major customers in the U.S. last
year and the sluggish consumer demand have diminished over
time, the economic environment continued to pose substantial
challenges. In the face of economic and market uncertainty,
Top Form remains steadfast in our commitment to cost control,
efficiency enhancement, and resource optimization.

During the year, the Group’s revenue increased by 12.2% to
HK$1,130 million, driven by increased demand from major
customers. The Group recorded a profit after tax of HK$1.5
million this year, marking a turnaround from the previous year.
The results proved our efforts in adapting to market conditions
and driving operational efficiency.

In June 2024, Top Form acquired the minority stake in Grand
Gain Industrial Limited (“Grand Gain”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary engaged in the manufacturing of foam cups, which
is one of the Group’s component businesses. The acquisition
allowed the Group to gain full control over the management
and operations of Grand Gain, further enhancing the Group’s
vertical integration of foam cup production. This strategic move
is expected to provide greater stability of foam cup supply as
well as improved profitability for the Group.

During the year, in monetary terms and delivery locations, 75%
of our sales were to the U.S. market whilst the sales to the
Europe represented 14% and the rest of the world accounted
for 11%. From the supply side, the overseas manufacturing
facilities in Asia ex-China accounted for 64% of the global
production output whilst China accounted for the remaining
36% during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 30 June 2024, the revenue of the Group
increased by 12.2% to HK$1,130 million from HK$1,007 million
for the year ended 30 June 2023. This was mainly attributable to
the increase in demand from our major customers in the U.S.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased from HK$175.3 million to HK$255.5
million during the year with gross profit margin increased from
17.4% to 22.6%. The gross profit margin was increased due to
combination of product mix with higher margins, streamlined
manufacturing footprint and improved production efficiency.

Other Net Income
Other net income increased from HK$15.4 million to HK$21.8
million during the year. The increase was mainly attributable to
write-off of other payables and no fair value loss on investment
properties for the year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily comprised of freight
and transportation costs, employee benefits of sales and sales
support personnel, and sample costs. The Group’s selling and
distribution expenses amounted to HK$37.1 million for the
year ended 30 June 2024, against HK$29.2 million for the year
ended 30 June 2023. In terms of the percentage of revenue,
the Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased as
compared to last year.

General and Administrative Expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses amounted
to HK$221.0 million for the year ended 30 June 2024, against
HK$228.2 million for the year ended 30 June 2023. The
decrease in general and administrative expenses was mainly
attributable to stringent cost control measures implemented
during the year ended 30 June 2024.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs mainly represent interest expenses
on bank borrowings, interest on lease liabilities and other bank
charges. The finance costs increased from HK$12.4 million
for the year ended 30 June 2023 to HK$19.0 million for the
year ended 30 June 2024. The increase in finance costs was
primarily driven by the increase in interest rate and other bank
charges.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR E R W Mo AT

Profit for the year

The Group recorded a profit after tax of HK$1.5 million for
the year ended 30 June 2024 as compared with a net loss of
HK$78.5 million for the year ended 30 June 2023.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group’s bank balances and cash was HK$102.3 million
as at 30 June 2024 (at 30 June 2023: HK$112.1 million) whilst
total bank borrowings was HK$92.0 million (at 30 June 2023:
HK$123.8 million) and gearing ratio was 23.2% (at 30 June
2023: 29.5%), which was calculated as total interest-bearing
bank borrowings divided by total equity. As at 30 June 2023
and 30 June 2024, the Group did not have assets pledged for
bank borrowings.

The Group strives to improve the working capital management
and focus on the overall cash conversion cycle days which
are calculated by adding the inventory turnover days and
receivables turnover days and subtracting the payables turnover
days. For the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, the cash
conversion cycle days were negative 8 days.

F At A

AEERBE_Z_MFA=1THILFEH
BHRHEREISEEET MBE_T_=F
NAZTHLEFRAEFERTSSAEET

Bt BUAR R

RZZE-WMFANA=1+H AELEZRITEH
MBS EIRIEEB T (R - =ZF/XA
=+H:1121B8EL)  RITEREREE92.0
BEB TR -_TE-_=ZF~A=+H:1238H
BEL) BEAMGBLEARE2% (R_TE==
FRAZ1H:205%) Lt BRI1THEREEE
BUERAETE N B =5 A=1H
MZEBE-NMFXA=Z+H AEBEWERFT
A& E FIRITUABGIRITER o

AEEHNUNSLEEECTEYETRERE
SHRES EfERZESFERAEEMNE
JEBER A= RS - WREBNRRAERE -
HE_Z_WER_ZE-_=ZF"A=1+HILHF
E-ReEnhRAEARSK -

As at 30 June 2024 As at 30 June 2023
—E-MEXRA=TH —E-=FXA=1+H

(Days) (Days)

(R#) (R&0
1 I —
Inventory turnover days HFEREH 57 61
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Payables turnover days JE 1T BR BB 8 K B 119 128
Cash conversion cycle days IR 5 83 6 4 B (8) (8)

Capital expenditure during the year amounted to HK$14.1
million of which the majority was for the machineries and
equipment.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates
of U.S. dollars, Thai Baht, Renminbi, HK dollars, Indonesia
Rupiah, and Sri Lanka Rupee. Majority of the sales revenue are
denominated in U.S. dollars, the foreign exchange exposure in
respect of U.S. dollars against HK dollars is considered minimal
as HK dollars pegged with U.S. dollars. The Group manages its
foreign exchange exposure by performing regular review and by
taking prudent measures to minimize the currency translation
risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had employed approximately
6,740 employees (30 June 2023: approximately 6,242
employees). The remuneration policy and package of the
Group’s employees are structured with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and statutory requirements as
appropriate. The Group also provides other staff benefits such
as medical insurance, mandatory provident fund contributions
and a share option scheme to its employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Acquisition of a non wholly-owned company

On 28 June 2024, the Company (through a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary, Top Form (B.V.l.) Limited) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to acquire from Mr. Wan Ho Yau (the
“Vendor”) the remaining 40% interest in Grand Gain Industrial
Limited (the “Target Company”) (a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability and an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), at a consideration
of HK$19,000,000 (the “Acquisition”). Prior to the completion
of Acquisition, the Company indirectly held 60% interest in the
Target Company. The Acquisition was completed on 30 June
2024, the Target Company became an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company upon completion.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect
of the Acquisition exceeds 5% but all of the percentage ratios
are less than 25%, the Acquisition constitutes a discloseable
transaction of the Company and is therefore subject to the
announcement requirement under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules.

As at the date of the transaction, the Vendor is a director and a
substantial shareholder of the Target Company, and therefore
a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level. As
such, the Acquisition also constitutes a connected transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 28 June 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERETRRAN

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant
investments, material acquisitions and disposals by the Group
during the year ended 30 June 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Group has no significant events after the reporting period
and up to the date of this report.

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

Looking forward, Top Form remains vigilant amidst a persistently
uncertain macroenvironment. Despite some optimism stemming
from indications of declining inflation and anticipated interest
rate cuts, the approaching presidential election in the U.S.
exacerbated the level of uncertainty to the macroeconomic
environment. We expect the customer demand to remain volatile
in the near term.

Despite these challenges, Top Form’s strategy — centered
on innovation, strategic verticality, high-touch service, and a
multi-country footprint — positions us well to navigate uncertain
market conditions with efficiency, flexibility, and resilience. This
approach ensures our ability to maintain profitability and achieve
sustainable growth.

With the solid foundation we have established over the years,
Top Form is confident in our capability to adapt to dynamic
changes in the business landscape. We remain optimistic about
the future and are fully prepared to capitalize on emerging
opportunities.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREBAEBZERFHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Chung Chong (E#J8), aged 78, has been
the Chairman and an Executive Director since 31 October
2014 and 19 November 1991 respectively. He is also the
authorized representative and was a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company until 31 October 2018. Mr. Wong
is the co-founder of the Group and has taken over the role
as Chairman of the Company since 31 October 2014. He is
responsible for managing the Board issue and supervising the
management team in adherence to the long term strategic
development of the Group. He attains extensive experience and
is very knowledgeable in the brassiere manufacturing industry.
He has over 58 years of experience in the brassiere trade. He
is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Wong is the father of Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth and
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin, both are Executive Directors of the
Company.

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (ERtH#), aged 48, has been
an Executive Director since 1 March 2011, and was the Vice
Chairman of the Company from 22 May 2015 to 23 August
2018. He was appointed as the Group’s Chief Executive
Officer on 24 August 2018 and is responsible for creating and
directing the Group’s strategy, managing overall performance,
organization and operations. He has extensive experience in
business development, operations, supply chain, finance and
corporate development. He is the authorized representative
of the Company. Mr. Kevin Wong is an alternate Nomination
Committee member to Mr. Kenneth Wong since 19 February
2016. Mr. Kevin Wong joined the Group in 2001 and is a director
of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited, a principal wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and various subsidiaries
of the Company. He began his career at Deutsche Bank
Securities, in New York City. Mr. Kevin Wong was appointed as
a member of the Fashion and Textile Training Board (FTTB) of
the Vocational Training Council (VTC) in 1 April 2023. Mr. Kevin
Wong graduated from Colby College, the United States of
America majoring in Economics and International Studies in
1998. He was awarded a Master of Business Administration
degree issued jointly by the Kellogg School of Management
at Northwestern University and the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in 2016. He is the holder of the
Chartered Financial Analyst designation. Mr. Kevin Wong is
the son of Mr. Wong Chung Chong and the younger brother of
Mr. Kenneth Wong.
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Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (R %), aged 50, has been an
Executive Director and the Managing Director of the Company
since 1 March 2011 and 22 May 2015 respectively. Mr. Kenneth
Wong has been appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company since 19 February 2016. He joined
the Group in 1997 and is a director of Top Form Brassiere
Mfg. Co., Limited, and various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Kenneth Wong is responsible for the Group’s business
development and marketing functions. He is the Honorary
Chairman of Hong Kong Intimate Apparel Industries’ Association
since 1 December 2016. He was a panel member of the Textile
and Clothing Research Projects Assessment under Innovation
and Technology Fund from January 2017 to February 2023.
He was the Vice Chairman of Multi-Textiles and Fashion
Accessories Council for Federation of Hong Kong Industries
since 2017 and was re-designated as the Chairman in July
2021. He was appointed as a member of the Fashion and Textile
Training Board (FTTB) of the Vocational Training Council (VTC)
in 1 April 2023. He holds a Bachelor degree in Marketing and
Operations Management from School of Management, Boston
University in the United States of America and a Master degree
in International Business from Asian Institute of Technology in
Thailand. He has been awarded the Young Industrialist Awards
of Hong Kong 2015 by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries.
Mr. Kenneth Wong is the son of Mr. Wong Chung Chong and
the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Herman Van de Velde, aged 70, has been a
Non-executive Director of the Company since September 2002.
He also serves as a member of the Compensation Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. He has been
appointed as the Chairman of the board of Van de Velde N. V.
since 1 January 2016 and remains a non-executive director of
Van de Velde N. V., the shares of which are listed on the NYSE
Euronext Brussels stock exchange. He is also an independent
director of Alsico, a Belgian garment company. He also holds
several mandates in non-profit organisations. Mr. Van de Velde
joined the brassiere industry in 1981 and is well versed in
operating the brassiere business in Europe. Mr. Van de Velde is
the father of Ms. Lien Van de Velde.
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Ms. Lien Van de Velde, aged 42, has been a Non-executive
Director of the Company since November 2022. She is
the Department Head of the Innovation team under Design
department of Van de Velde N. V. She leads a team of technical
experts in the field of product and process innovation, 3D
modeling and sustainability, and is responsible for creating
the innovation strategy road map, taking into account market
and consumer trends, emerging technologies and the overall
innovation strategic plan of Van de Velde N. V. Ms. Van de
Velde has over 16 years of experience in technical design
development and innovation and brand management of lingerie.
Ms. Van de Velde holds a Master Degree in Cultural and Creative
Management from the University of Antwerp and a Master
Degree of Arts in Linguistics and Literature (classics) from
the University of Ghent. Ms. Van de Velde is the daughter of
Mr. Herman Van de Velde.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny (£#288), aged 59, has been
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since September 2008. Prior to this, she had been an
Executive Director of the Company since February 1998 and
re-designated as a Non-executive Director in April 1999. She
also serves as a member of the Audit Committee and the
Compensation Committee of the Company. Ms. Leung was a
member of Nomination Committee and was re-designated as
the chairman of Nomination Committee on 30 November 2023.
Ms. Leung is a seasoned investment banker with 30 years of
corporate finance experience in Hong Kong, Mainland China
and Taiwan. Ms. Leung is currently an executive director of Altus
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8149), a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange. She is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Securities and Investments Institute.

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (% %), aged 77, has been
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
May 2006. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Compensation Committee. Mr. Leung ceased to
be the chairman, but remained as a member, of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 30 November 2023. Mr. Leung was
the Chief Executive Officer of a leading construction materials
company. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Leung was the Past Chairman of the
Hong Kong Cement Traders and Producers Association and
the Past Chairman of the Hong Kong Construction Materials
Association.
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Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney (£ 30#), aged 48, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
at the conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting
on 30 November 2023. Mr. Wang serves as the chairman
of the Compensation Committee of the Company and a
member of both Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Wang was the Managing Director and
Asia Regional Head of International Connectivity for HSBC
Private Banking until the end of November 2023. Beginning
on 15 December 2023, he has taken on the position of
Managing Director, Market Head Greater China at Standard
Chartered Private Bank. Mr. Wang has extensive experience
in private banking, wealth management, risk management and
commercial banking in Europe, the United Kingdom (the “UK”),
North and South America, Middle East and Asia. Mr. Wang
obtained the Master in Business Administration degree with
the University of Connecticut. He has also obtained a Master of
Laws (Chinese Law) degree with The University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Wang is registered with Hong Kong Monetary Authority to
carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 4 (advising
on securities) regulated activities. He is a Chartered Financial
Analyst (CFA) Charterholder, a Certified International Wealth
Manager (CIWM) and a Certified Private Wealth Professional
(CPWP).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kwong Tony Wan Kit (B /), aged 46, is appointed
as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group in April 2024.
He oversees the finance function of the Group and assists
the senior leadership team in driving the Group’s strategic
developments. Mr. Kwong is a seasoned finance executive
with over 20 years’ experience in areas of accounting and
financial management. He has been holding senior finance
roles in sizable electronic manufacturing services companies
listed in the Stock Exchange and the Singapore Exchange
Limited respectively. Mr. Kwong holds a Master Degree of
Business Administration from Anglia Ruskin University. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Kwong is currently an independent
non-executive director of Ming Fai International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3828), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Tse Ting Ting (##F#), aged 56, is the Chief People
Officer of the Group. She oversees all aspects of human
resources management for the Group and assists in developing
the Group’s strategy in relation to human capital. She joined the
Group in September 2018 and has over 30 years of experience
in human resources roles with more than 10 years in regional
management roles at multinational corporations and business
with large workforce. She holds a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from the University of Hull.

Mr. Michael Allen Lurer, aged 49, is Top Form’s Group
Director of Manufacturing. He is responsible for all production
operations of the Group, including facilities development,
operations, administration and compliance. He joined the Group
in 1997 as a graduate trainee and has been stationed in various
locations of the Group in China and South East Asia. He has
over 20 years of experience in intimate apparel manufacturing.
He holds a Bachelor degree in International Trade and Foreign
Business from Dalian University.

Mr. Ng Chi Keong (R%3), aged 62, joined the Group in
May 2021 as Group Technology Director. He is responsible
for the Group’s Information Technology function. He leads the
technology teams across the Group to manage the Group’s
technology needs and execution of technology initiatives. Mr. Ng
has 30 years of experience in Information Technology in Asia
Pacific and the United States. He has worked across a mix of
businesses ranging from apparel manufacturing, retailers and
supply chain software companies. He holds an MBA degree
in Information and Decision Systems from San Diego State
University.

Mr. Eduardo Portabella, aged 52, is the Group Technical
Director and the Executive Director of Grand Gain Industrial
Limited (“Grand Gain”), a subsidiary of the Company. He joined
the Group in June 2016 and was appointed Group Technical
Director in April 2020. He is responsible for leading the Group’s
technical and industrial design, and business development
and product innovation for Grand Gain, the polyurethane foam
cup subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Portabella has extensive
experience in business development, manufacturing and supply
chain operations, project management, and engineering. He
holds a Doctoral degree in Electrical Engineering from Technical
University of Braunschweig.
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Mr. So Kwok Leong Jeffrey (8Bl %), aged 49, is the Director
of Commercial Operations of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co.,
Limited. He is responsible for Product Management, Customer
Service, and Demand Planning. He joined the Group in 2007 as
the leader of the sales and marketing function for the wholesale
and retail business of the Group. He has led sales teams for
major US and EU accounts, and led various strategic projects
for different functions of the Group. He assumed his current
position in 2024 and is a key executive in driving Top Form’s
commercial strategy. Mr. So holds a Master degree in Business
Administration from the University of Manchester.

Mr. Wong Chor Wai (E# &), aged 56, is the Planning Director
of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited. He is responsible
for Top Form’s Planning and Supply Chain functions including
Master Planning, Material Requirement Planning, and Logistics.
He is also responsible for the financial performance of the
seamless subsidiaries. Mr. Wong joined the Group in 1989
and through his career in Top Form he has taken leadership
positions in Sales, Customer Service, Material Control, and
Administration. He is a director of Top Form Brassiere Mfg.
Co., Limited. He holds a Bachelor degree in Science from the
University of Hong Kong.
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The Board present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are the design, manufacture and
distribution of ladies’ intimate apparel, principally brassieres.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development and
uncertainties and an analysis of the performance using financial
key performance indicators are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 5 to 6, the CEO Message on pages 7 to 11
and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 12 to
16 of this annual report. The principal risks facing the Group are
set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 12
to 16 and the financial risk management objective and policies
detailed in note 25(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024 are
set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on page
71 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the
year ended 30 June 2024 (for the year ended 30 June 2023:
nil).

No interim dividend for the six months ended 31 December
2023 has been paid to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) during the year ended 30 June 2024 (for the six
months ended 31 December 2022: nil).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS
Entitlement to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM

The main and branch registers of members of the Company
will be closed from Monday, 25 November 2024 to Thursday,
28 November 2024 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of
determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote
at the forthcoming annual general meeting on Thursday, 28
November 2024 (the “AGM”). During that period, no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the Shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 22 November 2024.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 4.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group recognizes the importance of a robust
environmental, social and governance (ESG) performance
in meeting the expectations of various stakeholders. We are
committed to complying with the relevant environmental laws,
standards and policies prevailing in the countries or jurisdictions
in which the Group principally operates. The details of the
Group’s ESG policies and performance will be covered in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report which will be
published separately.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Company was not
aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees are one of the greatest assets of the Company. The
Group is committed to continuously grow and cultivate its pool
of talent to build sustainable business. The Group provides
resources for training and development opportunities for the
employees. The Group also offers competitive remuneration
package to its employees. Staff performance is measured
on a regular and structured basis to provide employees with
appropriate feedback and to ensure their alignment with the
Group’s corporate strategy.

The Group has developed long-standing and good relationships
with its customers and suppliers. The Group serves the
customers and suppliers as business partners. The Group
endeavours to provide quality service to its customers and
works closely with the suppliers to ensure their awareness
on quality requirements of the materials and quality control
effectiveness.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during

the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 30 June 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was
HK$217,833,000 (2023: HK$218,680,000).

BANK LOANS

Details of unsecured bank loans the Group as at 30 June 2024
are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (Managing Director)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Herman Van de Velde
Ms. Lien Van de Velde

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert

Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy (retired on 30 November 2023)

Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney (appointed on 30 November 2023)

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of
this annual report are set out under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”.

In accordance with Bye-law 87(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws,
at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Wong
Kai Chung, Kevin, Mr. Herman Van de Velde and Ms. Leung
Churk Yin, Jeanny will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

The non-executive Directors have not been appointed for a
specific term but will be subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

The Board proposed to appoint Mr. Tai Lun, Paul (“Mr. Tai”)
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
the conclusion of the AGM, subject to the approval by
the Shareholders at the AGM. For details of the proposed
appointment of independent non-executive Director and the
biographical details of Mr. Tai, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 26 September 2024 and the circular of
the Company dated 29 October 2024 in relation to the AGM.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE ON
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company has assessed their independence and
concluded that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 17 to 22 of the annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions for the year ended 30 June 2024
are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
The following transactions constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions which are required to be
disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group has been for the past 42 years conducting
transactions with Van de Velde N. V. (“VdV”) by supplying ladies’
intimate apparel to VdV. VdV is a connected person of the
Company by virtue of it being a substantial shareholder of the
Company holding approximately 25.66% of the issued share
capital of the Company. Given (i) Mr. Herman Van de Velde,
a non-executive Director of the Company, is the chairman of
VdV and Ms. Lien Van de Velde, a non-executive Director of
the Company, is an associate of Mr. Herman Van de Velde
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules; and (ii) Mr. Herman Van
de Velde and the two daughters of Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys,
a former non-executive Director (associates of Mr. Lucas
A.M. Laureys under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) hold an
indirect equity interest of 56.26% in VdV via a jointly controlled
corporation and therefore they are deemed to be connected
persons of the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

All transactions between VdV and the Group would constitute
continuing connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) pursuant to the Listing Rules. Accordingly, a
master agreement dated 18 September 2005 (the “Master
Agreement”) had been entered into between VdV and the
Company to govern the Continuing Connected Transactions
and to set annual caps for the Continuing Connected
Transactions in respect of the three financial years ended 30
June 2008.

The Company had renewed the Master Agreement five times
with VdV with regard to the sale of ladies’ intimate apparel by
the Group to VdV. The 5th renewal agreement (“the 5th Renewal
Agreement”) dated 7 April 2020 entered into between VdV and
the Company expired on 30 June 2023 and the Group expects
that the continuing connected transactions will continue on
a recurring basis, the Company entered into the 6th renewal
agreement (the “6th Renewal Agreement”) dated 17 April 2023
with VdV to renew the terms of the Master Agreement for a
further three years commencing from 1 July 2023 and ending on
30 June 2026 to continue the sale of ladies’ intimate apparel by
the Group to VdV.

An announcement dated 17 April 2023 and a circular dated 22
May 2023 regarding the renewal of the Continuing Connected
Transactions contemplated under the 6th Renewal Agreement
and the relevant annual caps set for the three financial years
ending 30 June 2026 of HK$130 million, HK$140 million and
HK$150 million respectively had been published and dispatched
to Shareholders and an approval had been obtained from
Independent Shareholders of the Company on 8 June 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

Details of the Continuing Connected Transactions conducted
during the year under review were set out below:
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Nature of the continuing
Name of the connected person connected transactions

BEALER FEBEXZMHE

Annual cap set
for the year ended
30 June 2024

BE-Z-_NMF

Amount NAZTHLEEE
o] ZEELR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

vav
the Group to VaVv

ARE B RVAVH & ZE AKX

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange, the Independent non-executive Directors of the
Company have conducted an annual review and confirmed
to the Board that during the year the Continuing Connected
Transactions have been entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. on normal commercial terms; and

3. in accordance with the agreement governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
his unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions set out above
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Acquisition of a non wholly-owned company

On 28 June 2024, the Company (through a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary, Top Form (B.V.l.) Limited) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to acquire from Mr. Wan Ho Yau (the
“Vendor”) the remaining 40% interest in Grand Gain Industrial
Limited (the “Target Company”) (a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability and an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), at a consideration
of HK$19,000,000 (the “Acquisition”). Prior to the completion
of Acquisition, the Company indirectly held 60% interest in the
Target Company. The Acquisition was completed on 30 June
2024, the Target Company became an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company upon completion. The Acquisition
allows the Group to gain full control over the management and
operations of the Target Company, which will further enhance
the Group’s vertical integration of foam cup production and
providing stability of supply as well as improved profitability.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect
of the Acquisition exceeds 5% but all of the percentage ratios
are less than 25%, the Acquisition constitutes a discloseable
transaction of the Company and is therefore subject to the
announcement requirement under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of the transaction, the Vendor was a director
and a substantial shareholder of the Target Company,
and therefore a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level. The Acquisition also constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Acquisition is subject to the announcement
requirement but exempt from the circular and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 28 June 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions as disclosed under the section headed
“Connected Transactions” above, there were no transactions,
arrangement or contracts of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any one of
the Directors of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, the following Directors were considered to have
interests in the following business, which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules:

Mr. Herman Van de Velde, the Chairman of the board of VdV and
non-executive director of VdV, has an indirect interest in Van
de Velde Holding N. V. which held a direct interest of 56.26%
in VdV whose principal business activity is the manufacture and
marketing of luxury lingerie. The Board considers the business of
VdV may indirectly compete with the business of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors during the year
has any interest in businesses which compete or may compete
with the business of the Group, or have or may have any other
conflicts of interest with the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme”, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company were
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, nor were any such rights exercised by
them, nor was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate during the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year under
review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them may incur about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices.

Throughout the year, the Company has maintained directors’
and officers’ liability insurance, which provides cover for the
Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Old Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 3 November
2011 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) for a period of 10
years for the purpose to enable the Company to grant share
options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Board could grant options to
eligible employees, including directors, executives or officers of
the Company and its subsidiaries and any other persons at the
discretion of the Board to subscribe for shares in the Company
(the “Shares”). The Old Share Option Scheme expired on 2
November 2021.

Under the Old Share Option Scheme, the number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual in any
12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders. Share options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors
in any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
issued share capital and with a value in excess of HK$5
million on the date of offer must be approved in advance by
the Company’s independent shareholders. The share options
granted must be taken up within 14 days of the date of offer,
upon payment of HK$1 per grant. Share options may generally
be exercised at any time from the second anniversary of the
date of acceptance to the tenth anniversary of the date of
acceptance or may at the Board’s discretion determine the
specific exercise period. The exercise price is determined by
the Board, and will not be less than the highest of the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer and the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer and the nominal value of
the Company’s shares. The validity period of the share options
would be for 5 years. All the share options shall be vested and
exercisable from the third anniversary of the date of grant.

As at 30 June 2024, 13,785,981 share options granted under
the Old Share Option Scheme remain outstanding and all
outstanding options will continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of Old Share Option Scheme. During
the year, 7,528,971 share options granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme were lapsed. As at 30 June 2024, the numbers
of shares that may be issued in respect of share options granted
under the Old Share Option Scheme were 1,885,981 (30 June
2023: 4,714,952), representing approximately 0.63% (30 June
20283: 1.57%) of the total issued share capital of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) Eﬁﬂi#&%‘l‘%ﬂ (&)

The Old Share Option Scheme (continued) ERERETS @)

Details of movements of the share options granted under the &EHZEZE - -MEXA=THILEE  BIEZT
Old Share Option Scheme during the year ended 30 June 2024 Z|EXFESENEENERENEHEBFHOT ¢
were as follows:

Number of share options
EhREHA
Cancelled/
Exercise price Outstanding Granted  Exercised lapsed  Outstanding
per share asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the as at
Grantee Date of grant (HKS)  Exercise period 11112023 year year year  30/6/2024
1%E 1#1/7/2023 EREE/  130/6/2024
ARA REAH (Bx) kS HATE  FARE  FRR X% HAE
| ] | ] ] |
Directors
gz
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin -~ 30/9/2019 1.044% 30/9/2022 - 29/9/2024 204,522 - - - 224,522
ERELE
24192021 058 24/9/2024 - 23/9/2026 300,000 - - - 300,000
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth ~ 30/9/2019 1.044% 30/9/2002 - 29/9/2024 204,522 - - - 224,522
24192021 058 24/9/2024 - 23/9/2026 300,000 - - - 300,000
Directors’ associates
ESzBEA
Mr. Wong Kai Chun, Keith®  24/9/2021 058 24/9/2024 - 23/9/2026 300,000 - - - 300,000
BB ALY
Employees
&8
In aggregate 30/9/2019 1,044 30/9/2022 - 29/9/2024 4,265,908 - - (2828971) 1,436,937
Az
An
24192021 058 24/9/2024 - 23/9/2026 15,700,000 - - (4,700,000 11,000,000
Total 21,314,952 - - (75289M) 13,785,981
@it
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
The Old Share Option Scheme (continued)

Notes:

(1) The closing prices of the Shares immediately before the share options
granted on 30 September 2019 and 24 September 2021 were HK$1.15
and HK$0.58 respectively.

(2 Upon the completion of the Rights Issue on 19 February 2021, the exercise
price of the outstanding share options granted on 30 September 2019 was
adjusted from HK$1.172 per share to HK$1.044 per share. Details of which
was set out in the Company’s announcement dated 18 February 2021.

©)) Mr. Wong Kai Chun, Keith, is the younger brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung,
Kevin and Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth.

All the above outstanding share options shall be vested on the
third anniversary of the respective date of grant. Except for the
vesting period, there is no minimum holding period before the
exercise of the share options.

Further details of the accounting standards and policy adopted
for calculation of fair value of the share options are set out in
note 2(j) and note 22 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

The New Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 16
November 2021 (the “New Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is for the Group
to attract, retain and motivate high-calibre employees to
strive towards long term strategy and goals of the Group
and to enable the Company to grant share options to eligible
participants (the “Eligible Participants”) as incentives and
rewards for their contribution to the Group. A summary of the
principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme is set out
below:

()  Eligible Participants shall include (i) any employees,
executives, officers or directors holding salaried office or
employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and any directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company,
who as considered by the Board have contributed to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (ii) any consultants
or advisers who will or have provided services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Subject to earlier termination by the Company’s
shareholders in general meeting or by the Board, the New
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from the adoption date.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
The New Share Option Scheme (continued)

(i)

(iv)

(vii)

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme is 30,105,267 Shares,
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company (excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this
annual report.

The number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is
not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Share options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s issued share capital and with a value in excess
of HK$5 million on the date of offer must be approved in
advance by the Company’s independent shareholders.

The option period shall be the period commencing after
the second anniversary of the date upon which the share
option is deemed to be granted and accepted or such
period as the Board may in its absolute discretion to
determine, save that such period shall not exceed 10 years
from the offer date.

An offer of the grant of share options may be accepted
within 14 days from the date of offer. A consideration of
HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee on acceptance of the
grant of an option.

The subscription price of a share in respect of an option
granted under the New Share Option Scheme shall be a
price determined by the Board and shall be at least the
highest of (a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer
date; (b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five Business Days immediately preceding the offer date;
and (c) the nominal value of the Shares.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, no share options were
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the New Share
Option Scheme. The remaining life of the New Share Option
Scheme is around 7 years and 4 months.
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(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (continued)

As at 1 July 2023 and 30 June 2024, the number of share
options available for grant under the New Share Option Scheme
was 30,105,267, representing 10% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report. As
at 30 June 2024, the number of shares may be issued in respect
of share options granted under the New Share Option Scheme
was nil.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company during the year ended 30 June 2024.

DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or the chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”), which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they have taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows:
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DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EENSRTHABZEZ @
INTERESTS (continued)
Long positions: o=
Ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each of the Company KRG 7R EEO0.60;8 T2 & E KR
1 ] | | |
Number of Percentage
Number of  share options of the issued
issued ordinary held share capital
shares held (note 1) Total Interests of the Company
Name of Director Capacity FBERT HMEEREHE HRDAFABRIT
BEpg &% EEREA (M3E1) Y- REEA
1 ] | | |
Mr. Wong Chung Chong Beneficial owner and interests held by spouse and 89,952,724 - 89,952,724 29.88%
ENALE a controlled corporation and persons acting in

concert (note 2)
ERRAARARBRREEERA ERR
— BB AL (FizE2)

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Interests held by a controlled corporation and 89,428,202 - 89,952,724 29.88%
BRELE persons acting in concert (note 3)

BREHEERE B R-RTBAT (H5E3)

Beneficial owner - 524,522

EREAA

Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth Persons acting in concert (note 4) 89,428,202 - 89,952,724 29.88%
BRELE — WAL (54)

Beneficial owner - 524,522

ExBAA

Mr. Herman Van de Velde Interests held by a controlled corporation (note 5) 77,258,590 - 77,258,590 25.66%
Herman Van de VeldeZt = AR B EESE 2 Ea (f155)

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert  Beneficial owner 112,000 - 112,000 0.04%
PRERA ExEEA
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny ~ Beneficial owner 19,745 - 19,745 0.01%
Rk A ERERA

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @
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DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS (continued)

Notes:

1. Details of the share options granted to the Directors by the Company are set
out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

2. 6,474,304 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Chung Chong
(“Mr. Wong”) whereas 308,000 shares were held by Ms. Chen He Lin, the
spouse of Mr. Wong and 73,245,645 shares were registered in the name
of High Union Holdings Inc. (“High Union”), the shares of which were held
by Mr. Wong. 8,575,731 shares were registered in the name of Triple
Gains Ventures Limited (“TGV”), 41.36% equity interest of which was held
by Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (“Mr. Kevin Wong”), and 9,924,775 shares
were deemed to be interested by Mr. Wong who was a party to certain
agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571)
apply.

3. 8,575,731 shares were held by TGV, 41.36% equity interest of which
was held by Mr. Kevin Wong, and 80,852,471 shares were deemed to be
interested by Mr. Kevin Wong who was a party to certain agreements to
which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

4. 89,428,202 shares were deemed to be interested by Mr. Kenneth Wong
who was a party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or
(b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

5. 77,258,590 shares were held by VdV. Mr. Herman Van de Velde held an
indirect equity interest in Van de Velde Holding N.V. which in turn directly
held 56.26% of the equity interest of VdV.

Certain nominee shares in the Company’s subsidiaries were
held by Mr. Wong in trust for the Company’s subsidiaries as at
30 June 2024.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor his/her
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations.

EETSRITHRAEZER ®

MEE
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B BEERERBBEPIETIEZFFRBEKOE
317(1)(@) & Sho)EiE A 2 5 T e 2 5147 MR A
79,924, 775D P HE B HE A o

3. 8,575,731/ A {2 FATGV (H41.36%% 1 B = B8 % &
FE)BA ERMBREERERBEBEANENERS
REEKEGIE317(1) (@R Sb)EERZE THEza]
475 %48 A 7280,852,47 1 IR R D R A #E 25 ©

4, EBRRBEERIEABBEPESEZHARBEKOE
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789,428,2020% B& 15 7 A #E 2k ©
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4B Van de Velde Holding N.V.Z %4 - fvan
de Velde Holding N.V. Bl & # 15 B VAV # 2 56.26% °

RZE_MERA=+TH ETEARAMBEL
AlZREBEARMBAFELEENGERTLARERF
MEBARRAE -

BREXFREESIN SESFHEBEALHRE
WA B S B AL ] AR Bt X B 2 (M A £ - AERE
B REHFTHEETAERIAER -

Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2024



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 30 June 2024, the register of substantial shareholders

main
SFO

tained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
and as far as was known to the Directors of the Company,

persons (other than the Directors) who had interests or short

posit

ions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company

which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as
follows:

Long positions:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each of the Company
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FTERRES

R-B-MEAA=+E BEAQFRES
% M (DI B336 16 B 2 T ERR B EME
% RBARAEEHRA A TAL (EERI)
RART 2 BH R PR REESR
5955 16 DI SEXVED B2 0% 589 8 2 XA A A
BB 2 B LAA

"R

A2 7K E(60.50/8 T2 BB R

Percentage of
Number of the issued share

issued ordinary capital of the
shares held Company
Name of Shareholder Capacity BT HXATSRAT
BREREEEB &4 EBREE RAEBDH
I I |
High Union Beneficial owner and persons acting in 89,952,724 29.88%
concert (note 1)
BEREAAR—BITBA L (FEET)
TGV Beneficial owner and persons acting in 89,952,724 29.88%
concert (note 2)
BERMAAR—BITB AL (FiF2)
Vdv Beneficial owner 77,258,590 25.66%
BEHEAA
Mr. David Michael Webb Beneficial owner and interests held by a 27,042,000 8.98%

controlled corporation (note 3)

David Michael Webb4t 4 BEoBEEARBIESEEEE 2 Ea
(Pt 5E3)
Notes: D

73,245,645 shares were beneficially owned by High Union whereas
16,707,079 shares were deemed to be interested by High Union which was
a party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the
SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

8,575,731 shares were beneficially owned by TGV whereas 81,376,993
shares were deemed to be interested by TGV which was a party to certain
agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571)
apply.

15,802,280 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. David Michael Webb and
11,239,720 shares were held by Preferable Situation Assets Limited, the
shares of which were held by Mr. David Michael Webb.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BEEEWME

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year
ended 30 June 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against
such rights under the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The respective percentages of the Group’s purchases from
major suppliers and revenue attributable to major customers for
the year ended 30 June 2024, were as follows:

—  Percentage of purchases attributable to the 16%
Group’s largest supplier

—  Percentage of purchases attributable to the 45%
Group’s five largest suppliers

—  Percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s 43%
largest customer

—  Percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s 88%

five largest customers

During the year, Mr. Herman Van de Velde, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, has a beneficial interest in VdV, which
is one of the Group’s five largest customers.

All transactions between the Group and the customers
concerned were carried out on normal commercial terms.

CHARITABLE DONATION
During the year, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to HK$65,000 (2023: HK$32,000).

BE HEFBEEARA LTRSS

REE-_ZT-_WESNA=ZTHILFE  KQAF
SETAHBARMERE HEXKELRARQ
CIERE S

BRBERE

B R T SR P30 5 B S R B 2 IR AT
AARDRAR L HIMRERRIB2HEHIRG -
{BARE 2 BRI EIL T B2 HE -

ITEEREFRHER
BE-T-_MEAAZ+THILFE A£EE
FEREFMEBEEREEERSAERA
ZESHLMT :

- ARERAHBEMEEEEESL 16%

- AEELAHERAEEEEAOL 45%

- AEERAFEPHEBRABD L 43%
- AEBRAREPAEBABDL 88%

FR - AQEIEHITEEHerman Van de Velde
EERAEBRAREEZ —VIAVIEB Bk ©

AEBEERBEFP ZMERSHRR —RE X
fRFRAETT -

BEBR
FR - AREBEHZEZSIE 650008 (ZF
Z =4 : 32,000/ 7T) °
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board,
as authorized by the Shareholders at the general meetings, with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. Details of remuneration of Directors
on an individual basis are disclosed in this report.

The Group established a Compensation Committee in 2001 and
its functions and duties are, inter alia, to review and recommend
to the Board the overall remuneration policy of the Group as well
as the remuneration packages for executive Directors.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefit schemes is set out
in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 30 June 2024 as required under the Listing Rules of
the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance principles and practices and has
throughout the year, except for the deviations stated and
explained in the Corporate Governance Report set out on pages
43 to 62 of this report, complied with the code provisions as
set out in the Corporate Governance Code, Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange as
its own code for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors. Based on specific enquiry made with all Directors,
the Company considers that the Directors complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year under review.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to compliance with
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BEEEHE

N BUR
EENFMHIBEFELERRARRAG LR
BO2EESHNRE BERRAURLAEKE
XERMET EF2HFMFRBCRENEE
EAREANRKE -

AEER-TT-FRUFMEAE K
RBE A (KA &?E)%ﬁﬂﬂiggmﬁ%i%ﬁ%lﬁl
FATEE2HFNGSE Ut RESeRH
HEER -

EBHRBERGE
REBCRRBEMNAZERI NG E P BRE
MI5E23 ©

EHARNBERE
ﬂ?‘d)%zli’“ﬂﬁﬁ/eZ’“ﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ

BE_Z_MFAA=ZTHLFE A2
E&ﬁ”ﬁﬁ%s&ﬁﬁtm%ﬁE‘JZ%ﬁm%’E%EﬂZ@%

R E -

EER

ARBBNERFSRKFZEEERRBEER
WA — B B ST P AR A 8RC1 AT R
EREIATAZ T AR - AR E F43E62
BEREAWMEMES LR ZIRBEB LRI -

ETESFXZZ2EESFA
$’\ﬂ5ﬁimﬂéﬁ§ﬁﬁifﬁiﬁ BI BT 8% CIpT H 1T 42
TAMEREFEEARAR %ZTH‘J 1R 5 1)
iLi%Fﬁf’EZ%Eiﬂ KRARBRBREZER
@Eﬁir EL##T #Eljﬁﬁ%kZ%ﬁlni$T/E°

ERAARAABHEEZRERENA
RIREEST R Z #8553 -

85 %



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BEEEWME

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, together with the management and the
Company’s external auditors, have reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
risk management and internal controls systems and financial
reporting matters, and reviewed the financial results for the year
ended 30 June 2024.

AUDITOR

KPMG has resigned as the auditor of the Company and
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (“ShineWing”) was then
appointed as auditor of the Company on 5 May 2023 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of KPMG. Save as
disclosed above, there has been no change in auditor in the
preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2024 have been audited by ShineWing who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of ShineWing as the Company’s auditors
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chung Chong
Chairman
Hong Kong

26 September 2024

Top Form International Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance principles and practices with an
emphasis on enhancing transparency and accountability and
ensuring the application of these principles and practices
throughout the Group, striving to deliver long term values to
Shareholders and drive sustainable growth for the stakeholders.

The Company has, throughout the year under review, complied
with the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange, except for the following
deviation:

Code Provision B.2.2 provides that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
Chairman shall not, while holding such office, be subject to
retirement by rotation or be taken into account in determining
the number of Directors to retire each year. In the opinion
of the Board, it is important for the stability and growth of
the Company that there is, and is seen to be, continuity of
leadership in the role of Chairman and, in consequence, the
Board is of the view that the Chairman should not be subject
to retirement by rotation or hold office for a limited term at the
present time.

The Board is pleased to present the key corporate governance
principles and practices followed by the Company during the
year.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
eight Directors, including three executive Directors, two
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The list of Directors is set out in this report under the
section headed “Corporate Information”. The non-executive
Directors are not appointed for a specific term. All Directors,
except for the Chairman, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at least once every three years in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION
(continued)

The Board collectively determines the overall strategies and
monitors the performance of the Group. The Chairman,
Mr. Wong Chung Chong focuses on managing the Board
issues and supervising the management team in adherence to
the long term strategic development of the Group. The Chief
Executive Officer, Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin is responsible for
creating and directing the Group’s strategy, managing overall
performance, organization and operations. He has extensive
experience in business development, operations, supply chain,
finance and corporate development. The Managing Director,
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth is responsible for the Group’s
business development and marketing functions. The Chairman
plays a key role in driving corporate governance development
and a leading role in the corporate governance function held by
the Board. Mr. Wong Chung Chong is the father of Mr. Wong
Kai Chi, Kenneth and Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin. Mr. Wong Kai
Chi, Kenneth is the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin.
Mr. Herman Van de Velde is the father of Ms. Lien Van de Velde,
both are non-executive Directors.

The daily management, operation and administration functions
of the Company are delegated to the executive Directors and
senior management. All the significant issues are reported to the
Board on a regular basis.

There is a prescribed list of matters reserved for Board approval,
including:

i.  long-term objectives and strategies;

i. audited financial statements and associated materials;
review and approve interim and final results announcements
and quarterly operational updates; convening general
meetings;

ii. recommendations as to dividend;

iv. appointment, removal or re-designation of Directors;

v. remuneration of non-executive Directors and changes
in terms and conditions of employment of executive
Directors;

vi. material connected transactions;

vii. material acquisitions, disposals or joint-venture

arrangements;
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CORPORAﬂEGOVERNANCEREPORT

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION
(continued)

viii. material raising of external finance;

ix. appointment and removal of external auditors;

X. annual capital expenditure budget;

xi. matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
Shareholder or Director; and

xii. create, issue, purchase, redeem or otherwise reorganize
the Company’s share capital.

For any matters that involve a conflict of interest for a substantial
Shareholder or Director, such matters are considered and
approved by the full Board except those Directors who have
conflict of interests in such matters.

Directors are provided at quarterly Board meetings with
comprehensive reports on the management’s strategic plans,
updates on business, financial objectives, plans and actions.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board represents a well-balanced
mixture of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. Review of the Board composition is made regularly
by the nomination committee of the Company.

The composition of the Board by category is disclosed in
all corporate communications and the updated biographical
details of the Directors are set out in annual reports under
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” and on the website of the Company. A
list of names of Directors and their roles and functions is also
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Under the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if the number
is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third shall retire from office. The Chairman
shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject to retirement by
rotation or be taken into account in determining the number of
Directors to retire in each year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

In the opinion of the Board, it is important for the stability
and growth of the Company that there is, and is seen to
be, continuity of leadership in the role of Chairman and, in
consequence, the Board is of the view that the Chairman should
not be subject to retirement by rotation or hold office for a limited
term at the present time.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his/ her appointment and shall then be eligible for
re-election at such meeting.

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

The Board held four regular meetings during the year ended
30 June 2024. Regular Board meetings are scheduled at least
three months in advance to give Directors the opportunity to
include matters in the agenda and at least 14 days formal notice
is given before each regular Board meeting. The Board papers
and related materials are circulated to Directors three days prior
to Board meetings and Board committee meetings.

The Directors are given an opportunity to comment on draft
Board minutes and minutes of Board committee meetings which
are sent to Directors within a reasonable time frame of the
relevant meeting. The signed minutes are placed on record after
the same have been reviewed and agreed amongst the Board
members and are open for inspection at any time by Directors.

The Company established mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Directors
participate in Board meetings with open discussions, the
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to bring
independent judgments and provide impartial advice to the
Board. They perform their duties as independent non-executive
Directors by actively participating the Board meetings,
committees meetings and general meetings. The Directors at
all times have full and timely access to all the information of
the Group. In addition, the Directors can obtain independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
expense of the Company for discharging their duties. The Board
reviewed the implementation of the mechanism and considered
that such mechanism is effective.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

The attendance of the Directors at Board meetings, committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company during the
year ended 30 June 2024 were as follows:

TLEERHmS

EXg ESCSZEEERBRRRAE
(%)

REBEE-_ZT_NEA=+tHILFE JEF
HEEEEEE ZBESERABRRAGZH
[BRCERFFIBH AT -

I
Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

ERLRRY RERERERNY

Audit Compensation Nomination General
Board Committee = Committee = Committee Meeting*
EZg EHRZEEE §FHZEEe REZREE RERAE
I I S N S
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wong Chung Chong BIMREE (L)
(Chairman) 4/4 _ _ _ 1/1
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin BRUELE (BEHTE)
(Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 - - - 1/1
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth BERERE (EEELE)
(Managing Director) 4/4 - - 11 11
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde’t 4 4/4 - 2/2 1/1 11
Ms. Lien Van de Velde Lien Van de VeldeZ £ 4/4 - - - 11
Independent Non-executive BIFHITES
Directors
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny R4 /ME 4/4 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert ~ REEf 4 4/4 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy EREER-F_=F
(retired on 30 November 2023)  +— A=+ AR () 11 1/1 1/1 1/1 0/1
Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney INHERE (R =—F=-=F
(appointed on 30 November +—HA=+HEZT)
2023) 3/3 2/2 1/1 - -
An annual general meeting was held on 30 November 2023 during the year. * RAFE BREBFACGER_ZT_=F+—A=+
BT
Board Committees EEZEE
The Board has delegated some of its function to the Board ZE@WEBOBEEELTESEZE S ]
committees, namely Audit Committee, Compensation ®EXZLZEe - FMWMETESRIELXEZTEE® -ME
Committee and Nomination Committee. All the Committees ZE @ BIEPEE AT RN TR SH
have been established with clear and specific terms of reference AR 7 [z B B2 Y Bl 42 &0 (& - 1 B 42 &0 (& o) R B <8

in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code and the
terms of reference are available for review on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. Each Board
committees reports to the Board their respective decisions and
recommendations after the relevant meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three members,
including Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (chairman of Audit
Committee), Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny and Mr. Wang Man
Hon, Sidney, all being independent non-executive Directors.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee reviews
the Group’s financial information and oversees the financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems. The Committee also approves the scope of work of the
Internal Audit Department and oversees the relationship with the
external auditors.

Three meetings have been held during the year ended 30 June
2024. The principal work performed by the Committee during
the year ended 30 June 2024 included the followings:

— review of the Company’s interim and annual results in
respect of the year ended 30 June 2024;

— discussions with the external auditors and reporting to the
Board any significant matters arising from the annual audit;

—  review of the audit reports submitted by Internal Audit
Department regarding the systems of internal control and
risk management;

—  review and approval of the audit planning;

—  review of the Continuing Connected Transactions; and

- recommending to the Board on the re-appointment of
the Company’s external auditors at the annual general
meeting.

The Committee was satisfied as to the overall effectiveness of

the internal controls and risk management process during the
year under review.
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CORPORAﬂEGOVERNANCEREPORT

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee currently consists of four
members, including the non-executive Director, Mr. Herman
Van de Velde and three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney (chairman of Compensation
Committee), Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny and Mr. Leung Ying
Wah, Lambert.

The Compensation Committee has the responsibility delegated
by the Board to review and make recommendations to the
Board the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, the policy and structure
for all directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy.

The Compensation Committee reviews compensation policies
of the Group on a regular basis. The compensation policy of
the Group is designed to reflect performance, complexity and
responsibility with a view to attracting, motivating and retaining
high performing individuals. The Committee ensures that no
individual Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The details of remuneration of Directors are disclosed on
an individual basis in note 7(a) to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the
CG Code, the remuneration paid to the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 30 June 2024 is set
out below:
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Remuneration by bands

Number of person(s)

AB

HK$1 - HK$500,000
HK$500,001 - HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000

17 7T —500,00078 7T
500,001 7T —

The Compensation Committee held two meetings during the
year ended 30 June 2024. During the year, the Compensation
Committee has reviewed the remuneration packages of
executive Directors and non-executive Directors, including the
newly appointed Director, and made recommendations to the
Board for approval.
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BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises five members,
including the executive Director, Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth,
the non-executive Director, Mr. Herman Van de Velde and three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Leung Ying Wah,
Lambert, Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny (chairman of Nomination
Committee) and Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney, representing a
majority of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors,
identifying and nominating individuals suitably qualified to
become board members and making recommendations to the
board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors. The Committee is authorized
by the Board to seek external legal or other independent
professional advice where necessary.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 30 June 2024. The principal work performed by the
Committee during the year ended 30 June 2024 included:

to assess the independence of all independent
non-executive directors;

—  toreview the structure, size and composition of the Board;

— 1o consider and make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re-appointment of directors; and

- to consider and make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment of a new independent non-executive
Director.

The Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director a written confirmation of their independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in August 2013 and had reviewed the policy
during the year ended 30 June 2024. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set out approaches to achieve diversity on the
Company’s Board to improve the Board effectiveness and
better decision making that ultimately leads to better business
success and sustainability. The main objective of the policy
is to provide a guideline to the Nomination Committee in
selecting candidates in terms of their merits and business and
professional backgrounds to the Board with reference to the
Company’s existing and future business development needs.
The Committee considers the benefits of all aspects of diversity,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional and business experiences, skKills,
knowledge and length of service (the “Diversity Perspectives”),
in order to maintain an appropriate balance of skills, experience
and diversity perspectives of the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises of
six male Directors and two female Directors with different age,
ethnicity, length of service, professional expertise, business
experiences and knowledge which demonstrate diversity among
the members of the Board. With regards to gender diversity, the
Board has already met the objective of maintaining no less than
20% of female members on its Board. All board appointments
are based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against variety of criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

At the senior management level, the Group has six male
members and one female member. We will also apply similar
considerations as directors when selecting potential candidates
for senior management team from time to time.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group has 1,194 male employees and
5,546 female employees, representing approximately 17.7%
and 82.3% of the workforce (including senior management)
respectively. Being in intimate apparel industry, our workforce
is predominantly female. We are aware of the challenges in
increasing the male workforce due to the nature of our business
operations, therefore we do not set a specific gender ratio
to achieve. Nevertheless, we are committed to promoting
workplace diversity and ensuring that all employees are treated
equally without discrimination.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy in May 2019 which set
out the criteria and procedures when considering the candidates
to be appointed or re-appointed as Directors of the Company.
The Nomination Committee will consider the following factors
when proposing a candidate for nomination as a Director of the
Company or a Director for re-election:

— Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited the
Diversity Perspectives as described above;

—  The candidate or the re-elected Director is able to commit
and devote sufficient time to carry out his/her duties;

—  The potential or actual conflicts of interest of the candidate
or the re-elected Director;

— In case of the appointment of an independent
non-executive Director, compliance with the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

— Other relevant factors considered by Nomination
Committee on a case by case basis.

The nomination policy set out the nomination procedures
for appointing a new Director. The Nomination Committee
shall identify candidates pursuant to the criteria set out in the
nomination policy, evaluate the candidates and recommend to
the Board the appointment of Director. The Board is provided
with the profiles of candidates and shall decide the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee.
Regarding the re-election of the retiring Directors at the general
meeting, the Nomination Committee shall review and assess if
the retiring Directors meet the criteria set out in the policy and
make recommendation to the Board in respect of the proposed
re-appointment of Directors.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Group has an internal audit function. The Internal Audit
Department has direct access to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee. The audit plan of the Internal Audit Department
focuses on those areas of the Group’s activities that have
impacts in achieving the business objectives of the Group and
the plan is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. The
results of internal audit reviews and corresponding remedial
actions taken are reported to the executive Directors and Audit
Committee periodically.

The Board, with the support of Audit Committee and Internal
Audit Department, has overall responsibility for establishing and
maintaining appropriate risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Group has in place the risk management and internal
control systems which are designed in light of the nature of
business as well as the organization structure. The Group has
adopted a holistic approach to identify, assess, mitigate, report
and monitor the risks, including ESG risks. The management
assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide mitigation
plans and monitor the risk management progress. Findings and
recommendations are reported regularly to the Audit Committee
and the Board.

The Group’s internal control system includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority and is designed
to further the achievement of business objectives. The Group
also formulated a set of internal company policies to establish
standards in areas including finance, human resources,
operations, health and safety and information technology. These
policies aim to safeguard assets against unauthorized use
or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or publication, promote efficient and effective
operations and ensure compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement
of the Group’s objectives. The management adopts a hands-on
approach to the operations of the business and delegation of
authority is clearly defined.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

Robust controls are in place for the recording of complete,
accurate and timely accounting and management information.
Comprehensive monthly management accounts are prepared,
reviewed with, and distributed to appropriate senior management.
In addition, monthly operational review meetings of various
operating plants are held. The Chief Executive Officer and the
Managing Director play leading roles in these meetings.

The Internal Audit Department conducts reviews on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and reports their findings to the Audit Committee.
The review covers financial, operational and compliance control
in accordance with an annual audit plan reviewed and endorsed
by the Audit Committee at the beginning of each financial year.
The Internal Audit Department provides independent assurance
to the Audit Committee and the Board on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the Group during the year under review.

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed annual
review on the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and were satisfied as to the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at the end of the financial year and of their respective
profit or loss for the year then ended and are in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
requirements of the Companies Ordinance. The Directors
annually acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:
e select suitable accounting policies and apply them on a
consistent basis, making judgments and estimates that are

prudent, fair and reasonable;

e state the reasons for any significant departure from
accounting standards; and
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e  prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis,
unless it is not appropriate to assume that the Company
and the Group will continue in business for the foreseeable
future.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the
Group and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention of
fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are not aware of any
matters and uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The management provides the Directors with monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance, position and prospect in sufficient detail
to enable the Directors to discharge their duties.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding
their responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 63 to 70
of this annual report.

ACCOUNTING, INTERNAL AUDIT AND
FINANCIAL REPORTING FUNCTIONS

There have been sufficient resources put in place within the
Group to perform the accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions. The finance team, led by the Chief Financial
Officer, with the support of a group of accounting professionals,
is responsible for the oversight of the Group’s finance and
control functions.

Adequate training is provided to the finance team and relevant
staffs. In addition to the “On-the-job” and internal training, senior
staff will regularly attend seminars with topics of relevance to
them in discharging their duties, updating their professional
knowledge as well as coaching their subordinates.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions, and their training
programmes and budget during the year under review and
considered that the Group has adequate of staff resources
with qualifications and experience necessary for the effective
performance of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in February 2019 pursuant
to which the Board has the discretion to determine the declaration
and payment of dividends to the Shareholders. The Board will
take into account the following factors when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends to the Shareholders:

the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

— retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of Group;

— the current and future operations, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group;

— economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group;

— the Group’s business strategies, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the
long-term growth aspect of the business;

—  contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the
Company, if any; and

—  other factors that the Board deems relevant.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package to ensure sufficient
awareness of director’s duties, responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements. The induction package shall cover the statutory
and regulatory obligations as a director and the Group’s
business and operations.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
During the year, all Directors have complied with the code
provision in relation to continuous professional development.
The Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed
and refreshed by reading materials, webcast and guidelines on
subjects relating to the updates on Listing Rules, applicable
regulatory requirements and corporate governance practices.
The Company Secretary from time to time provided all Directors
with relevant Directors’ guides for their discharge of duties and
updates on changes of relevant rules and regulations.
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TEERWE
CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ##@EX%E »)
(continued)
The records of the Directors’ training during the year ended 30 REBE_—_Z_MWESA=1tHILEFERN - EF
June 2024 are as follows: BRI T

Type of Training

b Bl
1 |

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman) BINREE(FE) A
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (Chief Executive Officer)  &RUBR%E 4 (B EH7TE) A
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (Managing Director) BEMERE (EFALE) A
Non-executive Directors FBITES
Mr. Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde’t & A
Ms. Lien Van de Velde Lien Van de VeldeZZ & A
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUKHTES
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny Rigoh/NB A
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert REHEFE A
Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy MER K4

(retired on 30 November 2023) (RZFZ=F+—H=+1HRF) A
Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney F 308 k&

(appointed on 30 November 2023) (R-F—=ZaF+—H=+HEZF) A&B
A:  Attending training sessions, reading materials, Webcast and/or Guidelines A 2IEVIERTE - BAEM A - B g k555
B:  Induction training on director’s appointment B:  EEABEY
AUDITOR % L]

The auditors’ remuneration in respect of the audit services HE_-_ZT_WNEXA=THIFEEZHEBY
related to the audit for the year ended 30 June 2024 paid or HE#Z R M S ER T AR T HMNEE#Z S A -
payable to the external auditor, ShineWing and its network firms, {Ex P MR HEBEK B 2 X BB D B A
amounted to HK$1,315,000 and HK$233,000 respectively. 1,315,000/ 7T %2 233,000/8 7T °

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ EER=HBE=T/5K
LIABILITY

There is in place appropriate insurance coverage on directors’ REIEFEEN KR FCAEER SR ERE
and officers’ liability in respect of legal action against Directors B i & v & (T{#f °
and officers of the Company.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own
code for Directors’ dealings in securities of the Company.

Having made specific enquiries, the Company confirmed that
each of the Directors has complied with the required standards
during the year.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to compliance with
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.

INTERNAL PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS
FOR DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

There are internal procedures and controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The Group has adopted and
implemented a Continuous Disclosure Policy since 22 February
2013. The Board reviewed and adopted an updated version of
the Continuous Disclosure Policy in November 2022. The Group
discloses inside information to the public as soon as reasonably
practicable unless the information falls within any of the safe
harbors as provided in the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public.
The Group is committed to ensure that information contained
in announcement or circulars are not false or misleading as to
a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of
a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and
balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive
and negative facts.

The Board is aware of the requirements under the Listing
Rules about timely disclosure of inside information regarding
the Company and will arrange to issue and publish such
announcements as and when the occasions arise. The
Company Secretary will consult and seek legal advice on the
materiality and sensitivity of certain material and connected
transactions and advise the Board accordingly.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yim Wing Sze is the company secretary of the Company.
The company secretary is an employee of the Company and
reports to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The
company secretary is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are complied with and advises the Board on
corporate governance and compliance matters. The Directors
have direct access to the Company Secretary. The selection,
appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary is approved
by the Board. The company secretary has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year.

BUSINESS INTEGRITY

Maintaining the highest professional and ethical standards is
central to the Group’s core operating philosophy. The Group
has formally adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”)
addressing guiding principles governing conduct of Directors,
management and employees. The Code is intended to establish
standards of conduct encompassing the areas in which the
business operates.

In summary, executives and employees of the Group are
expected to:

e conduct business of the Group in full compliance with both
the letter and spirit of the Law and of the Code of Conduct;

° maintain the highest possible standards in the way we
operate and the way we treat our employees in order to
satisfy the expectations of both the business and social
communities;

° use confidential information properly;

° recognize and avoid conflicts of interest;

° protect the ownership of property of the Group, including
information, products, rights and services; and

e conduct outside activities in a way which does not
compromise the individual or the Group.

There is a reporting system for any code violations. The
Board reviews the Code of Conduct and monitors its effective
implementation periodically. There are also systems in place
for risk assessment, risk identification and management, and
timely corrective measures for sustainability and to nourish
improvement for the business of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance,
operations and strategies. The Company has adopted a
Shareholders Communication Policy, which is available on
the Company’s website (www.topform.group), setting out the
Company’s procedures in providing the Shareholders and
the potential investors with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company,
with a view to enabling the Shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner and to allow the Shareholders and the
investment community to engage actively with the Company.

Information is communicated to the Shareholders mainly
through the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual
reports), quarterly operational updates, annual general meetings
and other general meetings that may be convened, by making
available all the disclosures published on the website of the
Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and other
corporate publications on the Company’s website.

During the year, an annual general meeting was held at which,
the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the
Managing Director and the chairman or the members of
respective Board committees attended the said meeting and
were available to answer questions from Shareholders.

The Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Branch Share Registrar in
Hong Kong. The Shareholders may at any time make a request
for the Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available.

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders Communication
Policy during the year and considered that its existing
communication channels with the Shareholders and investors
are effective in facilitating ongoing communication and dialogue
between the Shareholders and the Company.

Under the Company’s Bye-laws and the relevant policies and
procedures of the Group, the Shareholders have, among others,
the following rights:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special
general meeting (“SGM”)

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company can deposit a written request to the
Board at both the principal office and registered office, for the
attention of the Company Secretary, to convene a SGM.

The written request by Shareholders must state the purposes
of the meeting, signed by the Shareholders concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more of those Shareholders.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Branch Share
Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board of
Directors to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. On the contrary, if the request has been verified
as not in order, the Shareholders concerned will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as
requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered Shareholders
for consideration of the proposal raised by the Shareholders
concerned at a SGM varies according to the nature of the
proposal. Details of procedures are set out in the Company’s
website.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact
information of the requisitionists and deposited with the
Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at 7/F, Port 33, 33 Tseuk Luk
Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, or by email to
cosec@topform.group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights of all Shareholders having the right to vote at the
general meeting; or not less than 100 Shareholders holding
shares in the Company, can submit a written request to move a
resolution at the meeting.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Branch
Share Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board of Directors to include the resolution in the agenda for
the meeting provided that the Shareholders concerned have
deposited a sum of money reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution
and circulating the statement submitted by the Shareholders
concerned in accordance with the statutory requirements to all
the registered Shareholders. Details of procedures are set out in
the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There was no change in the Memorandum of Association and
Bye-laws of the Company during the year ended 30 June
2024. The latest version of constitutional document is available
on the website of the Company and the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

L] L] L]
[ ] °
.-.0.0' SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
..0.. 17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,

311 Gloucester Road,

W

Independent auditor’s report to the Shareholders of
Top Form International Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top
Form International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 71 to 180, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 30 June 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 30 June 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This
matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
this matter.
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Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

FHEYE - BE R RERNEERE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m) to the

consolidated financial statements.
IR S BEHREZMF 11 RS

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

In view of the Group’s past performance, management’s
expectations for the market development and the uncertain
economic environment, management assesses property, plant
and equipment for potential impairment whenever there are
indications that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
As at 30 June 2024, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment amounted to approximately HK$161,879,000.
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In order to determine the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) for which indicators of impairment
was identified, management prepared a value in use calculation
using a discounted cash flow forecast.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANMARESTFEERERAER

Our audit procedures to assess the potential
impairment of property, plant and equipment
included the following:
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obtaining the discounted cash flow
analysis of the CGU prepared by
the management and checking its
mathematical accuracy;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB EN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) HREEE &)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

FEME - BERRENEERE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m) to the
consolidated financial statements.
IR IR EN 11 R A7 E B FIREN it2(m) < S5 ©

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRESEE EMmAREFHPEEERSEE

The discounted cash flow forecasts used to assess impairment e involving our internal valuation specialists
were based on a number of assumptions which required the to assist us in assessing the methodology
exercise of significant management judgement, in particular in applied by management in its discounted
estimating future revenue, cost of direct materials, staff costs cash flow forecasts with reference to the
and the discount rate applied. requirements of the prevailing accounting
RAEFGHRENMBEREREBADERETRSE  EFEE standards and whether the discount rate
BETEERNHE  LHEMETARRIWA - EEMEKA - B adopted in the discounted cash flow

TAARRFTAAIE - forecast was comparable with those
of companies in the same industry and
external market data;
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° challenging the key assumptions adopted
by management in the preparation of
the discounted cash flow forecasts by
comparing the most significant inputs
in the discounted cash flow forecasts,
including future revenue, cost of direct
materials and staff costs, with the historical
performance and future strategic plans of
the Group;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) EREEE )

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

AW BMERRBHEERE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANMARESTFREERBAER

We identified assessing potential impairment of property, plant
and equipment as a key audit matter because of the potential
significance of any impairment charge to the results of the Group
for the year and forecasting future cash flows can be inherently
subjective and require significant management judgement
and estimation which increase the risk of error or potential
management bias.
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comparing the key assumptions included
in the discounted cash flow forecast
prepared by management in the prior
year with the current year’s performance,
making enquiries of management as to
the reasons for any significant variations
identified and considering if there was any
indication of management bias; and
HEEREREFRENERRERETEA
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performing a sensitivity analysis of
the discount rate and gross profit and
considering the resulting impact on the
impairment charge for the year and
whether there were any indicators of
management bias.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act and our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

—  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Pang Wai Hang.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: PO5044
Hong Kong

26 September 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

SEREmR

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E TR FET
I I I
Revenue WA 4 1,130,164 1,007,016
Cost of sales $H B PR AR (874,674) (831,677)
Gross profit ER 255,490 175,339
Other net income H A HEE 5 21,820 15,390
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (87,067) (29,212)
General and administrative expenses —MERITHHAX (220,969) (228,207)
Profit/(loss) from operations BEHRAN (BE) 19,274 (66,690)
Finance costs WBER 6(a) (19,040) (12,372)
Share of profit of a joint venture FriE —ME & & R ra Fl 3,543 1,896
Share of profits of associates Fr A Bt & A B0k 7l 361 896
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREBADER S (BB) 6 4,138 (76,270)
Income tax expense FriSfifA X 8 (2,638) (2,254)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRER(EE) 1,500 (78,524)
Attributable to: FEAh -
Equity shareholders of the Company KRAREHKE (2,207) (84,732)
Non-controlling interests FEITE AR HE = 3,707 6,208
Profit/(loss) for the year EREN(EE) 1,500 (78,524)
Loss per share BREE 10
Basic and diluted YNNG HK$(0.007) HK$(0.281)
(0.007)7%& T (0.281)& 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEeEEkEMAZEIRER

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 FTAER FET

Profit/(loss) for the year ERHEN(FE) 1,500 (78,524)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) Et 2 E Uk, (B %)

Items that will not be subsequently Bl T 2EH T HEE
reclassified to profit or loss: BEmZHE -
Actuarial gain on long service payment REIRBSHENREE
obligations Weas 130 -
Deferred tax liability arising on actuarial REIRG & AIENEE
gain on long service payment Yo 25 BT/ A ) IR IE B 1B
obligations Bf& 24 (26) -
Gain on revaluation of properties upon R B EERETES
transfer of investment properties ok ES=E gl 11(b) - 1,049
Deferred tax liability arising on gain on W) S B B BB W E BT
revaluation of properties upon transfer EERMELEHIEAE 24 - (262)
104 787
Item that may be subsequently HETpEER B E Bz
reclassified to profit or loss: EEH -
Exchange differences arising on REBBBEIINEBEEZ
translation of operations outside PE X ZERE
Hong Kong
— subsidiaries L MNE] (7,233) (9,362)
- ajoint venture —EEE QT 335 (1,622)
— associates — H@‘i NS (82 449
(6,980) (10,535)
Other comprehensive expense FREMEZERX
_for the year, net of income tax (neRmss) . (6876 (9,748
Total comprehensive expense FAZHBAZHAE
for the year (5,376) (88,272)
Attributable to: PEAS
Equity shareholders of the Company AN R R R AROR (8,148) (94,630)
Non-controlling interests eI AR A 2 2,772 6,358
Total comprehensive expense FREERXEE
for the year (5,376) (88,272)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R E Bk

at30 June 2024 A - —pUEN B =+H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2024 2023
—E_F —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
By 5E TR FAEL
. ! |
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L e 11 161,879 189,004
Investment properties "EYE 12 149,121 150,027
Interest in a joint venture R LIRS NC A Fe 13 27,981 28,454
Interests in associates R NR) 2 14 5,579 8,408
Other financial assets EtmemiEE 15 2,838 2,838
Deferred tax assets FEIERIBEE 24 452 264
Deposits He 4,328 4,435
... 352178 383,430
Current assets RBEE
Inventories TE 16 170,384 103,594
Trade and other receivables B 5 I EH A YR 5K 17 178,531 201,380
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRERE 18(a) 102,263 112,130
b AS1178 417,104
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables g5k HMEMNRR 19 223,542 181,984
Unsecured bank loans MIEHIRITER 20 91,951 123,804
Lease liabilities HEBE 21 13,878 10,858
Current tax payable FEAST AN HAFR 18 6,303 5,478
... 335674 322,124
Net current assets REBEEFE 115,504 94,980

EENERERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
kR a MR R

at30June 2024 W —ZE - FENA=Z+H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E TR FAT
| e I I B
Total assets less current liabilities RAERRBAEME 0 467,682 478410
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 11,405 18,294
Retirement benefit obligations RIRIEFIAE 23 8,373 7,223
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 24 32,870 33,071
Other payable H b FE AT BR SR 19 19,000 -
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 71,648 58,588
Net assets EEFE 396,034 419,822
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital &N 26 147,940 147,940
Reserves i 1E 226,684 225,059

Equity attributable to equity shareholders 7K 72 &) 4 %5 A% 30 B (h #E 2

of the Company 374,624 372,999
Non-controlling interests FE P2 IR 2 21,410 46,823
Total equity R 396,034 419,822

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71to 180 were  HRE7T1HE2 E180H Y G A M B RE D EHE
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on  EE&R = Z & N B =+ B & RIEET

26 September 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: xCoUWAHNUNTEERREE
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
R HRE
Chief Executive Officer Managing Director
BENITE EFpaE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

| 1 |
Attributable to owners of the Company
ALAREAEL
Investment
revaluation
Capital Share  reserve Asset Non-
Share Share redemption  Special option (non- revaluation Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reseve recycling)  reserve  reserve profits Total interests Total
REEfR
E4EE i BEER FER

R RiEE fE  HHEE BREGE (T7HE) R EXGBE REER g Eg 1
HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TEr  TEn  TEr  TER  TEm  TEr  TER  TEn  TEr  TER  TEn TEn
(note)
(H3)
! I ! J I J I I ! | ] |

At 1 duly 2022 RIF-ZELA-B 147,40 1499 23 7139 1,580 (5,883 106,362 (7569 215,568 466,863 40465 507,328

(Loss)proftfor theyear £/ (&) /&I - - - - - - - - BATR)  BATR) 628 (18524
Exchange diferences arising  2EZRENE5 (B

on ranglation of operations  HBAE —Ha%E

outside Hong Kong (ncluding 27 RBF£ A A &4

subsidiaries, ajoint ventre 2 EH

and associates) - - - - - - - (10,689
(Gain on revaluation of MRENZERRRE

properties upon transter of - M EER-RE

investment properties - - - - - - 1,049 - - 1,049 - 1,049
Deferred tax liabiities on gan - M EERBE UG

onrevaluation of properties  MEMELHE

upon transfer B - - - - - - (262) - - (262) - (262)

(10,685) 50 [105%)

Total comprehensive ERRENE/ (B3)
income/[expense) 2%
for the year - - - - - - 87 (10,685) (84,732 (94,630 6,358 (88272)

Eouity-seted share-ased ~ MEEREEN R AE

fransactions B0 5 - - - - 766 - - - - 766 - 766
At 30 June 2023 RZFZZ%
ANAZTH 147,940 1,499 233 7,139 2,346 (5,883 107,149 (18250) 130,826 372,999 46828 419822

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AR EB%

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

I N N N A Y N N N N A N
Attributable to owners of the Company

AAAREAEL
Investment
revaluation
Capital Share  reserve Asset Non-
Share Share redemption  Special option (non- revaluation Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  recycling)  reserve  reserve profits Total interests Total
REEf
E4HE i HEER FER

k& RitiEE i WHEE BRREGE (T7HE) R EXGE REEA ag B& L
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TRn TEn  TEn TEr  TEn  TEn TEr  TEn  TEn  TEr  TEm  TEn
(note)
(i)
| J I J  J | J 1 | | | |

At 1 July 2023 RIFZZECA-B 147,040 1,499 23 1,139 2,346 (5,883 107,149  (18250) 130,826 372,999 46823 419822

- - - - - - - - P27 pa7 30T 150

on translation of operations 1
outside Hong Kong (including —FA 27 R

subsidiaries, ajointveniure  BEQE)EEZ

and associates) ERZE - - - - - - - (6,045) - (6,045) (935)  (6,980)
Actuarial gain on long senice & HRBELAENEE

payment obligations ey - - - - - - - - 180 180 - 180
Deferedtax abilteson ~ REREEEENRE

actuarial gain onlong YafEEnERE

senice payment obligations BB (E - - - - - - - = (26) (26) = (26)

Total comprehensive ERRERE/ (B
income/(expense) 23
for the year - - - - - - - 6M5) @MY (MY 2T (5ATH)

Change in ownership interest 74—

in a subsidiary (note 31) [ - - - 9,185 - - - - - 9185 (28,185 (19,000
Equity-settled share-based ;
fransactions - - - - 588 - - - - 588 - 588
At 30 June 2024 R-E-mE
NAZTH 147,940 1,499 233 16,324 2,934 (5883) 107,149 (24295 128723 374,624 21410 396,034

Note:  Special reserve represents () the difference between the nominal M7t @ HRIREROARARE - AL —FEBEEHIET

amount of the share capital issued by the Company and the ZRAHEEAEEETS AR ZRAEMBEHLEE
aggregate of the nominal amount of share capital of the companies MzZ8: N8B E_FT_NFA=+HL
forming the Group, pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1991 FE AR S /0 FE 1 AR hE a5 PR E B SR R B — R P
and (i) difference between the carrying amount of non-controlling BRAREIIMERFTEHREZENZERE -

interests acquired and the consideration paid for acquisition of
additional interest in a subsidiary for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E TR FET
I I I
Operating activities REER
Profit/(loss) before taxation BrBiATE T, (B1B) 4,138 (76,270)
Adjustments for: FATIEBEHRE
Interest income from banks EATHI B IA 5 (1,062) (519)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEWE BEREEZ
plant and equipment BB/ (W) 6(c), 5 42 (22)
Gain on early termination of leases RARIEAE 2 W 5 - (624)
Fair value loss on investment properties  REMENFEEFIE 5 - 2,720
Finance costs HHER 6(a) 19,040 12,372
Depreciation charges FEER 42,593 44,542
Write-off of property, plant and MM - BEREE
equipment 6(c) - 6,162
Write-off of other receivables i 85 EL b B U BR 3R 6(c) - 1,641
Write-off of other payables T 35 E 4 B ST BR 3R 5 (1,924) -
Share of profit of a joint venture FriE—Ma &R a)mf (3,543) (1,896)
Share of profits of associates Frib B & 7~ 8 & A (361) (896)
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss & 5 E R FURE & 18
on trade receivables s (BE) 6(c) 55 (187)
Reversal of allowance for obsolete PREFERERRD
inventories 6(c) (3,806) (2,033)
Provision for retirement benefits IRURAE A A R R R
obligations 6(b) 1,280 2,527
Equity-settled share-based payment AESEE RGN B
expenses AW NRAX 6(b) 588 766
Impairment loss of interests in REEENAER
associates EEE 6(c) 3,108 -
Operating cash flows before changes R &EESE A =
in working capital REFERE 60,148 (11,717)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits HeRmL (&) 107 (402)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEMm,E (62,984) 73,334
Decrease/(increase) in trade and 2 5 I H i W BR 3R
other receivables A, (g ) 21,151 (23,002)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 REMEMER
other payables #an, CRd) 44,201 (9,131)
Cash generated from operations REEBELECZRS 62,623 29,082
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ERBEBNER (862) (3,960)
Tax paid in other jurisdictions BT H A B AR R B IR (1,051) (2,124)
Net cash from operating activities REEREECESFH 60,710 22,998

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,_\_|
I\/\ i/}lb E‘%

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

Notes

P E

2024

—E-mE
HK$’000

FET

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FAT

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and

BREXHK
BAWE  BHEERE

equipment (12,752) (30,084)

Additional investment to an associate RHT-HEBEERAN
REIMEE = (15)

Interest received B U F B 1,062 519
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant tlj%’#@% B K 5

and equipment FiRCEe! 2,127 552
Dividend received from a joint venture W& % N T H A% 2 4,351 -
Net cash used in investing activities REXBRAZREFHE (5212 (29,028)
Financing activities Al E
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEHE 2EARE S 18(b) (13,358) (14,092)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEfNHEERE 2FEF D 18(b) (1,838) (2,350)
Interest paid 2RFE 18(b) (8,246) (5,246)
Other bank charges EMiRITE (8,956) (4,776)
Proceed from new bank loans PR g %E ﬁféfﬂ f9

FT1S KT 18(b) 346,875 687,938

Repayment of bank loans fﬁ}&ﬁEﬁE\ b 18(b) (378,728) (679,538)
Net cash used in financing activities  MEXBHEAZREFE (64,251) (18,064).
Net decrease in cash and HeRkBE&SEERZ

cash equivalents WA R (8,753) (24,094)
Cash and cash equivalents at REPAzBEERESEE

the beginning of the year HE 112,130 136,487
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExEgHsHE

changes (1,114) (263)
Cash and cash equivalents RERZHERESEEHE

at the end of the year HAE 102,263 112,130
Analysis of the balances of cash ReRBESEHEEBEEER

and cash equivalents Baliy

Bank balances and cash RITEHR AR 102,263 112,130

Top Form International Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRMHE

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

GENERAL

Top Form International Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the section of corporate information of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company.
Its principal subsidiaries are engaged in the design,
manufacture and distribution of ladies’ intimate apparel,
principally brassieres.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the
functional currency of the Company, being United States
dollars (“USD”). As the Company is a public company with
shares listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and most
of its investors are located in Hong Kong, the directors
consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the operating
results and financial position of the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2024 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s
interest(s) in associates and a joint venture.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs

that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(a) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for other financial assets
and certain properties that are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 3.

2.

Top Form International Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. FEEEREASHEEE R @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(a) Changes in accounting policies

(a) EFBEREH

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group.

Except as described below, none of these
developments have had a material effect on how
the Group’s results and financial position for current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS
12 — Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

The Group previously applied HKAS 12 requirements
to the relevant assets and liabilities as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to relevant assets
and liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Upon
application of the amendments, the Group has
recognised a separate deferred tax asset and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with the right-of-use
assets and the lease liabilities.

There was no impact to the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024,
30 June 2023 and 1 July 2022 because the related
deferred tax balances qualify for offsetting under
HKAS 12. There was no impact on the opening
retained profits as at 1 July 2022. The key impact to
the Group relates to the disclosures of the component
of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised as
disclosed in note 24.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

%R I ot

2Ny =

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

2. RREEREASHEHREN )

(b) FifE 2B K IFERES

MEARRASEZES 2 EEE - A
EEARELAEZE2EARERELM
SR # @R R ER - I EEER
HUZBRIENZEZFLRE
AEBHZERARTHI®E - B
AEBEEREEZRENE EEEH
AEEMEMBETRAZEERER -

RIB AR 2IREBRIRESIE B
EREEHEZBILERAGFALZS
FMBHERAN - RERARRMEZ &R
RZEBREREANEBARARRRR
FEEZEMNREREN SHERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARGTHEER 5
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
(b) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (b) MBI RIFERER (&)
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are represented in the
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the
total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(m)(ii)).

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to owners of the Company.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

FERESSAERSBET  HAR
AIEaBRREEZEEORAEZR A
REXERNZFERESEELRAR
mRARGEEBRSEMEME2E KGR
R SIS 2 B JE 4% AR o SR A a5 AR R
MzFRNBEZERLEEREAED
fic -

EARB ZHBARRERN  RIEA
R Z B IR AR B R E R 1 51 BR
(R sE2(m)(i)) -

ALK BB B B A2 R

Fagd

NEEERMBARCEREZH T
BYAEE YR AN E QR Z 22
MK BEIIERER ZRIE - A&
BoEs KRR REESE
T8 NRBRERHERF 2 A
BuazB8P FRREEZHAESHE
HRAFEEFEZENHDKRRE
ZENEZEBESERAERGER LK
BRARBEBA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(c) Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
and other parties contractually agree to share control
of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture
is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share
of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment. Any acquisition-date excess over
cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s
interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate or the joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(c)

(d)

EENERERAR

Associates and joint ventures (continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(m)):

e leasehold land and buildings held for own use;

e right-of-use assets arising from leases over
freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest; and

o items of plant and equipment

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred
from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold land is not depreciated.

e PBuildings situated on freehold land are
depreciated over their estimated useful life,
being no more than 50 years after the date of

completion.
° Leasehold land and Over the shorter of the
buildings term of the lease, or

2% - 6.5%

e Other properties leased Over the unexpired

for own use/motor term of leases
vehicles
o Leasehold Over the shorter of the
improvements term of the lease, or
20%

e  Furniture, fixtures and 10% - 33%
equipment

° Motor vehicles 20% — 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,
are reviewed annually.

2. RREEREASHEHRER @)

(d) % - BERRKE®
ZEYME BEERXEBEMRETE
EE(MNAE)E HAEGEEEM
A] {5 B F HR R 3 B DA RSB H A AR my iy
EERFE FRMT

o IKAEEIMITEHERE-
o MRIKAFELMMEFZER

AAAERFERAERE AT Z
R FEAK B HI1R505F -

e MELHME HEHE2%E
’F 6.5% M & H
MR E

o Hittmamm MHEMKRERF
HEWYEK H

_E
o MEMRKE MEHHE20%M
EROEREE

o R -EHER  10%=233%
B

o AHE 20%&E30%

MRME  BMFEREREBRENSEK
MOBRBETEAERFEH  RIER
DHEAENSEZBARNKA  BEE
MOBBARFTE - AKEBFYHE
ENAERFRMEE (W) ETE
% o

Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. FEEEREASHEEE R @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(e) Investment properties

(e) REMZE

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property when there is a change in use,
as supported by observable evidence, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of
that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in asset
revaluation reserve. The asset revaluation reserve
in respect of that item will be transferred directly to
retained profits when it is derecognised.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

REWEDEFEERRIAEAZ R/
KIFERREZME -

REMEERZRA (BREAEEE
HHX)ETE - RERERE  REY
ERERTVEEFE - REVELF

AHEZBEA -

EREVMENHERLEREMFEK
ATBEAREHLEZSVETS
E A R SRAR I M 25 By BUH HE B8 BUH
ERYEEL 2 MRS EE (R
EMERAFRREERAERNZE
Bt E) Bt ARBEBUBER BB
;A e

WEME BELKEEBEEME
R BIREYE L REEAE
REBNXF T ZEBRBHEBY
MEEEEQAFEECHNTRESR
EHMEEEEF TAER  LRE
HEEEMMHBT ZEEWNEEE
MEFESRRUIBEARERERER

B e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(f)

(9)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the weighted average method and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARGTHEER 5
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
(9) Leased assets (continued) (9) HEEE (®)
As a lessee TERA A

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets
which, for the Group are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(d) and 2(m)), except
for right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 2(e).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. FEEEREASHEEE R @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(g) Leased assets (continued)

(9 HEEE®)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability
is remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property in ‘property,
plant and equipment’ and presents lease liabilities
separately in the statement of financial position.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease
or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance
lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(9)

(h)

EENERERAR

Leased assets (continued)

AS a lessor (continued)

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance with
note 2(s).

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rate prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.

| ZE_EER

(9)

(h)

2. RREEREASHERER @)

HEEE W)

TERH A (1)
E-HANEEHEMIEHEEEKE
D AKREBAOREREHES
EE EEREAKREY - KBEKE
MENHE S WARE K E2(s) MR

S
RAmELEER BB 2 M mKE
NZEREEEE AN Z T’ (BISME)
ETZRS DEXZERZERIE
EUFMAERSEZYREEE (AIZE
BREXBMECIERERELZLR
B)RRKR - RBEHR - LIMNESIEZ
EHHEBORZAZERNEREMHE
B -RATFEENINEFEZIER
HENEBEAFEEERBZERME
REHME - RELKNANNESE
ZIFEKIEBHAENBRE -

REINERAYMBHREIME  AKEE
SNEBZBEERBENREREHR
ZEREXHRESAREZZHRER
(BPETT) - WA KM B L& F
BzVFHERBEE  RIFEXKZB
DR PN Y &R R A
AT KAXZERZERMERKBE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARSTHEER 5
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(h) Foreign currencies (continued) (h) (s
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised FEEzERZE (NG REMEE
in other comprehensive income and accumulated Was R WHNIE [ # (GEE AR 4
in equity under the heading of translation reserve @IEWG (ER)) BN 2 EmNRE o
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). HEGIINERR  HEZEINEKER
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative EREHRTCEARSEN DA
amount of exchange differences relating to that ZERE -

foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or

loss.

() Borrowing costs (i) EREH
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the AEERENEESZLBHEERE
acquisition, construction or production of an asset MEBALERTBERF A E A E
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to ERENEENHEE BEXILEEN
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as BERER HYERLARZEENES
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs PR o EoAth 18 5% B AR H 3% A B Rl I
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. RAEFRE -

() Employee benefits () EEEF
Short-term employee benefits and contributions to JIHEIE BB R RE SR Z
defined contribution retirement plans R
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leaves, Fe FREL -BFFER REHt
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans HERKRFEZHRIERBIREAES
are accrued in the year in which the associated R 2 FEANR - WiEE Sk
services are rendered by employees. Where payment BEERKERATE A LlSEAR
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be HIRETIER o
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.
Long service payments REREE
The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service REBEHRRIRBeNERBFER
payments are the amounts of future benefits that BREBEEBEEEMAERENAERE R
employees have earned in return for their services LA AT HA ) 42 44 AR 7% BT R B A9 oK 2R 7l 2%
in the current and prior periods, calculated in ©F o

accordance with the relevant laws.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

)]

EENERERAR

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share option reserve within equity.
The fair value is measured at grant date using the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that
the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number
of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that
relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the share option
reserve until either the option is exercised (when it is
included in the amount recognised in share capital
for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARSTHEER 5
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(k) Taxation (k) ®1E

Income tax for the year comprises current tax payable
and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs
from “profit/loss before taxation” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are permanently non-taxable or
non-deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable income. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences and unusual tax
losses and tax credits to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences and unusual
tax losses and tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARGTHEER 5
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(k) Taxation (continued) (k) BIE (%)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities
and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred
tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
N

RIS R Mot

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(k) Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such
investment properties are measured in accordance
with the above general principles based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered. The Group has rebutted the presumption
for all its investment properties.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

e inthe case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(k) Taxation (continued)

0

° in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures, are set out below:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)
for which transaction costs are recognised directly in
profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see note
25(c). These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
N

RIS R Mot

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

U

Investments in equity securities (continued)

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the investment
revaluation reserve (non-recycling).

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

() Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables).

Financial assets measured at fair value, including
other financial assets, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLSs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

e fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof; and

° variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk. In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

e 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

° lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(conti

(i)

nued)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLSs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with
any changes recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of trade
and other receivables through a loss allowance
account.

Except for trade receivables that are measured
at FVOCI, the Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account. For trade receivables
that are measured at FVOCI, the loss allowance
is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in FVOCI reserve without
reducing the carrying amount of the receivables.
Such amount represents the changes in the
FVOCI reserve in relation to accumulated loss
allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLSs (continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers
that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(conti

(i)

nued)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

e failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if available);

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

e existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

Top Form International Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)
ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

On derecognition of trade receivables at
FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVOCI reserve is classified to
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Ko

ng dollars) (A7 7T 517K )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i) Impairment of non-current assets
Internal and external sources of information are

reviewed at the end of each reporting period to

ident

ify indications that the following assets may

be impaired or an impairment loss previously

recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased:

property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets (other than property
carried at revalued amounts); and

investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures in the Company’s statement
of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i) Impairment of non-current assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(n) Trade and other receivables at amortised

cost

Trade and other receivables at amortised cost

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an

unconditional right to receive consideration.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the

effective interest method less allowance for credit

losses (see note 2(m)(i).

EENERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(n) Trade and other receivables at amortised

cost (continued)

Trade receivables at FVVOCI (recycling)

Trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling) are stated
at fair value. Subsequent changes in the carrying
amounts for trade receivables classified as at FVOCI
(recycling) as a result of interest income calculated
using the effective interest method, and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount
of these trade receivables are recognised in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) and accumulated
under the heading of FVOCI reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to OCI without reducing
the carrying amounts of these trade receivables.
When these trade receivables are derecognised, the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

(o) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see

note 2(i).

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(m)(i).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(q) Trade and other payables

(r)

(s)

EENERERAR

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods in the ordinary course of
the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

| ZE_EER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL 2. RBEEEREARSTHEER 5
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
(s) Revenue and other income (continued) (s) WMARHEMUY A (&)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue arising from the sale of ladies’ intimate
apparel is recognised when the goods are delivered
and titles have passed, which is taken to be the point
in time when the customer has accepted the goods
and obtained the control of the goods. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments receivable.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(t) Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) bhas significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan

for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(t) Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.

(u) Segment reporting
An operating segment reported in the financial
statements is identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s line of business and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the next financial year.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The management
determines the recoverable amount of the relevant cash
generating unit (“CGU”) based on the basis of the value
in use calculation. Where the future cash flows are less
or more than expected, or there are changes in facts and
circumstances which result in revisions of the estimated
future cash flows are below their respective carrying
amounts, impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss
may arise. As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s property,
plant and equipment amounted to HK$161,879,000 (2023:
HK$189,004,000).

Fair value of investment properties

The investment properties are stated at estimated
fair value, determined by the directors, based on an
independent external valuer.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Whilst the Group considers these valuations are
the best estimates, any market violation, policy, geopolitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a
result of change in macroeconomic environment may
cause further disruptions to the Group’s business. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

3. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Fair value of investment properties (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that include
inputs not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of properties. Note 12 provided detailed
information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value
of the properties. Changes in inputs and assumptions
could result in material adjustments to the fair value of the

properties.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s investment properties
amounted to HK$149,121,000 (2023: HK$150,027,000).

Loss allowance on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate the ECL
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
internal credit ratings and days past due as groupings
of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical experience with forward-looking
information. At the end of each reporting period, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered. Changes
in these assumptions and estimates could materially affect
the result of the assessment and it may be necessary to
make additional impairment charge to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s trade receivables at
amortised cost amounted to HK$132,453,000 (2023:
HK$178,576,000), net of allowance for impairment loss of

HK$92,000 (2023: HK$904,000).

fEEF T RESE ZERRR @

REWEZAFEE S
AEERABEVIEUABREMISEEAR
KERNE ASBETEARNHERITHETE
MAFEE W28 EEHETYER
FEEMANGBERN BASBEERTE
BEMFHER -WABBERREEYT
BEEFYMERNFEENERAE -

RZBE-MNENA=Z+H AEEHRE
Y& 5E A149,121,0008 T (ZE =4
150,027,000 7T) °

ESRWRRZERRERE
AEBERBEERESEE S EBUERD
EMERBEX BEXDIREBEABEEN
SEkBEBERIBRARRUBEENXZ
FHEBWER BERENIREAEH
FEEBRENR -RNEBEFRE BRI
EAREMEERZBERR RERSEY
R ABENBEEENXGEN AEE
AIEEERNESY ZERILMAEFED
HEHFEERENEATE  RRBEL
EHEABEAREHRIINRERZD -

R-ZTZMENA=+TH  REBIREHEK
R E®E 5 EWIRER £ 5 /132,453,000
BT (ZZT - =4 :178,576,000/ L) * 4
B 5 (B S B 592,000 T (T — =5«
904,000/ 7T) °

Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2024



EENERERAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the sale value of goods and is within
the scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers. The Group manages its business as a single
unit and, accordingly, the manufacturing and sale of ladies’
intimate apparel is the only reportable segment and virtually
all of the revenue and operating profits is derived from this
business segment. The consolidated financial statements
are already presented in a manner consistent with the way
in which information is reported internally to the Company’s
executive directors, being the chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resources allocation and
operating performance review.

The chief operating decision maker regularly assesses
available production capacity on a plant by plant basis,
however, no discrete financial information is available for
each plant for the purpose of resources allocation and
operating performance review. The chief operating decision
maker reviews financial information on a consolidated
basis. Accordingly, no separate business segment
information is disclosed.

The accounting policies adopted for the preparation of the
financial information reviewed by the executive directors
are the same as those adopted in preparing the Group’s
financial statements. Segment revenue is the consolidated
revenue of the Group. Segment profit or loss is the
consolidated profit or loss after taxation.

All the Group’s segment assets and liabilities are under the
only reportable segment as at 30 June 2024 and 2023.

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure of revenue
expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date
to its revenue from sales of goods as the performance
obligation is part of a contract that has an original expected
duration of one year or less.

| ZE_EER

4.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
(a) Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the

geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from

external customers and (ii) the Group’s property, plant

and equipment, investment properties, interest(s) in

associates and a joint venture (“specified non-current

assets”). The geographical location of revenue from

external customers is based on the location to which

the goods are delivered.

4. WARDTEER @

(a) HEEH

TREINIZHECES D BEBOLAE
BKEHIMEERP 2 WA KA &
BMzYE BEERRE REME-
REE AR N —HagRa 2R (15
ERBDEE]) 2ER - REHIMH
EXPZBAZHBNEIREYZ
BRBEROMTES -

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REHMIEEFZHA BEERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E_F —EZ=F —E_F —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FET TR FHET
I I N N R
Hong Kong B 199 774 14,127 16,081
USA % 848,492 628,637 - -
Belgium il 87,200 117,173 - -
The People’s Republic % A R £ A E
of China (“PRC”) (TED 32,722 44,566 199,838 203,614
The Netherlands fa7 B 36,077 51,983 - -
Sri Lanka HEBE 27,666 24,845 20,928 21,653
Australia SN 15,912 15,775 - -
Canada mnex 12,241 26,649 - -
Germany = 9,599 18,244 - -
France % 9,269 17,247 - -
The Czech Republic #r 3,139 2,194 - -
Italy BAA 1,200 2,198 - -
Mexico =P E 21,001 21,342 - -
Thailand IS - - 75,348 85,749
Cambodia SR 58 - - - 6,857
Myanmar A - - 13,053 13,053
Indonesia 21 - - 21,266 28,886
Others Hith 25,447 35,389 - -
1,130,164 1,007,016 344,560 375,893
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WARDEER®

(continued)

(b) Information about major customers (b) EEEFZER
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the REGEAEBEHESEREI0NA LR
total sales of the Group are as follows: P2WAWT -

2024 2023
—E-ME —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
. J | |
Customer A ZFEA 481,565 339,348
Customer B =FB 310,187 293,585
Customer C ®FC N/A" 738 B 115,847
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of * B FE U A ST 4 R AN 2 [ 4B IR A B9 10% A
the total revenue of the Group. ko
5. OTHER NET INCOME 5. HftWAEE
I I
2024 2023
—E-mE —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
I D
Gross rental income from investment wEMEBES KA
properties 12,189 10,788
Government grants (note) BT B (M%) 2,521 3,804
Write-off of other payables 8 L A JE A< BR R 1,924 -
Sample income (=T N 1,354 1,146
Interest income from banks R1TH B U A 1,062 519
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BEREZH W=
equipment - 22
Gain on early termination of leases RATKRIEEE 2 W - 624
Fair value loss on investment properties ~ &Y% A FEEERE - (2,720)
Others HAth 2,770 1,207
21,820 15,390
Note: P&
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group received government REE-_ZT-_MENA=Z1THILFEE  KREBWER
grants of HK$2,521,000 (2023: HK$3,804,000) from the Mainland AR K BE I & A BT H9 BURS # Bh2,521,0005% 7T (=
China and Hong Kong Government. T = =4 : 3,804,000/ 7T) °
For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group recognised government REBEZZZ=FA=1TBLFE FEERSE
grants of HK$872,000 in respect of funding support from the BENER O ENEES THRIEEIFEN
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by & & MR # Bh872,0007 7T °
the Hong Kong Government.
There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to 16 4 B9 UG BN 5% S5 BT 6 B B B8 A R SE AR B IR 1 e B

the receipts of these government subsidies. e EIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
NN

5 R B et

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

Profit/(loss) before taxation has been arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

6. BERBLATER, (F8)
B BEATER (B 1R) Bk GEA) BT

&R

2024

“EZNF
HK$’000

857

2023

—E-=4
—E=

HK$’'000

TAET

(a) Finance costs B%EH
Interest expense on bank borrowings RTEEZFBERY 8,246 5,246
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGENNE 1,838 2,350
Other bank charges HiiR1TE R 8,956 4,776
19,040 12,372
(b) Staff costs N
Staff costs, including directors’ BTHRA(BRES
emoluments (note (i) &) (I 3ES)) 417,833 420,413
Equity-settled share-based payment VA 25 45 B LARR 17
expenses BERNINRAX 588 766
Provision for retirement benefits RURAE R A RS
obligations (note 23) (Fff5E23) 1,280 2,527
419,701 423,706
(c) Other items HEH
Auditors’ remuneration = H AN & 1,832 1,861
Depreciation charges WEEH
— property, plant and equipment —W%E - BE&EE 27,088 27,913
- right-of-use assets —EAEEE 15,505 16,629
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss 2 5RO E
on trade receivables BREE (BE) 55 (187)
Impairment loss of interests in associates REERRZE 2
VERIEN = 3,108 -
Write-off of property, plant and M - BE &
equipment (included in general and HE (BT A—R
administrative expenses) (note (ii)) FITHAX)
(B (i) - 6,162
Write-off of other receivables (included T 815 L b 8 U AR SR
in general and administrative (BEtA—M K
expenses) (note (ii)) BB S ) (B aE(i) - 1,641
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE K
equipment HiE 2 B8 42 -
Reversal of allowance for obsolete REFERERRD
inventories (included in cost of sales) (BEF AHERKA) (3,806) (2,033)
Cost of inventories recognised as EmRAMI 2
an expense FERA 878,480 833,710
Net exchange loss/(gain) [ 5 E518, (W) F58 1,667 (2,821)

Top Form International Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

Notes:

0)

Details of directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are
disclosed in note 7.

Staff costs included amounts in respect of defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes contributions of HK$22,479,000
(2023: HK$24,280,000).

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the leasehold improvement
of HK$6,162,000 and rental deposit of HK$1,641,000 were
written off upon the early termination of a lease contract which
was attributable to the business restructuring associated with
suspension of operation of a factory in Southeast Asia.

7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors

EENERERAR

Details of emoluments paid or payable by the Group
to the Directors (including Non-executive Directors)
disclosed pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation are as follows:

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

6. BRBAERN (EE) @

fi

(0)

BIMAPESEME 2 FERM7HE -

BIKABIESBREEHFERIKEFE
R H) £ 522,479,000 T (Z B = =4 ¢
24,280,000/ 7T ) °

REE-_TZ-_ZFEAZ1+BLEER
AEWEEEG,162,0008 T RBA LK S
1,641,000/ 70 E AR E A KR AT AL LR SH -
THREEE - RXIREEEEMMBENE
FEEMFTE o

7. EEREEME

(a) E=

RIBEE B QA& £38316% K~ A7) (3
BEENZER ROIF2AEEAS
BENKENES (BREIFERTES)
ZHEFHBOT

2024 2023
—E-mEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
1 .
Fees to non-executive directors ERTEF S 1,000 1,043
Remuneration to executive directors: HITESEMS
— Salaries and other benefits —He hAEMER 9,622 9,622
- Discretionary bonus —WIETEA 2,064 -
- Share-based payments — AR BERH R 28 28
— Retirement benefit scheme —RIKEFFTH &I L5k
contributions 54 54
12,768 10,747

| ZE_EER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 7. EEREEME @
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued) (a) E= ()

For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE-E-MERAZTALER

Retirement
Salaries  Discretionary Share- benefit
and other bonus based scheme
Fees henefits (Note) payments  contributions Total
) Wigwd R A BRAEA
Name of director EZi? ne R R7 (WaF)  ERgEf HHER @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TR TR TR TR
I S S S S

Wong Chung Chong U - 3,412 - - 18 3,430
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin EEE - 3,105 1,082 14 18 4,169
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth e - 3,105 1,032 14 18 4,169
Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde 200 - - - - 200
Lien Van de Velde Lien Van de Velde 200 - - - - 200
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny RER 200 - - - - 200
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 2EE 200 - - - - 200
LinSun Mo, Wily Resignedon ~~ #ER (RZF==F
30 November 2029) t-A=tHEH) 83 - - - - 83
Wang Man Hon, Sidney (Appointed T30 % £
on 30 Noverber 2029) (W=B==f%
T-A=THEZf{) 17 - - - - 17
1,000 9,622 2,064 2 54 12,768
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 7. EEREEME @
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued) (a) E= ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023
(Z_ECCFARCTREER

Retirement
Salaries  Discretionary Share- benefit
and other bonus based scheme
Fees benefits (Note) payments  contributions Total
EEN B KRR A RAER
Name of director gz Be Efpid (Bs)  EfOIH R o)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEn ThEn ThEn ThEn ThEn ThEn

WWong Chung Chong EUY - 3412 - - 18 3430
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Bl - 3,105 - 14 18 3,137
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth EGS - 3,105 - 14 18 3,187
Fung Wal Yiu (Retired on BEE(W-3-=
16 September 2022) NATHBE) 4 - - - - 4
Lucas AM. Laureys (Retired on Lucas AM. Laureys
18 November 2022) (R=%B-z
t-ATNBEE) 7 - - - - 77
Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde 200 - - - - 200
Lien Van de Velde (Appointed Lien Van de Velde
on 18 November 2022) (WzEzZ
t-RT/\BEZf) 124 - - - - 124
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 2ER 200 - - - - 200
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 2E 200 - - - - 200
Lin Sun Mo, Willy HER 200 - - - - 200
1,043 9,622 - 2 54 10,747
Note: M3E -
The discretionary bonus is recommended by Compensation HEAHTHNZESHBUYKERTSERE
Committee and determined by the Board having regards to the NEBMARBRBFENARER T RMETE °
Group’s performance and profitability and the prevailing market
conditions.
None of the directors waived any emoluments during REE-_E-_NERER T -=%F,XH
the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023. “THRIEFE - SERESFHRETMBN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Employees
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, three (2023: three) were Directors of
the Company whose emoluments are included in the
disclosure above. The emoluments of the remaining
two (2023: two) individuals were as follows:

7. EEREEMES ®

(b) B8
AEBRAGRFEALTT = (ZF
CEE ) AARAES  BE
MeEEELXRE E#HML (=%
“ZE M)A ZBENT

2024 2023

—E-F —T=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT T
I I

Salaries and other benefits e hHMmEF 3,757 3,832

Discretionary bonus (SRRl 600 1,283

Share-based payments ARGt B AR A S 147 138

Retirement benefit scheme RORAE A ET B4 5K
contributions 36 36
4,540 5,289

The emoluments were within the following bands:

MegmEMT

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—E-mF —E-=F
' e
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T — 2,500,000/% 7T 2 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T — 3,000,000/% 7T - 1
2 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any
director or employee as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office during the years ended 30 June 2024 and
2023.

RBEE_ZT_MNER_FT_=FA
=+tHILEFEAR  NEBEREWN
BEEgEEXXNME ERIMALRE
B MAREBRHO RS HIERBER
g -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. FIS®ipxX

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
I I
Current tax: AHAFLIE -
Hong Kong A 40 1,168
Other jurisdictions HAp AR 2,784 1,601
2,824 2,769
Under/(over)-provision of BEFEARRHRE
current tax in prior years: BETRRGBEERSE)

Hong Kong B = (95)
Other jurisdictions HAp R AR 2 225
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 130

Deferred taxation (note 24) BRI (MfzE24)

Origination and reversal of temporary EERBEOERER

Cdifferences . (188) . (645).
Income tax expense T8’ f 2,638 2 054

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 is
calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year, except for one subsidiary
of the Group which is a qualifying corporation under the
two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax for this subsidiary was calculated at the same
basis in 2023.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

ZEZNMFNBEENEHBERRAFE
B (EEH FERE R A LA16.5% (T - =4 :
16.5%) MBI EFHE  HAEE —RIBER
ARSI - HARBFSHMAGBE EKEE -

M B AR M E © B2,000,000/% JT & 5
TR FI B 1%8.25% M B RS - T &R ERT L
FBRAR165%MBERAT - N 2T ==
FoZMBRARNEBRERBE T IEE
FIEEFE -

RETBECEMEBTAREERAR -+

BB 2T K B25% o

S T £ E 2 B R 58 5 48 B B
ZRATBEHE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the profit/(loss) before tax per consolidated statement of

profit or loss as follows:

8. BB (&
FEREHRAX

M,/ (BE) HERMT

Eﬁi,i* B R Z R AR

2024 2023
—E-mEF TECZHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
I .
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELADR A, (B18) 4,138 (76,270)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate REMFEHMETE 2B 683 (12,585)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible MBBME TR 2
for tax purpose nTE 1,251 3,508
Tax effect of income not taxable B MEBARMBAZ
for tax purpose Fiss & (1,474) (547)
Tax effect of share of results of associates 7B B & N 5 2 248 2 T 7%
2 (60) (148)
Tax effect of share of result of a joint RER—HAERRIZEEY
venture nGTE (585) (313)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERME BB MG TE 10,105 18,029
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses AL ARERMEERZ
previously not recognised nByeE (6,845) (3,583)
Tax effect of temporary differences not RERLFER MG E
recognised 51 529
Under provision in respect of prior years  B1EFEEEE T B 2 130
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R Efth BlA R & 2
operating in other jurisdictions MEARBENRZFE (490) (2,766)
Income tax expense for the year FARMGEHRAX 2,638 2,254

9. DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for

the year ended 30 June 2024 (2023: nil).

9. RE

BExgCK

BRIREBEE_T_WFARA

ZtTREFEEMRERARE (ZF ==

FE) -

Top Form International Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

10. LOSS PER SHARE 10. BIRE5 1B
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share ARG EmBRRELSRERNREEEIE
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company is THIRE T HE R E

based on the following data:

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT

Loss attributable to equity shareholders ~ FRAZT E G RRE AN & #1585

of the Company for the purpose of BB 2 R R B RERE IR
computing basic and diluted loss per e EB1E
share (2,207) (84,732)

. /.|
Number of shares
BHEEE

2024 2023
—E_MEF —E-=
I I

Weighted average number of ordinary RANRFTEGRER R E5E

shares for the purpose of basic and 2 EmpR I &R

diluted loss per share 301,052,675 301,052,675
The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume HESREEEERYEEBRITEARQA
the exercise of the Company’s options because the MERE DERZSERENTEES
exercise price of those options was higher than the average REBEE-_ZE-_NMER-_ZE-_=F,A=1+
market price for shares for both years ended 30 June 2024 HIEMEFE RN FHMIE -
and 2023.

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT M. X - BERRE
1 ! I ' I J | |
Ownership
interests in
|easehold land Other
and buildings properties Furniture,
Freehold land  held for own |eased for Leasehold fixtures and Motor  Construction
and buildings use ownuse improvements  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BR
fis Al
REL#R BA

KRR R¥RN ERN HENR Bl
thRET  BEERR RN i  RERRR RE BRIE e
HKS 000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS 000 HK§000 HK§'000 HKS 000 HK$'000
TR TR Tn TR TR TER TR Tin
I I S S S S S S

Cost TS

At 1 July 2022 WoE--FEA-8 27489 62590 63936 72,39 379,601 11,59 183 19,460
Currency realignment Eimg 1 12 (764) (79 (1319) (3%) 1 (2379
Addiions AE - 2593 18117 6,962 2781 9 3,431 58,481
Write-offfisposals fis/ e - - - (9219 (6,686) (65 (253) (19,004
Reclassfication BNAE - - - 78 - - 79 -
Earlyterminaton of eases ~ REEHHE - - (10623) - - - - (10623)
Lease modffcation U3 - - (713 - - - - (713

Transfer fiom property, plant - 341% * BE R EEA
and equipment to investment &%
properties - (363) - - - - - (363)

At 30 June 2023 and RE-ZERAZTAR

1.y 2023 “ECIELR-E 27,490 64,832 64973 69,04 396,887 10,796 4937 639,859
Curency reaignment EffE (180) (1,764) (780) (390) (7,221) (329 (215) (10,873)
Addions hE - 10 6,335 1,718 10,842 3,499 - 22,464
Write-offfisposals fg/tE - - - (129) (6,920) (5,209) - (12,287)
Reclassifcation b - - - - 4,122 - 4729) -
130 June 2024 ey o ol 730 63,138 7058 T, 14 398,310 873 - 639,163
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. ¥ BERRE =

(continued)

Ownership
interests in
leasehold land Other
Freehold  and buildings properties Furniture,
landand  held for own leased for own Leasehold fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
buildings use use improvements  equipment vehicles  inprogress Total
B
fissgh
BELHR BR

AR #¥eN AEEN RENR AR
tHRRT  REERE  AMAR k6 KERER RE RRIE #
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
I S I N S S S S S

Depreciation and impairment; 7&K fE :

At 1 July 2022 HNoE-ZErE-R 0917 19275 40339 55,972 270,20 10832 - 436,544
Currency realignment L - 12 (673) (232) o1) - - (2,004
Charge for the year TERER - 2,17 14004 6,384 21,448 519 - 44540
Eiminated on disposalsfwrite-off - 1t € /5 - - - (3.051) (6.409) (652) - (12312
Reclassifcation EE g - - - - - - - -
Early termination of eases RASILEE - - (4,662 - - - - (4,662)
Lease modfication HEsH - - (10,890) - - - - (10,890)
Transfer from property, plant &% - BERREEH

and equipment to investment &%

properties - (363) - - - - - (363)
At30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 W-Z-=ERFZR

R-E-ZELA-B 9917 51,051 31918 59,073 282,337 10,559 - 450,855

Currency reglignment EiGE - (789 (704 (321) (4,055) (17) - (6,046)
Charge for the year TERER - 2,120 12741 5,647 21,49 696 - 42,593
Fiminated on disposalswrite-off - 1 EE /£ - - - (129) (4751) (5,209) - (10,118)
At 30 June 2024 R-E-RERAZTR 0917 52,362 49,025 64,274 294,950 5,8% - 477,284
NET BOOK VALUE FERE
30 Jung 2024 HoEZRERAZTH 17,399 10,756 20,603 6,873 103,360 2,804 - 161,879
30 June 2023 RoE-ZEREZ1R 17573 13781 27,055 10871 114,550 27 4997 189,004
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT M. YE -BERRE®
(continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use FTRAREELRREEERNZESOER
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: HFESTET :

2024 2023
—EMEF —ET=-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Ownership interests in leasehold EHBAN - mBEAM

land and buildings held for own BENHEE T

use outside Hong Kong, with NEFHRHERE

remaining lease term of: #an o RREERR

- 50 years or more —50%F sk LA E 329 345

- between 10 and 50 years —10250%F 10,427 13,436
e 10,756 .. 13,781
Other properties leased for own use A B AMHASRNE Y% 20,603 27,055
Motor vehicles _E 2,845 200
... 23,448 | 27,255

34,204 41,036

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases RHETETNERNAIEE >N
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: wm

2024 2023
—ENE I
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHBT T

Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEENTEER -

assets by class of underlying asset: HIEEEEDH
Ownership interests in leasehold land AR & £ 3 } 1€ 5 7 )
and buildings VB R = 2,120 2,127
Other properties leased for own use AEAMEAENHEMYE 12,711 14,004
Motor vehicles e 674 498
15,505 16,629
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HEABNFE (ME6(a) 1,838 2,350
Expense relating to short-term leases ARG HHHES MM 1,489 1,320
Expense relating to leases of FHREEEEHENRX
low-value assets 13 71
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)

M. PE - BERRKE®
(a) EREEE (&)

EENERERAR

During the year ended 30 June 2024, additions
to right-of-use assets were HK$9,712,000 (2023:
HK$18,208,000). This amount primarily related to
the capitalised lease payments payable under new
tenancy agreements for other properties and motor
vehicles.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group
early terminated a lease contract due to the
business restructuring associated with suspension
of operations of a factory in Southeast Asia, the
respective right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$5,961,000 and HK$6,585,000 are derecognised
accordingly, resulting in a gain on early termination of
HK$624,000 recognised in profit or loss.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group
renewed a lease contract with landlord to extend the
lease term with a reduction in lease payments, the
respective lease modification on right-of-use asset
and lease liability of HK$5,177,000 are recognised
accordingly.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 18(c)
and 21 respectively.

()  Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings held for own use
The Group hold several industrial buildings as
factories where its manufacturing facilities are
primarily located. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including the
whole or part of undivided share in the underlying
land. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire the right-of-use, and there are no
ongoing payments to be made under the terms
of the land lease, other than payments based on
rateable values set by the relevant government
authorities. These payments vary from time to
time and are payable to the relevant government
authorities.

(i) Other properties leased for own use
The Group has obtained the right to use of
other properties as its warehouses and factories
through tenancy agreements. The lease terms
are generally ranged from two to six years.

(i) Motor vehicles
The Group leases motor vehicles under leases
expiring from one to four years. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments.

| ZE_EER

RZZE-WMENA=ZFTHIEEERN
{#F M & EE RV IE 029,712,000 7T (=
T — =4 :18,208,000/8 7T) - X & &
TESNEMYENREREHEE
W EMNEAMC TS -

BE - ET-_=Z=F~A=tHILEE"
AEEARme R IMEELEM
HEAMESEEAMBIRILEEEAY
HE FE B {5 PB4 & EE5,961,0000%8 7T M A8
& B 156,585,000 LI X IFHER - &
AR B 4% 1E U 5624,00058 ST EE 1B 75 AR
MR o

HE_Z-_=F~A=t+HILFE "
AEFRETSEHREAY Tk
FEBRW R ME N HERER
5177,0008 THFEREEELEES
BNHEEEN -

EHBEERRe Rt MBEEaET
B o 1 89 7 15 95 B &7 MY 3E18(c) B
21 °

() BEARMFEANHEELMEE
FH R
AEBREETIEEFIELR
HEERBEEMNZEET
REE D% E YR O
BEA BREMEBRLTDENHR
MERBkEs - RIREERESR
EASEESN-EEFE
BRI HEEEK  RUABBK
FERMENEREMAERE
RO I BARBENRK - %
EREAEEY WAXNTE
FARFER -

(i) mEHRMBEENEMLYE
AEEDEEBEEHRNEH
xR (ERERBER TR ME
Pt - HEH RO F_ERF -

(i) Z#E
AEBREBEAE —ZEZNFHHEE
HRAEE -HEMI2EZHE
EtEEE -

@)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)
(b) Transfer from land and buildings to

(c)

investment properties

During the year ended 30 June 2023, due to
the change of use, part of the Group’s land and
buildings with net book value of nil was transferred
to investment properties. Upon the date of transfer,
the fair value was determined by directors of the
Company with reference to the professional valuations
using cost approach and were categorised as Level
3 fair value measurement as defined in HKFRS 13,
Fair value measurement. The fair value as at the date
of transfer was determined to be HK$1,049,000.
Accordingly, revaluation gain of HK$1,049,000 was
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment assessment

As at 30 June 2024, the directors of the Company
conducted an impairment assessment for the
property, plant and equipment in view of the Group’s
past performance, management’s expectations for
the market development and the uncertain economic
environment. The recoverable amount has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. The
calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering
a 5-year period, and discount rate of 10.40% (2023:
12.80%). Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a steady 1.7% (2023: 2.5%)
growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed
the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted sales and gross
margin, such estimation is based on the Group’s
past performance and management’s expectations
for the market development which are subject to
higher degree to estimation uncertainties. As at 30
June 2024, no impairment is considered necessary.
Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable
amount.

M. PE - BERRKE®

(b)

(c)

Top Form International Limited

HItREFETREMWE

REBEZZ_=FA=1+HLEFE
W BARESRARE At 5B
HMFEAZATHNHE S, T REFE
EAKREYE -RERAH AFE
EHARREELEHEGHEET -
SEMEDEAKRKEE#ET BN
REBV B REENFEISR A FE
B2l TATHNE =LA R FEBT
E-REBAHNAFTEEREEA
1,049,000 7T - At - ERHitb 2 H
W g A RE SR E 1 Y= 1,049,000 7T ©

W AE R
RZE-_WFSA=Z1+H ARAE
BEREBEAEBBARE TEEY
iS5 R A T8 H R TR BA R4S B IR 15 -
HYHE BERIEETRHETME-
AESENFEREBRTEMET -
Bt EREBELEEBEENMERESEH
BHEEF cEARESRE KR
RA104% (B - =4 :12.8%) & -
HMEsFHEZHESRENFER1.7%
TEC=F:25%)BEREEE o
ZMEREDBEBEABITERERENE
- BETHBBMAETENTHRAE
RE - BRAMBFARESRAREBE
REEFEEZNHEMEBREBERREH
EHRERENE  BEAGGTHERK
SEMNBERERERBYEMBHER
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RZE_NMEFESNA=Z+H EEEER
WHEAEELRE BREMREZS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. REWE
I I
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
I I
Fair value R FEEE
At the beginning of the year REY] 150,027 163,229
Currency realignment PE & 32 (906) (11,531)
Transfer from property, plant and MY - WER&E
equipment to investment EAREME (HiE11(0))
properties (note 11(b)) - 1,049
Fair value loss on investment KEMELAFEEBIE
properties - (2,720)
At the end of the year NG S 149,121 150,027

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 30
June 2024 and 2023 have been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group. The valuation of investment
properties located in Shenzhen was arrived at using the
income approach by taking into account the current
passing rents of the properties being held under existing
tenancies and the reversionary values upon expiry of the
existing tenancies. The valuation of investment properties
located in Foshan, Longnan and Myanmar was arrived at

AEBMBEMER T _MEFR-_T==
FRAZTRZAFERE  HREEAS
BYBEECBIEEAERMGEMLS
AR EBRARETZIEEET -
KRR T EREMEOEETRARA L
T RERCERERRAENATEY
XeHETHPZBATHZEMEZRITH
T MEBHTEREROEREE - ZRGIL
moEEEIAANREMENGENR
AT HREERAELETT EPEL2ZEN
HREERA

using the depreciated replacement cost approach with
reference to its depreciated replacement costs.

BRELEHERAURRES HIEE AL
BzASBEMBY X Em VRAAFER
BAFE  XDBEARARINEREDE

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.

AEBEMBREMEDLUNEBIAINL
£ o

All investment properties of the Group are situated on land
outside Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
properties measured at the end of the reporting period on
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are
not available

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

12. BEYE @)
AFEEER
TREINNHREFRIZEFTUHEEETFE
AEEMELAFEE ZSQAVFEERSE
B EREEAFEIFRIAFEEFE]R
FEZ—EAAFEBEBMRDHE »FEE
ECELASELSEMERMATA®H AL
BzABRELREZHETHT

— BREE: EUE—REABE B
HREEXBBERTE
BHAERRMSH 2R
HAE®RE)FEZRF
BE

- FZRMEE: UFE KB AZBE (K
ITREE-—RZABE
WABE) BETERE
R A BR 8 ASE
AAEBZAFEE A
BB ABBERELE
SHEAMSHEE @A
2z

- FZHMEE: EREAMAAIBRESR
ABUBF 22 AV ERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. BEWE )
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AFEEER @

Fair value at Fair value measurements
30 June 2024 as at 30 June 2024 categorised into
R-ZB-MEF
ARA=t+HZ THENR=_B-_MFERA=THZ
NTEE AFEESE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B B B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET THET THET
. J | | | |
Recurring fair value REMATEENE
measurement
Investment properties: BEWE
- Industrial - PRC —IT%-# 125,759 - - 125,759
— Industrial - Myanmar -T¥-Mf 13,053 - - 13,053
- Residential - PRC —fFE-F 10,309 - - 10,309
149,121 - - 149,121

Fair value at Fair value measurements
30 June 2023 as at 30 June 2023 categorised into
R-Z_=%
ANA=Z+AZ THERRZEZ=FA=FTHZ
AFEE AFEEHE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B E-H E=H
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET TET
I I I S R
Recurring fair value REMHLATLEEFGE
measurement
Investment properties: REME
— Industrial - PRC —Ix-FH 126,597 - - 126,597
— Industrial - Myanmar —ILE -4 13,053 - - 13,053
- Residential - PRC —fFE-4H 10,377 - - 10,377

150,027 - - 150,027

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZE =T —MF A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. BEYE @)
Information about Level 3 fair value BEHE=ZQR A ATEEFEZER
measurements

Unobservable input -
Reversionary value

Unobservable input - (market unit rate
Capitalisation rate per square metre)
TR BER S -
FABREARE - EREE
ER{t = (BEHKEMER)
Range Range
gE gE
I |
Investment properties R-B-MEXA=1H
as at 30 June 2024 ZREYE
- Industrial - Shenzhen, —IT¥ BRI 1.75% to 2.25% RMB6,915 to
PRC RMB10,201
1.75%%2.25% AR¥6,91502
AR #10,2017T
- Residential - Shenzhen, —FE-FBEFRIT 1.5% to 2.0% RMB8,910 to
PRC RMB10,859
1.5%Z2.0% AR¥8,910T 2
AR #10,8597T

I
Unobservable input -
Replacement cost
per square metre
TAUBEEABE -
BERKEERA
Range
&
I | O

- Industrial - Foshan, PRC — TE-FhEE LT RMB792 to
RMB923

AR¥T920Z

AR#9237T

- Industrial - Longnan, PRC - IT¥-hEHEFRZ RMB745
ARM¥7457

- Industrial - Myanmar - T%-f4 USD212 to
uUsD284

212X T &

284% T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. REWHE (&)
Information about Level 3 fair value ERFE=ZRAFEEFEZ2ER @)

measurements (continued)

Unobservable input -
Reversionary value

Unobservable input = (potential monthly rent per
Capitalisation rate square metre)
PRERE AR -
TRBRE AR - B5REE
VN s =S (BFHREEAMR)
Range Range
fE [
I I
Investment properties R-ZFEZ=FXA=1+H
as at 30 June 2023 ZREYHE
- Industrial — Shenzhen, — T¥-—-mEFIH 1.75% 10 2.25% RMB97.5 to
PRC RMB100.4
1.75%%2.25% AREEQ7 5T E
AR#100.47T
- Residential - Shenzhen, — EE-PERYIT 1.5% t0 2.0% RMB96.3 to
PRC RMB102.5
1.5%%£2.0% AR#I.3TE
AR#102.57C

Unobservable input -
Replacement cost
per square metre
TR BRE AR -
Y REEKR
Range
& [
| |

- Industrial - Foshan, PRC — T -FEFBLUT RMB825 to RMB951
ARG TLE

ARB9517T

- Industrial- Longnan, PRC —T¥-PEHEES RMB758
ARBET587T

— Industrial - Myanmar - T%-f\ USD219 to USD291
219E TR

201 7T

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

The fair value of investment properties located in Shenzhen
is determined by discounting and capitalizing the current
passing rental income and potential reversionary value
over the remaining tenure of the property from the date
of valuation at appropriate investment yields to arrive at
the capital value. The valuation takes into account the
current passing rents under the existing tenancies and the
reversionary values upon expiry of the existing tenancies.
The capitalisation rates used have been adjusted for the
quality and location of the buildings and the tenant credit
quality. The fair value measurement is positively correlated
to the reversionary values and negatively correlated to the
risk-adjusted capitalisation rate.

The fair value of investment properties located in Foshan,
Longnan and Myanmar is determined by using the
depreciated replacement cost approach which is based on
an estimate of the value for the existing use of the land, plus
the current gross replacement (reproduction) costs of the
improvements, less allowances for physical deterioration
and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.
The application of depreciated replacement cost approach
is mainly due to their lack of active market and comparable
transactions for the use of market approach and the lack
of sufficient financial data for income approach for these
assets. The fair value measurement is positively correlated
to the depreciated replacement cost per square meter.

12. REWE )

FRE=RLFEEFEZ2ER @)

MNRARNTHORENE 2 AFEEER
BRI KB AL B {4 {E B B 1) 2 T #R F
ZERRTHEBALBEERFEEE I
REENRERSXGHERAEBEMERE
HEZEEEYEZAAENZRITES
REMAOERENEREE -FEMBER
LR EFERRMHBURBELESR
BXELABR - AV EEFEREREE
PRIELL - SR B F B E ANME L B R L

fREELT EEEREAANKRENEN
NEBEDLERFTHREERAEREE I
HRBERALZTDRETHIRE B[
BE MEERKETIRNESEE (BER)
AR - BB ERERBRENRAERE
FARERELELNBE RLAEE
ERTHEBEXNNE DTEREKAT
BERRZ ERMGRABLEBRR S UK
REBANEZRRZ T M BHE8E - 2 FE
EFfEEEF I RTHREEXNAZILHER -

Investment Investment Investment
properties properties properties
- industrial - industrial - residential
- Myanmar -PRC -PRC Total
-I% -I¥ %
-fa — — @ct
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER THER TR TERT
| ! I |
At 1 July 2022 RZZ-_-_F+AF—H 12,898 139,443 10,888 163,229
Currency realignment fE W = - (10,695) (836) (11,531)
Fair value adjustment NEBEAR 155 (3,200) 325 (2,720)
Transferred from property, FH#% « BE & & &
plant and equipment to ~ EEREME
investment properties - 1,049 - 1,049
At 30 June 2023 and RZEZ=F-A=1+HEK
1 July 2023 —E-=F+A—H 13,053 126,597 10,377 150,027
Currency realignment &R - (838) (68) (906)
At 30 June 2024 RZE-MFERA=TH 13,053 125,759 10,309 149,121

&

Top Form International Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (continued)

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “other net income” of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The leases run for an initial period of 1 to 15 years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which
time all terms are renegotiated.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

12. REWE )

FRE=RLFEEFEZER @)

BREWMEZATFEEABRGERGRZ
[E A A H 58 R -

AEBRBELEHELEREME-HE
H’]§1.HH|ZEE7:I:+££E C WA R B 1R
EBERER BN MAGRKBEeENER -

REE S AEEREBED R LA
H A2 T E A5 70 R 2R HA P M B B R 3R AR

2024 2023

—E-mF —ET=%F

HK$°000 HK$’000

TET T T
| | ]

Within 1 year —F R 11,938 6,611

After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFA 11,408 5,616

After 2 years but within 3 years MFEBRB=FRA 5,660 5,081

After 3 years but within 4 years —HFRBENERA 5,360 5,195

After 4 years but within 5 years MEBRERFR 1,498 5,396

After 5 years HF & 11,882 13,469

47,746 41,368

Property rental income earned during the year was
HK$12,189,000 (2023: HK$10,788,000). All of the
properties held have committed tenants for the next 1 to 12
years (2023: 1 to 13 years).

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

RERERIZ YRS KA A12,189,000
BT (ZZ = =4 :10,788,000/8 7T) ° FT
BEZZEMERAR—ZE+_F(Z2F
ZEF—ET=F)BERFEAM -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

13. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Details of the Group’s interest in a joint venture, which is
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements, are as follows:

13. R—BEELRAzER
AEERE BN Z s (ERER

B BHEAR) HBHIET

SRR

Particulars Effective
Place of of issued percentage of
incorporation and paid-up equity interest Principal
Name of joint venture and business capital held Activity
= i B 2 BEITR FrisREZ
RENRER EEME HEREFE BB FEXK
I S I N
Charming Elastic Fabric Company Hong Kong Ordinary - 49% Manufacture
Limited (“Charming”) HK$4,662,396 and sales of
elastic garment
straps
PEERTEEMBERAR(HE]D G i — 49% FERIEE
4,662,396/%8 T XK R AR
The Group has entered into a shareholders’ agreement RZE—RAF+—HAOA - ASEHEBR
(the “Shareholders’ Agreement”) with New Horizon RIERBRAGB 2 2EWBARHER
International Investments Limited (“New Horizon”), a BICEBRAR ([EE]) FT BRI ([
wholly-owned subsidiary of Best Pacific International Ripaml) BREBERRHZH MAEERS

Holdings Limited, on 4 November 2015. According to the
Shareholders’ Agreement, the substantive operating and
financing decisions related to Charming are under the joint
control by the Group and New Horizon when the Group’s
shareholding in Charming is 20% or above. As a result,
the Group account for its interest in Charming as a joint
venture.

BHEB20%H A LRE ERFABZEE
RENBERRABAEE R BZELXRE
B Hit > REBERFABZ S ARG

o~ =
CR-WNEI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

13. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 13. R—BEEERRZERE (®)
Summarised financial information of Charming, adjusted for FRVBER (EHRSTHREZEMNER
any differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation EHRAR)MERBAREVBRERAZER
to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial EHREEOT

statements, are disclosed below:

2024 2023
—E-NF —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHET
1 |
Gross amounts of Charming’s THFEBEER 2#H%E
Current assets MEEE 56,091 52,425
Non-current assets IERBEE 9,431 11,190
Current liabilities mEBE (8,712) (6,933)
Equity s (56,810) (56,682)
Included in the above assets and T EERBGEDE K
liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIRE&EREER 21,837 17,824
Current financial liabilities (excluding nBeREGE(TEEEIEN
trade and other payables and AR 31 K Ho At B F BR SR IR )
provisions) (3,252) (2,040)
Revenue WA 61,651 63,503
Profit after taxation g 1 1% A 7,231 3,869
Other comprehensive income (expense) H & & W x5 (Fs) 684 (3,311)
Total comprehensive income 2 = A 7,915 558
Included in the above profit: s B E K
Depreciation and amortisation e K g 856 1,351
Reconciled to the Group’s interest HEAEEfLFEEZ 2 HIR
in Charming
Gross amounts of Charming’s net FREEFEESE
assets 56,810 56,682
Group’s effective interest rEBEZERER 49% 49%
Group’s share of Charming’s net assets AN B Fi{E S5 B8~ B E R E 27,837 27,774
Disproportionate share of undistributed 3 FE4% Lt 51 9l 2 7 95 Ik Y48 Fl
profits (Note) (5% 144 680

Carrying amount in the consolidated RirE MWk s REE

financial statements 27,981 28,454
Note: M 5E -
According to the Shareholders’ Agreement, the Group is entitled to BERE WS AEEBEGREKDMRBE_T—~F
60% of the dividend to be declared for the years ended 30 June 2016 FZE—+FXRNAZ+HLEFEMEMREREZ
and 2017 irrespective for the change in shareholding as mentioned 60% - M &m iR EE E) -
above.
During the year ended 30 June 2024, dividend of HK$4,351,000 was REBEE-Z-_NEA=ZTHLEFERN  KE&E
received from joint venture, which was declared out of the distributable ANAEIR MR E4,351,0008 L EREBE_Z—
profit for the years ended 30 June 2016 to 30 June 2022. FERAZTHEEZZE__FRA=ZTHIEFENA

DEN B E MK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

14. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

14. REBFE QTR 2R

2024 2023
—ETE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH T T T

Group’s share of net assets KEEHEEFE 5,579 8,408

REBREE QR 2 s (fE A ESIANAR
BMBBERAR) FBEIET

Details of the Group’s interests in associates, which are
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements, are as follows:

Place of Particulars of Effective
incorporation issued and percentage of Principal
Name of associate and business paid-up capital equity interest held activity
LR BRTR FisREZ
BENTER EENY BRRAFE EREOIL TEER
2024 2023
“ECmE —ZT-=fF
I S S I S
Techspase (Private) Limited Sri Lanka Ordinary - 25% 25% Moulding and
(“Techspase”) HEHFR USD2,000,000 laminating
L — business
2,000,000% 7T BRRRER
ERER
PT Bintang Abadi Persada (“BAP”) Indonesia Ordinary - 47.4% 47.4% Manufacture of

EE Rp1,900,000,000 ladies’ underwear
LAER- HEEERK
1,900,000,000E0 2 /&

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the management of HE_Z-_NFAA=THIEFE X%
the Group conducted a review on the recoverable amount ERERENEBE QR DAY E S
of its interests in associates and recognised an impairment REETTE L - IR R E 85 183,108,000/
loss of HK$3,108,000 (2023: nil). T(ZE-=4F &) -

During the year ended 30 June 2023, Top Form
Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited (“Top Form Brassiere”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a subscription agreement with an associate,
BAP, to subscribe and allot 480 new BAP shares for a
consideration of US$400,000, with US$398,000 settled
by set-off against the loan amount due and owing by BAP
to Top Form Brassiere and the remaining US$2,000 to be
paid in cash. Details of which was set out in the Company’s
Announcement dated 29 December 2022.

C

RBEE-Z-_=F~A=1+HLEERXN -
ARREE2ENBRAREENNBER &
MERRAR ([EEHMWE]) B L R F
BAPET M R ik - LA WREE M AR 324808%
BAPH & 15 - B R (8 A400,000% T+ E
F1398,0003 JT A K 34 BAPFE (< & BB H iy &
MEFRESEHFAZNM - 4 T2,000% 7T 8
UWRESHN -EHFBIRARGBHA
—E - F+ A+ NEBERNRER-

Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

14. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 14. REEE QT 2R (8
During the year ended 30 June 2023, Top Form Brassiere REBEEZZE_=FA=ZFTHLEFER
assigned US$2,342,000 of the loan amount due from EEHWEGEWBAP ER S EFH
BAP to PT Pahlawan Gunung Jaya (“PGJ”), an indirect 2,342,000 T EE T AANRIAEL2ENE
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as set-off against ‘A AIPT Pahlawan Gunung Jaya ([PGJ]J) -
US$2,000,000, being the purchase price of the assets and LA $4 & E B8 B (£2,000,0003 7T » JA K IR
set off against US$342,000 being one year rental deposit HPGURL TR E e & Mt (45 RBAPZ —F
in relation to the lease agreement and side letter owing by S $342,000% 7T - EAFBHN AR A
PGJ to BAP. Details of which was set out in the Company’s AA—ZE-_—F+-A-tThANAERN -

Announcement dated 29 December 2022.

15. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 15. Hth & mEE
Equity securities designated at FVOCI EEAUATEEFEEHBETA
(non-recycling) Htt2EWE (FEHE) WESIES
I I
2024 2023
—E-mF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
I D
Unlisted equity securities IE E TR B 2,838 2,838
The Group designated the investment in equity securities HRATREDAREENMIEE - Bt -
at FVOCI (non-recycling) as the investment is held for AEEBUTEEEFREETCRURTF
strategic purposes. BEEFEEEEHTAEME2EYE (T
eg) o
The unlisted equity securities are shares in a company FETRREBESF A/ KA M
incorporated in the PRC and engaged in trading of RAMRG - EAEPEETLEAKES -
ladies’ underwear in the PRC. As at 30 June 2024 and RZE_MER-_ZT_=F,A=+H"
2023, the fair value changes on other financial assets are HhEmEEN A FLEEEH K -
insignificant.
16. INVENTORIES 16. &
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of (a) ZEMBRAERAZEFERSRE :

financial position comprise:

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FHET
] 7 |
Raw materials JRE 72,008 36,548
Work in progress P 52,682 28,720
Finished goods BIPK i 45,694 38,326
170,384 103,594

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

16. INVENTORIES (continued)
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in
profit or loss is as follows:

16. & (&)

(b) BRABXAEFAERZZ2FES
BHoWHT:

2024 2023

—E-E T =F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET
I I

Carrying amount of inventories sold B &7F & 2 REE 878,480 833,710

Reversal of allowance for obsolete ~ [RE 77 & & #5580
inventories (3,806) (2,033)
874,674 831,677

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17. ES R HMEWERR

2024 2023
—E-gF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
1 |
Trade receivables at amortised cost, B 5 EUWBRTR - IR AN
net of loss allowance IRk BT 18 B R 132,453 178,576
Trade receivables to be factored at NAFEEAEBHEEH:TA
FVOCI (recycling) HEfb 2w (AT E182) &
RS E 5 EWERR 20,704 3,394
Other receivables E h & AR 3K 25,374 19,410
178,531 201,380

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be
recovered within one year.

As part of the Group’s cash flow management, the Group
has the practice of factoring some of the trade receivables
to financial institutions before the trade receivables are due
for repayment and derecognises factored trade receivables
on the basis that the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards to the relevant counterparties.

@

EHAAEE S REMBURRER —F R
Yefm -

ERASEREREEEN —&n A&
B 18 Pl B0 B 5 e W R S B B (5 2 Al

MOBEZRWEFEETSRMEE TR
RAEE D HET2HRERMBIMEE T
BHEXRZHUF I HEREE S EBBREIRR
IEFERR ©

IS
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17.

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the effective interest

rates of the factored trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling)
ranged from 6.70% to 6.98% per annum (2023: 4.00% to
7.21%). Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs
adopted for their fair value measurements are disclosed
in note 25(c). As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, the fair value
changes on trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling) are
insignificant and accordingly, no fair value changes are
recognised in equity.

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

17. ES R HEMERERR &

HE-_Z-_NFEFXA=Z1THIFE UQ
FTEEFEAEZHT ARMEEYE (7]
FB)MNEEEE I RBETNERFF X
N F6.70%%E6.98% (— T = =4 : F 5| %
N F4.00%E7.21%) - BAGE A FEE
SFEMRANGERTLREZGABNF
BEWFBCORNBERE - R _WFR=
ZE-=ZFXA=Z+H UQAFEEFEAR
HEegst A Lm2Eks (EE) NES
EWEROAFEEZSH TR At I
EEESANERAFEEES -

RBEMR REZAHEA S 2EFEK

77

trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss R (BEHRBERE) 2R WH W
allowance, is as follows: N
. 4 |
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FETT
I T
1 - 90 days 1-90H 151,662 181,592
91 - 180 days 91-180H 1,495 378
153,157 181,970

Trade receivables are due within 10 days to 90 days from
the date of billing. Details on the Group’s credit policy are
set out in note 25(b)(ii).

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

(a) Bank balances and cash
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the
Group and short-term bank deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less. The bank balances
carry interest at market rates which range from
0.001% to 2% (2023: 0.001% to 0.20%) per annum.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

Z 5 rEWBEZRNMAEBBHLT108 Z00H
NEBH - BFEAEBEERENFE &
R M FE25(b)(i) A e

CBITEBRERE

(a) |BITEBRRES
RITEBR MBS EASEMBES
2R e MEFTH =@ A =AW E|Ef
BRI R RITEBTIIIEN T
0.001%£2% (ZZ = =4 : 0.001% %
0.20%) 2 M5 FEFIEETE o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

18. BITEBRKEE &)
(b) RMEXBMELEB2HE

18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRFNWAEENMEEBFELEE
B2 BERSIFRES-
MEXEBMEFEBEREAEGREDLR
IARRRERERNAEEEZSES
MEXRNERBEXBHEREZE
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash f& o

liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the

flows from financing activities.

Unsecured Lease
bank loans liabilities Total
g
RITER HEERE fm
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THER THET THET
(Note 20) (Note 21)
(K20 (HtzE21)
I I R
At1 July 2023 W-B-=£tA-A 123,804 29,152 152,056
Changes from financing cash flows: FEHEFESE .
Proceeds from new bank loans REFMEETERN
FrigsIAE 346,875 - 346,875
Repayment of bank loans BEFITER (378,728) - (378,728)
Interest paid ERFE (8,246) - (8,246)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERNEERE ERSD - (13,358) (13,358)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ERNBEEREZFIERS - (1,838) (1,838)
Total changes from fivancing cesh flows  BARERERTAR ooes) (15.1%) (55,206)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - (223) (223)
Other changes: A28
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) MEF (ME6() 8,246 1,838 10,084
Increase in lease liabilities from entering ~ AFF I UHMAEE LM
into new leases during the year HEEEEN - 9,712 9,712
Totalotherchanges .. __. AeEges . 8246 1550 19,79
At 30 June 2024 RIZE-MEXA=1H 91,951 25,283 117,234

@ . Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 18. BITEBREKEE &)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEXKFEEEBEZHER®

financing activities (continued)

Unsecured Lease
bank loans liabilities Total
EEA
RITERK HEARE Gk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET TET
(Note 20) (Note 21)
(H3E20) GEAD

At 1 July 2022 R-ZE-=F+tA-H 115,404 26,360 141,764

Changes from financing cash flows:  E &R & 75 & &

Proceeds from new bank loans RENERITER
PG RIE 687,938 - 687,938

Repayment of bank loans BEETER (679,538) - (679,538)
Interest paid REREE) (5,246) - (5,246)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHERE 2 EAL D - (14,092) (14,092)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BB ERE 27 B85 - (2,350) (2,350)
Total changes from financing RERGRELHEHE
OB WS e 3154 U644y (13,288
Exchange adjustments BERAE - 84 84
Other changes: Hitig# g :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) A B X (M E6(a) 5,246 2,350 7,596
Lease modification HEER - 5,177 5177
Early termination of leases RAKIEES - (6,585) (6,585)
Increase in lease liabilities from AEFIUHHAEEEN

entering into new leases HEBEEM

during the year - 18,208 18,208
Total otherchanges EtEnRR 5246 . 19150 .. 24,396 _
At 30 June 2023 RZBEZ=FXB=TH 123,804 29,152 152,956

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 18. BITHEBRREAE (2
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERABERH
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of HERERERNMEBEEHEEEDN
cash flows for leases comprise the following: HIBBEETIEIE

2024 2023

—E-ME —E=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FAT
1 R I

Within operating cash flows REEBREMEN 1,502 1,391

Within financing cash flows REERESREN 15,196 16,442

16,698 17,833

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. EZ RHEHMEN R

7 |

2024 2023

—E-WNF —E_=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FAET
[ |

Trade payables B 5 ENIRR 152,486 120,168

Other payables and accrued charges Eﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁ X JEETE R 90,056 61,816

242,542 181,984

Less: amounts due after one year W ETASEREBEET

included under non-current —F & B8 2 kI8 (M 7E31)
liabilities (note 31) (19,000) -
223,542 181,984
As at 30 June 2024, trade and other payables of RZE-_WMFANA=Z+H ESKEM
HK$223,542,000 (2023: HK$181,984,000) are expected to JE 1+ BR 70223,542,0008 L (Z T = = :
be settled within one year or are repayable on demand. 181,984,000/ /L) TEEAN —F A X ik

BERAE -
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19.

20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of trade payables based on the payment
due date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

10. ES N HMEMEKRR @
RBEEK - BEHEMEZTIRNZIEHA
D ZEBRHSTHINNT -

2024 2023
—E-mF —E_=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
1 R R
Current K E 85 87,811 57,907
1 - 30 days past due B HI1-30H 38,438 22,568
31 - 60 days past due #HI31-60H 13,199 13,652
Over 60 days past due i1 B8 3B60 H 13,038 26,041
152,486 120,168

As the average credit period on purchases of goods is
ranged from 30 to 60 days, a majority of the balances
which as disclosed above are within 90 days from the
invoice date.

Other payables and accrued charges mainly represented
accrued freight charges, salaries and other operating
expenses.

UNSECURED BANK LOANS
At 30 June 2024 and 2023, the unsecured bank loans

were repayable as follows:

mREEE M T9EEH R30%E60A -
EXHBBEARBSEHRHRAEZEEHE
FFO0H A °

HENERAMEAERERERTES
B HaLHEMRERX -

20. ML HRITER
R-ZE-_WNMFEFR T -_=F,A=1+H"
EIRHIRITERAERBRNOT

2024 2023
—EC-NEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT

Within one year or on demand —FRRIZER

91,951 123,804

At 30 June 2024, the Company provided guarantee for
bank loans of certain subsidiaries. Such banking facilities
amounted to HK$95,000,000 (2023: HK$140,000,000).
The facilities were utilised to the extent of HK$91,951,000
(2023: HK$123,804,000).

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

MN-EBE-WEXNA=+H AAR®RET
MEARMBRITERREER FHER
1TR & & %8 /A95,000,0008 L (Z T ==
% : 140,000,000 L) - BEBMED &
&) HE 91,951,000 0 (ZE == :
123,804,000/ 7T) °

@



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

20. UNSECURED BANK LOANS (continued)

All of the Group’s facilities are subject to covenant clauses,
whereby the Group is required to meet certain key financial
ratios and covenants.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group did not fulfill some financial
covenants as required in the agreements with the banks
for the outstanding loan amounts of HK$103,804,000
in aggregate and the banks were entitled to request for
immediate repayment of the outstanding loan amounts due
to this breach of the covenant clause. The Group informed
the banks and obtained waivers of compliance with the
covenant requirements from the bank for the outstanding
loan amounts of HK$103,804,000 in aggregate
subsequent to the end of the financial year ended 30 June
2023. The original maturities of these bank loans were
one year within the end of the reporting period and the
outstanding balances were presented as current liabilities
as at 30 June 2023.

At 30 June 2024, the effective interest rate of the Group’s
bank loans was 6.73% (2023: 3.89%) per annum.

0. BEEARTER®

AEERERESREGRZRR - FU
REBEMEE TETEM B R RRE -

RZZE-=ZFXA=+80 XEEIL XK
BITEROTITCHOBEMBEH S H#
103,804,000/ TR EEER @2 E T
BRE ABERLEEZHEGR RITAERE
FAEEVREERAEENERESE -H
EZE_=FNA=1tBLFHBFEKX "
AEBBBAMBIT UTEBSRITHREST
4 103,804,000/ TR R EEE R S FEH
WHEER - R_T-_=F~A=+H %
SRTEFNRTIHBE AREHRE—
FREELEHBEVARBARE-

RZZ-WEANA=+AH AEERTE
THEREFR R ABE.73% (T - =4
3.89%)
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21.

22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the
reporting period:

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

21. fHEEE

TERAJEAREEREMRNEERER
e HHIR -

2024 2023

—E-EF —ET=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T T
I I

Within 1 year —F A 13,878 10,858

After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFA 8,036 9,278

After 2 years but within 5 years MFRBREBRAFA 3,369 9,016

25,283 29,152

Less: Amounts classified as current 38 : DB ARE A EHHIA
liabilities (13,878) (10,858)
11,405 18,294

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 3
November 2011 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) for a
period of 10 years for the purpose to enable the Company
to grant share options to eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Board
could grant options to eligible employees, including
directors, executives or officers of the Company and its
subsidiaries and any other persons at the discretion of
the Board to subscribe for shares in the Company (the
“Shares”). The Old Share Option Scheme expired on 2
November 2021.

On 30 September 2019, 5,920,000 share options
were granted for HK$1 consideration to directors and
employees of the Company under the Old Share Option
Scheme. Upon completion of HK$0.50 per rights share
(the “Rights Issue”) on 19 February 2021, the number of
total outstanding options granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme was adjusted from 5,920,000 to 6,645,836
Shares, of which 4,759,855 share options had lapsed
subsequently; and the exercise price of the outstanding
share options was adjusted from HK$1.172 per share to
HK$1.044 per share. The outstanding 1,885,981 (2023:
4,714,952) options have been vested on 30 September
2022, and then be exercisable until September 2024.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

22 LIEREELURDBERNRS

ARNRRZE——F+—A=ZHEMNER
EETE ((EEBRETE]) A8 +F 8B
M AEFEARRR AR ERENERHEER
SHERTZEHUAEENER -E2g
BiEmARNRREWB RG] 2 TAAEES
EE BEEF -THABBREASRET
MEMAL(HEZTEHBERE) BHAR
BARERG ([R])) 2 ERE - EERK
EHEER - ZE-_—F+—A-BE®-

RZZE—NAFAA=Z+8  ARFRIE
EEREFIMNARTNEZEREERT
5,920,00010 BB AR - BEARER/IETL - 1
TE - A+ N BEERHERRK%0.55
gT (TR ) SERCTE - IRIEE B IR ERT 81
¥ 1 im R 1T A BB IR A 48 2R 5,920,00017
2 /56,645,83617 + H H4,759,85517 i X
BEBELRW: MERITEBRENTT
FEANBERIAT2ETHAE RETI.0447%8
JC ° 1,885,98110 (ZZ = =4 : 4,714,952)
HMARTEERECOCAR-_ZE-__FLA=*+
BHRE ENUITFEE_Z-_HFNA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

22. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)
On 24 September 2021, 16,600,000 share options

were granted for HK$1 consideration to directors, the
directors’ associate and employees of the Company under
the Old Share Option Scheme, 4,700,000 of which had
lapsed subsequently. These share options will vest on 24
September 2024, and then be exercisable until September
2026. The exercise price is HK$0.58, being the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant.

As at 30 June 2024, the total number of outstanding
share options was 13,785,981 (2023: 21,314,952) and
all outstanding options will continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the terms of Old Share
Option Scheme. No options granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme were exercised during the year ended 30
June 2024 (2023: Nil).

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 16
November 2021 (the “New Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is for the Group
to attract, retain and motivate high-calibre employees
to strive towards long term strategy and goals of the
Group and to enable the Company to grant share options
to eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) as
incentives and rewards for their contribution to the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme is 30,105,267 Shares,
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.

The number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under the New Share Option Scheme to
any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Share options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors in
any 12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
issued share capital and with a value in excess of HK$5
million on the date of offer must be approved in advance by
the Company’s independent shareholders.

@

22 UEREEURDRERNIRS (@)

MRZTE-—FHNA-+WE  AAFRE
EEREFSANARAES EEZNHE
A K & B & F16,600,0001 B& J& # - A R
RBAE1BTT - E 4,700,000 B AL HEH 1%
KM - ZEEREKER_ZT_NFNA
ZTHHEREE BERAUTEE_ZSZRF
A - TEE AR08 T - BIAR B R
B AESAURTIE -

W-ZZE-_MENA=Z+H HARTHEE
% #E 4# 8 £13,785,98117 (=T = = 4F -
21,314,95217) « 1R ¥5 & B8 AR #E 51 2 B9 (&
HoFEMKRITEERESEER X RA
FAFE -BE_ZT-_MNFA~A=ZTHLF
B WEREMBREEERESERTOE
RiEETHE(ZEZ=F : §\) -

ARAR T =_—F+— AT RBR®KH
FERCER & (3BT - B RE
ArEIEEEASERERS - BB RABS
ZEREER RAKEMNRERKEMEZRM
BH AEARBENAEERZEE ([&
ERZEEDETRERE FRRFHX
SEEHNER 2B @R -

BEFERETZ T TRENE BER
BETERATTEINROGEE LR A
30,105,267/ " {EM A FERBBMARF 2
EBEITRMBEAI10% -

RBFHBLRESSE ERFIARARR
BRIEZBERT  REMI2(E A HE R
AR E B A T8 2 BB 8 &z i fn
HETSBERARIREETRNZ1% °
g AL 2(E A B AR ERR KB
FRTEERL ZBRES R 2N EE
BEXARAFDETRAZOABENEHNH
Hi 2 {E{B#8385,000,000/8 7T * RIZRTE £ 15
BIARRRIB LA RALAE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

22. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Options granted must be taken up within 14 days of
the date of offer, upon payment of HK$1 per grant.
Options may generally be exercised at any time from
the second anniversary of the date of acceptance to the
tenth anniversary of the date of acceptance or may at the
Board’s discretion determine the specific exercise period.
The exercise price is determined by the Board, and will
not be less than the highest of the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer and the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares. No option was granted
under the New Share Option Scheme since adoption.

(@) The terms and conditions of the grants are
as follows:

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2. UEZHELUROAERORS &)

ERTZBREARZNHBEHEFI14ER
ZH BREMBAIMIABTZIRE B
BE-—RAIRNEANERE _BFEEEN
BHE+HBEFIEMERAECAKR KES
EMBEEZHEETESTAITE 176
BENHEESET EFAFSLIRARAR
MREBHRPZWHE RORERED
AR AEE XA 2 FHRTERKNRF
BOhEEAERERSE) - BERMNURL
EAR B BB R AT BRI A -

(@) UATNERTRERENRRM KM

Number of Contractual
instruments Vesting conditions life of options
BRESH

ITAREHAH EEGRY R

Options granted to directors:

BRTESHNBRE:

—on 30 September 2019 400,000* Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZE—-NFAA=TH B HBBE=F 5%
—on 24 September 2021 600,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZEZ—FhLAZ+MA B L AR =4 5%
Options granted to employees:
BRTFREENBRE
—on 30 September 2019 5,520,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZE—-NFANA=TH B H B BE=F 5%
—on 24 September 2021 16,000,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZEBEZ—FAA-+IMA B H BB =F 5%
Total share options granted 22,520,000

BT REEEAH

*

Before the adjustment due to Right Issue.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

22. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows:

22 UEREEURDRERNIRS (@)

(b) BRENBENMEFLGTEE
wmE

Weighted
average
exercise price
I
TEE

HK$

BT

Number of
options

BRERE

Outstanding at 1 July 2022,

RZE-_—_FEH—H"

30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 ZEZ=FRXA=THRK
—E=FEA—BHEKRTE 0.683 21,314,952
Lapsed during the year ended REBE-ZZT_OF
30 June 2024 NA=ZTHIEFERKXK 0.754 (7,528,971)
Outstanding at 30 June 2024 RZEZWNFEARA=TH
B ARATEE 0.643 13,785,981
Exercisable at 30 June 2024 R-ZE-_WFNA=+H
A AT 1,885,981
Exercisable at 30 June 2023 R-ZZE-_=FA=+H
A F17{E 4,714,952

The options outstanding at 30 June 2024 had an
exercise price of HK$1.044 or HK$0.58 (2023:
HK$1.044 or HK$0.58) and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 2 years (2023: 3 years).

MRZZB-MENA=+TBHRITEDN
B8 % #E 89 171 (B B1.04478 7T 500.5878
T (ZZF = =4 :1.0447% J£ 5£0.588
Jo)  MEFHH T A LR A2F (=
B_=F:3%F)-

Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

23. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 23. RIKBEF &L

I I

2024 2023

—E-NF —EZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTEx FHET
I I

At the beginning of the year REH] 7,223 4,696

Provision recognised in profit or loss 718 %5 X #E 2 1) B 1,280 2,527

Actuarial gain recognised in other REM2E WA REREEE RS
comprehensive income (130) -
At the end of the year RER 8,373 7,223

ARBERRENERE LS RIGANGR
EMRERBENREM  REHSK
ARRBEFE HFCRRET 8 R R Bl E R TS
SRR T E SR IREE -

A provision has been made by the Company based on
the best estimate of the long service payments that are
required to be made to employees in respect of their
service to date, less any amounts that would be expected
to be met out of the Company’s contributions to its defined
contribution retirement scheme and mandatory provident
fund.

(a) REBRBEEE

(a) Provision for long service payments

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance,
Indonesia Labour Law and Thailand Labour
Protection Act, the Group is required to make long
service payments to its employees in Hong Kong,
Indonesia and Thailand upon the termination of their
employment or retirement when the employees
fulfill certain conditions and the termination meets
the required circumstances. However, where an
employee is simultaneously entitled to a long service
payment (“LSP”) and to a retirement scheme payment
(e.g. from the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”)) in Hong Kong, the amount of the long
service payment will be reduced by the benefits arising
from the retirement scheme including investment
return/(loss) accumulated in the scheme under certain
conditions.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

RIBEBREMBGD - ENES TE NS
BETREZLZ EXEEZFE
ERZ=EEEMBERKE  FREE
mEETIREMBEBRTSMTIER
AIAEEBERAREXNERRES -
Am EEERERKEE KBRS
& MORRET B R (Pl S iE R TE S
AE([efEeatd]))  ARBRES
B A S T IR MRBRINGTEIE
ZETEN(BRAEMARFZRER
] (ER)) 1R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

23. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)
(a) Provision for long service payments

(continued)

Obligation to long service payment (“LSP”) under

Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57,
the Group has the obligation to pay LSP to employees
in Hong Kong under certain circumstances, subject to
a minimum of 5 years employment period, based on
this formula: Last monthly wages (before termination
of employment) x 2/3 x Years of service. Last monthly
wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount of
long service payment shall not exceed HK$390,000.
This obligation is accounted for as a post-employment

defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the MPF Schemes Ordinance passed
in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the Group’s
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative
returns thereof (collectively, the “Eligible Offset
Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to

an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”).

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) was gazetted
on 17 June 2022, which will eventually abolish
the Offsetting Arrangement. The Amendment
Ordinance will come into effect prospectively from
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under the
Amendment Ordinance, the Eligible Offset Amount
after the Transition Date can only be applied to
offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but
no longer eligible to offset the post-Transition Date
LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligations
before the Transition Date will be grandfathered
and calculated based on the last monthly wages

immediately preceding the Transition Date.

The impact of abolishment of the Offsetting
Arrangements is considered to be insignificant during

the year and as at 30 June 2024.

23. RIK@EFEAE )

(a) RERBESBE®

REZEEBIEI G RBRE 2
g2

RIBEFAIEHE7E  AEEBBHEMT
REFTHERTRESEE XN RIR
Be AREEBHSZLAEAF IR
BATARGE - B A% (BAKL
Al) X2/3XRIEFH - Z&AH LR
/22,5008 7T T & B AR % & BB T
1SR #8390,000/8 7T » ;Z & £ ABR A B
Bk ATEAE -

AN R—NANEFBERRHER
BEAaGi AT ASEERANEE
MBIt AESMHFK - ML RER
EAIE/BEHR (GHE[ A EREHX
Bl UEHEN TEEN RIS
& ([HEHELHE]) -

(B —FEERBRRETEVAA (K
R (BE]) GBI ERY(TEET 5G] ])
ERZZFZ_FAAATEREMR %
18 0 B 42 BUOB #1022 HF © 5218 5T {5
PR —Z-_RAFREA—B ([8EHA])
AR - BBIETHRO - EEH AR
WEBRE P E ERELHRE
HH AN ERARGE2ER mTH
AERHPEEHBENRBRE
EH oM EHBHNRBARSE S
ERBEERR WAREEH B A
MBS ATENE -

EFRARR_Z_MFEAA=+H"
HUBBHZ e B RERM T RE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

23. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(continued)
(b) Defined contribution schemes

23. RIKEFAE )

(b) S5RE R

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme for all
employees in Hong Kong who have registered with the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of
an independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at rates
specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group
in respect of the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the MPF Scheme. No forfeited
contributions are available to reduce the contributions
payable in the future years.

The eligible employees of the Company’s subsidiaries
in the PRC are members of pension schemes
operated by the PRC local governments. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the relevant part of the payroll of
these employees to the pension schemes to fund
the benefits. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of the Chinese local government.

The Group registers its employees in Thailand
with Workmen’s Compensation Fund and Social
Security Fund as required by laws in Thailand. The
Group is required to make annual contributions to
the Workmen’s Compensation Fund and monthly
contributions to the Social Security Fund, and the only
obligation of the Group with respect to these funds is
to make the required contributions.

The participants in an employee social security
programme in Indonesia, providing compensation in
the event of working accidents, death, old age, and
in case of sickness and hospitalisation, the employer
is required to contribute a fixed percentage of the
employee’s salaries every month.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

AEBEEMARERESNAES
e ZERERECRERGIEAER
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FBUERAENZES  BAKE
ZEEDRATAE REBEDER
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FERR - ARERRKFRELED L
Y g R m] AR PR O A R AN AR R o

ARABHEMNBRARZAERERER
TEEMBTREEZRREEZ
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Bl X AE B 0 BRRK S BIHK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

23. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

(b) Defined contribution schemes (continued)
The total cost charged to consolidated statement
of profit or loss of HK$22,479,000 (2023:
HK$24,280,000) represents contributions payable to
these schemes by the Group in respect of the current
year.

During the year ended 30 June 2024 and 2023,
the Group had no forfeited contribution under the
retirement benefit schemes utilised to reduce future
contributions.

24. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

23. RIKEFAE 5

REMREE @)
KEEZEAE IJT&“HEZ%%%JZ@E%}(
48 FE0D 479,000 L (ZF — = F

(b)

24,280,000 7T) E R irA Bm ik T
Bﬁ—;o
HE - ZE-_NERNZ_ZTE-_=HXA

=B IEERE R AR B R R
1 1T I8 M 0 4 303 9 PR B R 4 ok
HEYEE R -

24, JFEAET A

AU ERE BN RERIBAEHDOITAT

2024 2023
—EMF —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

Net deferred tax asset recognised

REEE M BN KRERZ

in the consolidated statement of BRI E EFRE
financial position 452 264
Net deferred tax liability recognised — R4R & B 5 AR R R #ERR
in the consolidated statement of EIEFIBE B EFE
financial position (32,870) (83,071)
(32,418) (32,807)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

24. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 24, EERIE ()
The movement in deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (prior to FRELEHE (BE) ABEGEHERRA—H
offsetting balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) EREREBRAZERAN) 2E 8T -

during the year is as follows:

Unrealised Actuarial gain
Revaluation of losson  Right-of-use Lease on retirement
properties inventories assets liabilities benefits Total
BEZ BIKEN
NERERR  AEREBR  ERAREE HEEE BERE ot

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

At1 July 2022 i
tA—-8
- as originally stated -RREZ5 36,410 (339) - - - 36,071
- impact of amendments  — &S &5 8
to HKAS 12 F12RNEBET 2
% - - 5,099 (5,099) - -
- as restated — &3 36,410 (339) 5,099 (5,099) - 36,071
(Credited)/charged to (3t A) /H1E#BH
profit or loss (720) 75 161 (161) - (645)
Charged to other nEEt2ENE
comprehensive income 262 - - - - 262
Currency realignment BB (2,881) - - - - (2,881)

At 30 June 2023 and R-E-=F

1 July 2023 AAZTAR
ZTCE
tA—H 33,071 (264) 5,260 (5,260) - 32,807
(Credited)/charged to GtA)/Meks
profit or loss - (188) (549) 549 - (188)
Charged to other naszEkE
comprehensive income - - - - 26 26
Currency realignment ERRE (227) - - - - (227)
At 30 June 2024 R-Z-M%F
~AE=1H 32,844 (452) 4,711 4,711) 2 32,418

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

24. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of HK$308,153,000 (2023: HK$292,253,000)
available for offset against future profits which no deferred
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses of HK$130,830,000 (2023: HK$96,671,000)
that will gradually expire up to 2030. The unrecognised
tax losses relating to subsidiaries in Hong Kong were
HK$177,323,000 (2023: HK$195,582,000) and do not

expire under current tax legislation.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with undistributed
earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised was HK$39,741,000 (2023:
HK$37,085,000). No liabilities have been recognised in
respect of these differences because the Group is in a
position to control the timing of reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

24, EEHIE (@)

REBEEBAR AEBAERYABB
®518308,153,0008 L (Z T = = F :
292,253,000/ 7T) - Al i A E K 8 R 2R
) o AT BETERI R R s F 1B - dRE Rt
REAMBEEERELHEEE - 8K
MR 2 B A% E18130,830,0008 L (ZE - =
F 96,671,000 7T)  BRZZE=FF 2
RIE 8w o BIERITH LS - BB BN
&R Rz R TR % B 18 177,323,000
BT (ZF = =4 : 195,582,000/ 7o) I &
fE B

RBEHR BERBARRSERANE
METABABELCHIBEERCEREZE
487 539,741,000 L (ZE =%
37,085,000/ 7T) ° AR A5 Bl A gt 1 1=
BOYRERE RRARZEZEETE
A R AR EE - Bt W E RS HE
REME -

25. EWMTH
(a) €eMIEES

2024 2023
—E-ME —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FHET
I |
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost NN AGTENeMEE 250,205 302,044
Financial assets at FVOCI NAFEEAZEAEZEF A
Htz2EKENemEE 23,542 6,232
Financial liabilities EA= =K
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LAE K At EN SR EE 358,692 333,281
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include other
financial assets, certain deposits, trade receivables at
amortised cost, trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling),
other receivables, unsecured bank loans, lease
liabilities, trade and other payables, bank balances
and cash. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below.

The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(i)  Market risk
There has been no significant change to the
Group’s exposure to market risk or the manner in
which it manages and measures the risk.

(1) Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases,
which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. Approximately 15% (2023: 13%)
of the Group’s sales are denominated
in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entity making the sale,
while almost 38% (2023: 33%) of purchase
costs are not denominated in the group
entity’s functional currency. The Group
does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors the
foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

25. €@ T B )

(b) A EREEREBE

AEEZTESHIAREHEMER
BE - HFTHE NBHEKATEN
BH5RWER UAFEEFERE
Pt AL mErEka (EE) WE
5 P& YUHR 3R~ H A B M BR R~ A
RITER HEAB BHNEME
MERARRITEHRERE - %F2
BMITAZHBREMEARE -ZF
SR TAMS 2Rk SET5RR (5
R LN EER) - EERRER
Bk ARMAREKZSZRARZ
BEREHN T e

EEEBEELRERZFTRR  HEREE
MBS ARKEREE 216 -

G) TEEE
AEEEREzTERARIEER
FEtERB 2 T AL EEAES) -

(1) SMEE G2
KRR ZETHEB R
INEETEE BHAEH
AEZINERE R o NEEH
EBENI15% (ZTEZ=F:
13%) HTAEHHE 2 &
BEENEEBUINZEE A
B MEBBKANHI38% (=
T =4 33%) W IELAAARE
CEEEREEB ABA-
7N 52 B A 4 SIS R SR o
A ERESERINER
B WHRNERERZEY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(i) Market risk (continued)
(1)  Currency risk (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of reporting
period are as follows:

25. €@ T B )

(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

() B ()
(1) SEmBE ()
B 5 BB R S A S
BEM EHEERENR
&2 EEENT :

Assets Liabilities
5E =R
2024 2023 2024 2023

—E_WNE —E-o-F ZENE —E-o=F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET FAT
I S B B B S

RMB AR
Usb ETT
HK$ BT

9,957 29,051 15,792 13,959
29,497 44,311 5,469 5,100
2,206 2,392 47,991 35,707

The above assets and liabilities include
trade receivables at amortised cost, trade
receivables at FVOCI (recycling), other
receivables, bank balances and cash,
unsecured bank loans and trade and other
payables, denominated in RMB, USD and
HKS.

tREERABEBRENMAR
WXL RBTLAEN NS
AT EHE P RUR -
NAFEEFELEZEG
AHM2mE R (A 818) B
B 5 RUWER - H b B KR
FRTEHRRE - BIEK
MPTER BEHREME
T ERAK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(i)  Market risk (continued)

(1)

EENERERAR

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the
instantaneous change in the group’s profit
/(loss) after tax that would arise if foreign
exchange rates to which the group has
significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained
constant. In this respect, it is assumed
that the pegged rate between the HK$ and
USD would be materially unaffected by any
changes in movement in value of the USD
against currencies. 5% (2023: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible
change in the foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5% (2023:
5%) change in foreign currency rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes external
receivables and payables and also current
accounts with the group entities where the
denomination of the current accounts is in a
currency other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities.

| ZE_EER

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

25. €@ T B )

(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

() TR ()

(1) Mg (&)
BREDM
TRIVREBRAE HEBER
BERFIE  AEERE
& B R [ T = oy i T 4 80
B B AN £R [ B B AR O
A/ (BB ELNERE
Fopms  HEERAEE
HEXTHBEERAIGRX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i)

(1)

@)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

A positive number below indicates an
increase in profit for the year (20283:
decrease in loss for the year) where
functional currency of the relevant group
entities strengthening 5% against the
relevant currencies. For a 5% weakening
of functional currency of the relevant group
entities against the relevant currencies,
there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit (2023: loss) for the year.

25. €@ T B )
(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

()

75 R B ()
(1) SMEEfR (5

FRE DM (&)

VAN IE 8RR UR AN 4R i M 3R
MZT—=%F: FEBER
L) BT EREEEERY
BEE® L ERINE FHESS ©
HEBEEERNEEEHL
HEEINEE B2 (B5% © A F
Eeah (ZF =% : B8)
ELESEEARTE -

2024 2023
—E-EF —TE-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

RMB AR

1,744 406

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk
arise primarily from unsecured bank loans.
Unsecured bank loans carried at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group monitors the level of its
variable rate borrowings and manages the
contractual terms of the interest-bearing
financial assets and liabilities. For
this purpose, the Group defines “net
borrowings” as being interest-bearing
financial liabilities less interest-bearing
investments (if any) (excluding cash held for
short-term working capital purposes). The
Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in below.

Top Form International Limited
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

policies (continued)
(i)  Market risk (continued) ()

@)

EENERERAR

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s net borrowings (as
defined above) at the end of the reporting
period.

25. €@ T B )
(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

% 3 2 (4%)
@) FEmbE (%)

IEL:
T 0 7 B 3R o B R
M ROFE GEER LX) 0
R R -

2024 2023
—E-MF “E-=F
Effective Effective
Note interest rate Amount  interest rate Amount
GESN (TE $H  ERAE 48
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
FE7 T
¢ J 1 1 1 |
Variable rate FBHARER:
borrowings:
Unsecured bank ERRRTER
loans 20 6.73 91,951 3.89 123,804
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

At 30 June 2024, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s profit
after taxation by approximately HK$768,000
(2028: increased/decreased the Group’s
loss after taxation by approximately
HK$994,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates
the instantaneous change in the Group’s
profit/(loss) after taxation and other
components of consolidated equity that
would arise assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period which expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk at the end of the
reporting period.

| ZE_EER

RZE-_WWFEA=+8"
EFEHMEERZETE
MBERT  HatF R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

25. €@ T B )
(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i) Credit risk (i) 15E/EE

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group. As at 30 June
2024 and 2023, the Group’ maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In respect of trade receivables, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Therefore, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is minimised
and ECL allowance is considered insignificant.

For other non-trade related receivables, the
Group has assessed whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group will measure
the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than
12-month ECL. Therefore, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is minimised and ECL allowance is considered
insignificant.

The bank balances and cash are concentrated on
certain counterparties and the credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are
banks with sound credit ratings.

Top Form International Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

25. €@ T B )
(b) MEEAMEEREHEEE @)

(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) 1EEREE (&)
Trade receivables B Z WA
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced REEBMAZZEERREES
mainly by the market demand in the intimate ARITE TSR RKAREZER
apparel industry and economic conditions in the BNz BEREE RS
USA and Europe. At the end of the reporting BRR R 27% (T - =4
period, the Group had a certain concentration 33%) 2 B ZEBEFRTIRE A K
risk as approximately 27% (2023: 33%) of trade R O HMAEEEETRRET
receivables was due from the top five major 2B e
customers.
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures TR AN S B A LA 5K
of the Group’s trade receivables at amortised RHAENESEREFNEER
cost. LA o
. J | |
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
ZE-MERA=TH ZE-ZFRA=TH
Gross Net Gross Net
12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount amount allowance amount
12852 @7
EHNABER
B% REAE FERE 2 RERE  RELE 0 BFREAE KESE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T FEL FEL FAEL
. J | I | |
Financial assets at LA S5 A% AR5t EH)
amortised cost SREE
Trade receivables & 5 EULIR X
(note 17) (F#E17)
Lifetime ECL - 127,935 127,935 178,394 178,394
not credit impaired
ZEFESHN
BHERBX
-EEFERE
Lifetime ECL - 4,610 (92) 4,518 1,086 (904) 182
credit impaired
BETEHN
BHERBX
-=ERE
132,545 (92) 132,453 179,480 (904) 178,576
EEHMERERAR | —E-NFEFER @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
indicates different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance is further
distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases. Loss allowance of HK$92,000
(2023: HK$904,000) is recognised as at 30 June
2024 for a customer with financial difficulties.
During the year ended 30 June 2024, a write-off
of loss allowance of HK$867,000 (2023: nil)
resulted in a decrease in loss allowance. The
credit risk for trade receivables of the remaining
customers is limited after considering actual
loss experience over the past years, economic
conditions during the period over which the
historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

As at 30 June 2024, no loss allowance have
been recognised (2023: nil) for the trade
receivables to be factored at FVOCI as the
lifetime ECL is insignificant.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. At
30 June 2024, the Group had undrawn bank
borrowing facilities of HK$3,049,000 (2023:
HK$16,196,000).

25. €@ T B )
(b) MEEMESERZEHEEE @)

(i)

(i)

Top Form International Limited

EEREE (&)

B S ENER (E)
REENRBEFTESANERE
BERAXHENSHEITELHENR
ERNEERE -ARAEEN
EsfzRBERAERBRIARP
FAGREMNRANBRER At
EREBRBEEAEENTRATRPA
ArEETE-—FTED KRZE
ZWEXNA=1+AH BRBEMBRE
MR P R E 18 1 592,000
TL(ZZF == : 904,000/ 7T) °
HEe_Z_WNFEA=1THIHF
E - ¥ 85 /&5 18 B 5867,0007 JT
ZEZ=F E)EREEER
WL EEREBEFENERIE
KB FELEIE RSB E
EAR S B AT R AR SR AR SR B A
REBE 5 EIWER KW TE T 17 & B
NEAEMR N - B B RMERRE
HBEFHNEERRAER -

RZE-_WNFANA=Z+H #AR
FEGFEHHEHEABALTT
EX AW EBR AR FEER
EEEEFHFAEMEALREN
BEEEFEBEFERBIER
B ZEZ=F: &) -

B E TR

REERDETER  AEEE
ENEFEEER/EABNA
EEEBEYRERSRERDZ
FEZRENREFRAEBKE -

TREFM@AINEARNEBIEITED B
BEZBRTAEHNEXE - TR
REASEBAER 2 &FHH
ZepBaEsr AR RRAERESR
FleRM—_ZFE-_MWFEA=+8"
AEBZARDBITEERE
£3,049,0008 L (Z T == F:
16,196,0005 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. €@ T A ()
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MEEEREBZHERBE®)
policies (continued)
(iii) - Liquidity risk (continued) (i) JEENE 2B B ()
Liquidity tables B E T F

After 1year  After 2 year Total Carrying
Ondemandor ~ butwithin ~ Butwithin undiscounted  amount at
within 1 year 2year Syears  cashflows 30 June

BEXY  -FNL WML ARRRE WMAASTR

-Em ERENA BEEAR REBRE  ZREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000

TE7 TR TER TE7 TR
' N S S S S

2024 —EoME

Non-derivative financial iabilties Fit2EEE

Trade and other payables EHREMENER 222,458 9,500 9,500 241,458 241,458

Lease lblties HEBE 14,235 8,73 4,020 26,990 25,283

Unsecured bank loans BERGIER 93,683 - - 93,683 91,951
330,576 18,205 13,520 362,331 358,692

2023 “E-CE

Non-derivative financial iabilties FHiEs@ERE

Trade and other payables EARAMENER 180,325 - - 180,325 180,325

Lease iabiities HEBE 11,168 10,161 10,808 3,137 29,152

Unsecured bank loans EFAROER 125,206 - - 125,206 123,804

316,719 10,161 10,808 337,688 333,281

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. €@ T A ()
(c) Fair value (c) A¥EHE
()  Financial assets measured at fair value () BRFEETAEZEHEE
Fair value hierarchy nFEEER
The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments RMEAREECEEREEFE
measured at the end of the reporting period on AEBERMTITAZAFEEES
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level BB ELERNEIZR[AFE
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair EEIREZZAAFEBEEL
value measurement. The level into which a fair DI -RNFEEFEZENSE
value measurement is classified is determined K2EMERMAAHASEZ
with reference to the observability and ABRMEREEHEFNT

significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

— B —RfhE EAE-—LBABE (MHEREEXRERTEABREERM ST
RABRE)FEZAFEE

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available

—FZHIEE NEZRBABEBITHEE—R2ABRaARE) BE~NERE
AMAAEBRBARBTEZATER - TABEEBARBEREZX
EISAERTT™ 5 8UR 2 A BUR

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs
—E=HEE FEREBAMITABEEBABBAECATER

Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. €@ T A ()
(c) Fair value (continued) (c) 2FEE @
() Financial assets measured at fair value () BRFEETEZZ2HEE )
(continued)
Information about level 2 fair value measurements BEE RN FEESEZEN
I S S —
Fair value as at  Fair value as at Valuation
30 June 30 June technique and
2024 2023 significant input
R-B-@FE RZT-=F
AA=+HEH  SNA=TAH fEER MR
AFEE NYEE EXBWAE
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHERT FET
I I I
Trade receivables at IAFEEBE 20,704 3,394 Risk-adjusted
FVOCI (recycling) BEEZHEA discount rates of
Hiv 2 E Wz ranged from 6.70%
(ATEIE)NE S to 6.98% (2023:
JFE Wi B 3K 4.00% to 7.21%) per
annum quoted by
the banks
HRIT AT E LR R 1
HRENTREGE
6.70%%£6.98%
(ZF==%F:

4.00%%7.21%)

Information about level 3 fair value measurements BHE=ZRDFIEETEZEN

Significant
Valuation unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs average
BARMAA
HERN BERHEABUR T
] | |
Unlisted equity securities Market- Discount 30%
comparable for lack of (2023: 30%)
approach marketability
FELTHEERES W5 — L EUE = ™5 30%
mEzE (ZE-=F:
30%)
The fair value of unlisted equity investments is ELTREAMEBEN AT BELE
determined using the enterprises value to sales BEUET AR M EEEYH
of comparable listed companies adjusted for EmMUY X W mE R@EME
lack of marketability discount. The fair value is ZIEELABRBET N FE
negatively correlated to the discount for lack of BERZ TS RBMEZITERR
marketability. Lt °

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25 €@ T A @)
(c) Fair value (continued) (c) XFEE@
() Financial assets measured at fair value (continued) () BLRFIEEGES A E ()
Information about level 3 fair value measurements EHE=RLNFEEF]TEZ EH
(continued) (&)
It is estimated that with all other variables held BETEMBEMESHRFETEE
constant, a decrease/increase in: ST - i

2024 2023
ZRINE —E_=F
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in Effecton  (decrease) in Effect on
unobservable unlisted equity ~ unobservable unlisted equity
inputs securities inputs securities

FABER HIELMH RABR LM
BAELR/ BRESHN BAELR/ ERESD

(TH) T2 (TB) %
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
THT FET
. | ! | |
Discount for lack of TR TG
marketability i 5 1) 5 (61)
(5) 61 (5) 61
The movements during the year in the balance FAN ZEF-HLAFEEHAEZHE
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as MREBHMOT
follows:

Unlisted
equity
security
kLt
ERHH
HK$’000
FBET
. ! |
At 1 July 2022, 30 June 2023 and 2024 RZE-_—_F+HA—H-
ZEZ=FR-TNEF
NA=1H 2,838
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities WIHZHERNFEEINEC & & E N
carried at other than fair value BEZNFEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial RIE_NMFR-_TE_=F A=+
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are B NEBIRAK A # K AT R 2
not materially different from their fair values as at cRMIACEREHERATEAECH
30 June 2024 and 2023. WREKER o

Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2024



26.

27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 26.

Authorised and issued share capital

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

2024
“E-ME
No. of shares
i3 & B

B A R {48

EE N BEITRA
2024 2023 2023
—E_F —E=F —E=F
Amount  No. of shares Amount
-] R EE T8
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FAET

Ordinary share of HK$0.50 & R E H0.5058 T

(2023: HK$0.50) each (ZBZ=%:
0.50/ T) Z
EBER
Authorised: ERE
At beginning of the year and ~ F ] R F &
the end of the year 600,000,000
Issued and fully paid BEEITRER
At beginning of the year and ~ F#] R F 4
the end of the year 301,052,675

300,000 600,000,000 300,000

147,940 301,052,675 147,940

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 27.

Capital commitments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements were as follows:

BERBBEAAREBRTIEE RS
NERRER-—FEREARARELRE-
EEBERARARZHBEEMSHE
BREREZ

BREE
RI|BEBRR  REGEMBHREABEDN
REBITEARFAENT :

2024 2023
—EME —E =5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

Contracted for acquisition of EREYE - BERZRBRTL

property, plant and equipment

830 -

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HEZ—ZT —MENA=Z+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/ 28. EALRG &tk
BALANCES
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed Kﬂiux—r,T\/\Qjﬁ&#&%/H\ﬁﬁ“B 3R R 2 A2
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the RSN REBFTAUTEREEA
Group has entered into the following material related party i?&% :
transactions:

(@) Transaction with related companies

(a) BERERAZXRS

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
I I
Sales of goods to a related company [ —EE R A EHEE M
(note (i)) (PR 3EG)) 87,200 115,847
Sales of goods to an associate MEE R AEEE M
(note (i) (B &%) 273 137
Subcontracting fee to an associate X FHE R RN D BEE
(note (iii)) (B =% (iiiy) 3,286 31,573
Lease payment to an associate N THEATHEENR
(note (iv)) (F 5 (v)) 2,657 1,329
Notes: BisE

(i)

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group sold the
ladies’ intimate apparel to a related company, Van de Velde

V. (“VdV”) for revenue of approximately HK$87,200,000
(2023: HK$115,847,000).

Mr. Herman Van de Velde, a non-executive director of the
Company, has a beneficial interest in VdV, which held an
interest of 25.66% (2023: 25.66%) in the Company as at
30 June 2024.

As at 30 June 2024, the balance of trade receivables from
VdV amounted to HK$5,730,000 (2023: HK$3,327,000)
which are aged less than 30 days.

The above related party transactions constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules are provided in the Directors’ Report.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group processed
supplied materials and delivered the finished products
to Techspase, for revenue of HK$273,000 (2023:
HK$137,000). As at 30 June 2024, the trade receivable
from Techspase was HK$88,000 (2023: HK$33,000).

(i

Top Form International Limited

REBEE-_ZT_MOMFAAA=Z+HLF
ER AEBR—HEEERFVan de
Velde N.V.([VdV]) & 2 2% ;X LA Bk
EUUZ A 4987,200,00058 7T (—ZZF = = 4F :
115,847,000 7T) °

PiN/N T?E%ﬂﬁ§$Herman Van de Velde
EEFAVIVZ EmiEm MR _F
ZWENA=+H " VdVE|IEFEE AR AQ A

25.66% (—F == : 25.66%) #Ez °

R-ZE-_WFEANA=1TH  EhVIVE

BR A H) &5 £% 25,730,00008 T (=
— =% 3,327,000/ ) Rk ALK
30H -

LAl BE A LR HEK TR RF14A
ERELHERERS - LTHRUE
VABREZRBORESEMERM -

REE-_ZT-_NEA=-+HILEFER
NER B N TR AR I S UK G R F
TechspaselA B LU A #9273, OOO;% 7T
—ZT =% :137,00087T) c R =F
—mMESNA=+H" XETechspaseE’J
2 5 & IR 3 588,000 T (=T = =
£ 33,0008 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
BALANCES (continued)

(a) Transaction with related companies

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i)

(iv)

The subcontracting fee to BAP is made on similar terms
as the Group enters into with other suppliers. As at 30
June 2024, the trade receivable and trade payables from
BAP were HK$4,836,000 (2023: HK$13,060,000) and
HK$1,791,000 (2023: HK$15,440,000) respectively.

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group entered into a
lease agreement to rent factory facility located in Indonesia
from an associate for 3 years. The amount of rent payable
by the Group under the lease is approximately US$28,500
per month (equivalent to approximately HK$221,000) plus
VAT. As at 30 June 2024, the carrying amount of such
lease liabilities is HK$3,828,000 (2023: HK$6,204,000).

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel

28. BEANLTRG ke

(a) HAEQARZRS (&)
BsE : ()

(il

AT FBAPH) & B B 81K & B 8 E b
FEEAMEILMEREUL -R=2F =W
FRNA=Z1+H REBAPHWE S E K
R R E S EN RS B 44,836,000
BT (ZZE =% 13,060,000/
JL) 1,791,000t (ZE == F :
15,440,000/ 7T) °

BHE-Z-_=ZF"A=Z1+HLFE &
CEE-WBEAQRT L EASEHE B
AHEMREIEM ISR A =F -
REAY AEESARMNHAESHED
/428,500 JT (#H & K #7221,000/% 7T )
MEER R—E-_mWESA=+H "
ZME B BENKRE S A3,828,000/8
(=T - =% :6,204,0007TT) °

(b) TEEEAE ZRM

2024 2023

—E-E —E-=4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET
I I

Salaries and other benefits e M H M43 A 22,922 24,098

Discretionary bonus BB TEAT 3,384 3,465

Share-based payments ARt BERE A T 391 529

Retirement benefits scheme RORAE R FH B 5K
contributions 185 195
26,882 28,287

The remuneration of directors of the Company and

key management is determined by the Group’s

compensation committee having regard to the

performance of individuals and market trends.

EENERERAR

| ZE_EER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained
profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a quarterly basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and draw down of
bank loans.

29.

Top Form International Limited

EXEpEE
AEEZEXAERGREBEEEHEER
FFHRETE BEAKSEHERTERA
TEEE RAESRRGERAER K
SEEERBEEIFHER -

AEBEZERARBERARARDERRE
D (BRERTRA  FEIRE R
M) o

ARBEEBFTRITEARE - ERREF
HEHP—R ARAEEZERELAREALSE
BEAZHBERR REARRESTZE
& AREeRBIRMBE - BITHERD
RERTERESA - FEHRBEARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

30. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 30. T EME A T
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 RKABRZEZWMFEFRZFTZ_=F-A
June 2024 and 2023 are as follows: —THZEBEMNBARFBEOT

Proportion of issued

ordinary share capital/
Place of registered capital held
Incorporation/ Issued share capital/ ~directly/indirectly by the
Name of company registration registered capital Company Principal activities
AAAER/MEREL
HMEL/ BRIRA/ BRTLERE/EMEX
RRER EfbE ZRER LAY TEEH
2024 2023
ZBDmE ZZ”CF
% %

Foshan Nanhai Top Form Underwear Co., Ltd*  The PRC Capital Contribution - 100 100 Manufacture of ladies’
HK$20,800,000 underwear and property

investment

TR EERAKERAR" hEl % NEZR - 20,800,000 100 100 EEREARRRENE
Grand Gain Industrial Limited (“Grand Gain”) Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$100,000 100 60 Moulding and laminating
business

BERELABAF ([RBEE]) i L3R - 100,000% T 100 60 BREERER K
Juliana Consulting Services (Shenzhen) The PRC Capital Contribution - 100 100 Provision of consultancy
Co., Ltdf HK$8,000,000 services in relation to
ladies intimate apparel and

accessories

RAZBEARS (RI)BRA hEl % AE - 8,000,000 7T 100 100 REFBLEAKKRER
et ERR

Long Nan Grand Gain Underwear Co., Ltd* The PRC Capital Contribution - 100 60 Moulding and laminating
1US$1,800,000 business

EHGRENRERAR hEl RNER-1,800,000% 7 100 60 BREERER K
Long Nan County Top Form Underwear The PRC Capital Contribution - 100 100 Manufacture of ladies’
Co., Ltd* HK$57,000,000 underwear
EREEEMARERA D hEl NEZ - 57,000,000 100 100 EEREAR
Meritlux Garment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* The PRC Capital Contribution - 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
HK$23,000,000 ladlies’ underwear

B5ERE (R BRATS hEl BB - 23,000,000 100 100 TENKEERES

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

30. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 30. TEME 2 E &)
Y Y Y A

Proportion of issued

ordinary share capital/
Place of registered capital held
Incorporation/ Issued share capital/ ~ directly/indirectly by the
Name of company registration registered capital Company Principal activities
ALAER/MEREL
HMEL/ BRIRA/ BRILERLA/EMEX
RRER EfE HRER LAY TEER
2024 2023
ZBIME  —T”=F
% %

Shenzhen Top Form Underwear Co., Ltd? The PRC Capital Contribution - 70 70 Property investment and
RMB4,993,000 provision of consultancy

service in relation to ladies

intimate apparel and

accessories

RIEEHRKER AN B BAER - ANRH4,993,0007T 70 70 REMENRRAEE

THAK

TRk RAth 2 BRRS

Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Ltd Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$100 100 100 Manufacture and trading of

Deferred - HK$4,000,000 ladies’ underwear

EENMEHERER AR Bk LAER-1008T 100 100 RERKEERES
EIEHR (A - 4,000,000 T

Top Form (B.V.I) Limited” British Virgin Ordinary - US$50,000 100 100 Investment holding

Islands

EBERES L@ - 50,0005 100 100 RERR

Top Form Brassiere (Maesot) Co., Ltd Thailand Ordinary - Baht$56,000,000 100 100 Manufacture of ladies’

underwear

=B L% - 56,000,000% % 100 100 EENEAK

Topfull Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100 100 Property holding in the PRC

REERBRAA i LEk-258T 100 100 BAURRE NE

Unique Form Manufacturing Company Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1,000 100 100 Trading of ladies’ underwear
Deferred - HK$200

BERNKEEHERAT &k LR - 1,000% T 100 100 TERNKES
BRI - 20057

Louisa Lee Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1,820,000 51 51 Trading of ladies" underwear

Bk LER - 1,820,000% T 51 51 REARES

Goal Plus Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - US$7,000,000 60 60 Investment holding

AERZARAT &k £33k - 7,000,000% T 60 60 RARR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

30. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 30. T EME QA (&)

| | ] |
Proportion of issued

ordinary share capital/
Place of registered capital held
Incorporation/ Issued share capital/ ~directly/indirectly by the
Name of company registration registered capital Company Principal activities
ANAER/BEEEZ
HMEL/ BRTRA/ BRTLERE/EMER
ARER EfbE EHER 2B IERR
2024 2023
ZBImE -T-=
% %

Top Form Myanmar Company Limited Myanmar 300,000 ordinary share of 100 100 Property investment
US$1.00 each
) 300,000k 5 REE 100 100 RENE

100X TR ERR

Top Form Seamless Manufacturing Thailand 1,801,919 ordinary share of 60 60 Manufacture of Seamless
Company Limited Baht$100 each products
R 1801, 919R SR EE 60 60 HERKER

100FHM SRR
PT Pahlawan Gunung Jaya Indonesia Ordinary - Rp$10,000,000,000 100 100 Property holding in the

Indonesia and manufacture
of ladies’ underwear

Il £387R - 10,000,000,00080 2 & 100 100 RENREOEZ NE
DREETERK
Grand Gain Industrial (Ceylon) (PVT) Ltd. Sri Lanka Ordinary - US$50,000 100 60 Moulding and
laminating business
LELRS EBR-50000% T 100 60 BREEREREH
Directly held by the Company * ARG EERE

*  These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign-owned f ZENBARETEEM AN EBELE -
enterprises in the PRC.

A This subsidiary is registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture : ZBRAREFBEFMATRINEERT -
in the PRC.

Note: Except for those subsidiaries with the place of operation e B SRERRBNRRE SR 2 1B
mentioned in principal activities, the place of operation is the DRGNP MY D R 2 4SBT Y
same as the place of incorporation/registration. Bz s i 2 AR R

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in EERAE ERAIHAEBKEQREAK

the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the Group’s EEEESEEBIERE -EERE

assets or results. To give details of other subsidiaries FEHEMHBARI CFAER S ANA
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of RITEK -

excessive length.

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

30. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Shenzhen Top Form Underwear Co., Ltd JZIIEREHT AT
BBRAT] (“SZTF”) is a joint venture company established in
the PRC and was originally held for a period of twelve years
from 28 February 1987. The Group entered into extension
agreements with the joint venture partner on 18 September
1998, 12 November 2008, 27 June 2011, 6 February 2015
and 28 February 2017 to extend the joint venture period
for future years to 28 February 2009, 28 February 2012,
28 February 2015, 28 February 2017 and 28 February
2030 respectively. Pursuant to the joint venture agreement
and the revised joint venture agreement under which
the joint venture was established, the Group contributed
70% of the registered capital of SZTF. However, under
another agreement entered into between the Group and
the joint venture partner, the Group is entitled to 100% of
this joint venture company’s profit after deducting a fixed
annual amount attributable to assets contributed by the
joint venture partner. The Group is entitled to receive its
attributable share of the net assets upon liquidation of the
joint venture, and so this joint venture is being accounted
for as a subsidiary of the Group.

As at 30 June 2024, for Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co.,
Limited and Unique Form Manufacturing Company Limited,
the deferred shares carry no right to dividend or to receive
notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of the
respective companies. On winding-up, the holders of the
deferred shares are entitled to one half of the remaining
assets of the respective companies after the first HK$100
trillion has been distributed equally amongst the holders of
the ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
as at 30 June 2024 or at any time during the year.

30. T EMBE A7 (5)

FINEBIHTAXERAA (DRYIZEH])
AB—RUEFRBERI2EERT  REEF
HeEE—hANEE_A-+t N \ARH+=
FoAREEDRR—AANFALATNAR -
—EENF+—A+=ZH ZE——FRX
A=Z++RA ZZE—HAF-_AA~AK=ZF
—+tF AT NBEEERHET LI
E BEEFHINERE_TTNF
ZAZHNR - ZE—ZfFZA=Z+NB
ZE-RAF-ARZ+N\B -ZE—tF=
A+ \BE-_ZE=FF_/_-_+N\H-
BEXVEERFRIZEEAMREREES
B AKERRNEBHT 2ZMER
HE70% - AT - REBEAEE RS ERH
AUz ES—HhHhE AEEATZEREE
RARNBEERERBRANEENTFIE
HEETEHEBER 22N AEEEREAE
BARREERKEAEEBECEESFE
HEEERRFARBREB ZMEAF -

RZZE-ZWFAA=1+H ZBFTHELR
EMBRAAEEEREARMEBAR A
B 2 FE B 0 I 48 B 7 AR AR B S R
BREARMEMRRAGZASHHERE
IRNELRRZEN - BBRRE  BRTKR
DIHAAGREDNEHRE K E1008EE
TTFANKRTEBBENFAANEMBTZ
FHEE-

RZZ_MERNA=+HIRFREME
Bl S B AR EEAERES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR MY &

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE

31. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN A

SUBSIDIARY

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary
On 28 June 2024, the Group acquired an additional 40%
equity interest of Grand Gain, increasing its ownership
interest to 100%. Cash consideration of HK$19,000,000
was payable to the non-controlling shareholder. As at 30
June 2024, the consideration payable was classified as
non-current liabilities, which represented HK$9,500,000
and HK$9,500,000 that are repayable in July 2025 and
July 2026, respectively.

The effect of acquisition of additional interest is
summarised as follow:

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

1. R—ENBAREREER22E

Wi —ERBE AR ZEIIMER
RZEZMFARNAZTNR - AEEWE
R EFA0%FEINRAE - (0 E A LN
F100% - B FEERBRR2RERESR
19,000,000 L - R=ZZFE—MF XA =+
H - EHENRESERIRBAGE EH
IR =T = HF+ AEiE9,500,0007 7T &
— T NF+ A 189,500,000 7T

WiEsIMEsS c R EBURIT ¢

2024
—EomE
HK$’000
Fix

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired

YR FR IR I 1 #E 2t 2 BRI (E 28,185

Consideration payable for acquisition of additional BREXBINER 2
interest in Grand Gain FESRAB (19,000)
Difference recognised in special reserve within equity REZPEFFEERZEZTE 9,185

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

32. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Financial position of the Company

32. A 7 & H B B B AR R

(@) =DFHNHHAARR

2024 2023
—E-E =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET

I Y
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RWBLAE s 856,395 856,395
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables Ho A UL BR 3R 164 157
Bank balances RITHERR 48 52
____________________________________________________________________________________ 212 209
Current liabilities REAE
Accrued charges B & 4 1721
Net current liabilities REBAEEFHE (1,529) (1,512)
Total assets less current liabilities ZAEERARBEE 854,866 854,883
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary N NGIE S 487,361 486,531
Net assets EEFE 367,505 368,352
Capital and reserves BARFEE
Share capital f& 7 147,940 147,940
Reserves & 219,565 220,412
Total equity AR 367,505 368,352

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 26 September 2024 and are signed on its

behalf by:

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin

EEeN _E-_NEALA=-+KA
HERRETNS  ThHFIALTRR
RE

Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth

ERUE HRE
Chief Executive Officer Managing Director
BEENITE EFp
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZ—_Z_WHF SNA=ZF+HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R~ )

32. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 32. AT EE M BN F @)
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
(b) Equity movement of the Company (b) XD FIEREE
. ! ! | |
Capital
Share Share redemption Contributed Retained
capital premium reserve surplus profits Total
EXER
[ R4 RE o] BARR REBEF k]

HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
I S A S S S

At 1 July 2022 NZZE-—F
+HA—H 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 110,418 384,892
Loss and total FRBBER
comprehensive cEHAYBE
expense for the year - - - - (16,540) (16,540)

At30June2023and M-Z-=F

1 July 2023 NAZTER
—TCEE
tHA—H 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 93,878 368,352
Loss and total FRBER
comprehensive *EAXBE
expense for the year - - - - (847) (847)

At 30 June 2024 RZZE-ME

NAZ=TH 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 93,031 367,505
33. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 3B.FEFRERS
As set out in note 11(a), there are non-cash transactions in M FI1EME REBEE T -_NF R =
relation to new lease arrangements in respect of properties E_=ZFRNAZTHIEFER FEREX
and motor vehicles during the years ended 30 June 2024 SHENMENRENHEELZ -

and 2023.

SEHERERAT | —CZT_NFEFH _ @



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB SRR AT

for the year ended 30 June 2024 HZEZE T -_WMFE A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

34. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, M.EEMEGSARBZE-_SE-NEX
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS B=1TBHBILEELENZIEE] ~ #d]
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE EARZEUREBRZ2EE

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HEVBKREZELA
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and new AEEKEHRER
standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended B I Z H R £
30 June 2024 and which have not been adopted in these LR HAEZEEUB

AL BEESTH
—E_NFERA=ZT
ETETRIHED
HMENEKREA - %

consolidated financial statements. These developments ERERENTSIEAEHEAEEEGH -

include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

RTIAMR
ZERBZ
B HBEEX

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current and the
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5(2020) Presentation of financial
statements — Classification by the borrower of a term loan that contains a repayment
on demand clause

ER R EREURNE [ NEES B TERELIFRBEE  REBZEFS
(ZE_FF) BRI 2 — BEANE E B EEKERE KA T E 895788

1 January 2024

HEEIEET | —E-NFE—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

1 January 2024

BEGHERNBIRNER (W B RA B R 1A —ZE-E—-A—H

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

1 January 2024

BEMBREENF1RNET ER AL+ AHHER ] “E-MFE—-A—H

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier Finance Arrangements

1 January 2024

BEGERFTREBEMBRERAETRNER [ RERHE L] —ZE-WHE—-A—H

Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability

1 January 2025

ARG ERNFERNER] | BB EZ L4 —E-h%¥—A—H

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial instruments

1 J‘anuary 2026

BEVEHREENSRLEBM G RELERNTRNER [ DB LA ESH T AMEFT] —F-_R"F—A—H

Annual Improvements to HKFRS AccountingﬁStandards - Volume 11

RV BMEEN ST ERANFERE -F 115 —EoRF—A

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

1 January 2027

FRM B HREERNSH [ 25 R K EHHHK —E-_+F—-A—H

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

1 January 2027

BRI MEENSR [ ELREE LB L A - 55 —FE-t+F—-A—H

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BEPBREENE10RME B ERNF8RNER] [RESERABE L A%

To be determined

EELEZELHESLTAELE] FET
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of AEBEFAFTHERELEERANEAER
what the impact of these developments is expected to be in HENTZZ -ZEBRiARLE E&E&me - H
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that HRATKAEESRE B BRELEEATE

the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF GROUP PROPERTIES
AEEYFEBE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES BREWHE

Location It B Existing use 3 1T A& Term of lease &[]
I T

Levels 6 to 8 of Block 523, H Industrial T 2 Medium # H§
Bagualing Industrial Zone, BRE

Futian District, YT

Shenzhen City, BHE

Guangdong Province, NEheETHE

the PRC HEE23RENREE/\E

Twenty units on Level 1 of A Residential 1+ =& Medium # £§
Bagualing Single Apartment Block 29 E R &

(Type B), YT

Bagua 2nd Road, BH =

Futian District, JE B

Shenzhen City, NEN a8 5 5 N E 291K (BEY)

Guangdong Province, % —[E20fE

the PRC

Portion A on Level 6 i Residential (£ Medium A Hf
(twelve units on the west) of EXRE

Pengii Single Apartment Block 44, &I

Bagualing Industrial Zone, B HE

Futian District, NEHEBEIER

Shenzhen City, WEEE F NEF441R

Guangdong Province, FREA(FAI12M)

the PRC

Level 2-4 of Block 424, s Industrial T3 Medium & Hf
Bagualing Industrial Zone, BRE

Bagua 3rd Road, AT

Futian District, BHE

Shenzhen City, NE =B

Guangdong Province, NHETER

the PRC ME424RFE —_BEENE

No. 22, Yuejin Road, s Industrial T % Medium & £
Yanbu Town, BERE

Nanhai District, ™

Foshan, [E2pisd

Guangdong Province,
the PRC

88 /0 SR PR A BR 225

EENERERAR | —E_NFEFR



SUMMARY OF GROUP PROPERTIES

AEENEHRE

Location

B Existing use 1 1T F & Term of lease S IR

Jintang Industrial Park,
North of Shangren Road,
Longnan County,
Ganzhou City,

Jiangxi Province,

the PRC

No.614, Myintta Lin Myaing,
Aung Chan Thar Quarter,
Myintta Lin Myaing Village,
Myawaddy,

Kayin State,

Myanmar

=S| Industrial T2 Medium & Hf
ANz
BT
FERE AL
SETXERE
Industrial I 2 Medium & Hf
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